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The discussion and analysis that follows is intended to provide a summary of TVI Pacific Inc. (“TVI” or
“the Company”) results over the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, as well as its financial
position and future plans. It should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All numbers in this discussion and analysis are expressed in
Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. Additional information is available on TVI’s website at
www.tvipacific.com or on SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com. Information in this Management
Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is as of March 19, 2014.
Jake Foronda, Vice President for Operations of TVI Resource Development (Phils.), Inc. (“TVIRD”), has
acted as the Qualified Person in compliance with National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for
Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”) reporting requirements with respect to all TVI projects by virtue of his
fellowship in the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the reciprocity rules covered under
Recognised Overseas Professional Organisations. He has prepared and/or supervised the preparation of
the scientific or technical information in this document, including the current reserve and resource
estimates, and has confirmed compliance with NI 43-101 requirements.

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS
TVI is a publicly-traded Canadian resource company focused on the production, development, exploration
and acquisition of resource projects in the Philippines and Southeast Asia. TVI's affiliate, TVIRD, has to
date produced copper and zinc concentrates from its Canatuan mine and is advancing its Balabag GoldSilver project and its Agata Nickel direct shipping ore (“DSO”) operation. TVI is a direct or indirect
participant/operator in several joint venture projects in the Philippines and Papua New Guinea and also
has an interest in an offshore Philippine oil property.
TVI is focused on the following areas of growth:


Continuing to capitalize on its investments in the Philippines through its interest in TVIRD and its
relationship with TVIRD shareholder, Prime Resources Holdings, Inc. (“PRHI”), which includes to:
o

Explore opportunities for mine life extension at Canatuan mine,

o

Move the Agata Nickel DSO operation into production.

o

Capitalize on near-term development at its Balabag property.

o

Expedite exploration on other North Zamboanga tenements:


Prioritize exploration activities on identified prospects in the Greater Canatuan
Tenement Area (“GCTA”) and other near-mine prospects to expand current mine
life.



Pursue other exploration opportunities on its 1,240 square kilometer (479 square
mile) tenement package on the Zamboanga Peninsula.



Develop its current joint venture projects and pursue value creating acquisition opportunities both
within and outside of TVIRD.



Participate in the exploration of the offshore Philippine oil property.
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INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
On December 11, 2013, various definitive agreements were signed with PRHI, a Philippine corporation,
and various subsidiaries/affiliates of TVI, relating to the private placement in TVI and third party
investment in its indirectly held Philippine assets (“Transactions”).
The Transactions, as described in the Investment Agreement, contemplate aggregate investments by
PRHI of US $22.5 million. After giving effect to the Transactions, PRHI would hold approximately 5% of
the total number of issued and outstanding common shares of TVI and 68.42% of the total number of
outstanding voting shares of TVIRD through which TVI's Philippines assets are held. TVI would continue
to indirectly hold 30.66% of the issued and outstanding shares of TVIRD and all of its Philippine
subsidiaries.
The Transactions are expected to occur in multiple closings and include: (a) private placement of
common shares in capital of TVI for gross proceeds of US$2 million; (b) investments in TVI International
Marketing Inc. (“TVI Marketing”) and TVI Minerals Processing, Inc. (“TVI Minerals”), in the aggregate
amount of US$7.845 million; (c) investments in TVIRD in the aggregate amount of US$12.655 million (to
acquire 68.42% of the voting shares of TVIRD); and (d) agreement between the parties to seek a listing
for the shares of TVIRD on the Philippine Stock Exchange.
On December 13, 2013, TVI has completed an initial closing (First Closing) which included the following
transactions:
(i)
US$2 million ($2,119,000) was paid by PRHI to purchase 33,333,333 common shares in the
capital of TVI at a price of US$0.06 per share, which shares represent approximately 5% of the total
number of issued and outstanding TVI Shares;
(ii)
US$1.545 million ($1,636,928) was invested in TVI Marketing to purchase one non-voting nonparticipating deferred share of TVI Marketing that is redeemable at par value;
(iii)
US$2 million ($2,115,625) was paid to TVIRD as partial payment of PRHI's subscription of Class
B shares of TVIRD subject to the approval of the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) of the application for an increase in authorized capital stock of TVIRD; and
(iv)
US$12.655 million was advanced by PRHI and placed into an escrow account – those funds
represent a portion of the additional amount that PRHI has agreed to invest in TVI group entities in
subsequent closings.
On December 27, 2013, the application for the increase in authorized capital stock of TVIRD was
approved by the SEC and, as a result, the subscribed ordinary shares were issued to PRHI resulting in
the reduction of TVI’s indirect interest, as well as in the indirect interest in other Philippine subsidiaries.
Management has determined that the company does not have control due to the reduction of interest and
by virtue of an agreement with PRHI which requires unanimous consent from both parties on decisions
concerning relevant activities, resulting in joint control. Consequently, TVIRD, EDCO and the eight
inactive Philippine subsidiaries, and interests in Agata and Pan de Azucar joint venture entities were
deconsolidated. The retained interest of approximately 30.66% was considered investment in joint
venture to be accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
The following adjustments were made to the consolidated financial statements as of December 27, 2013
to deconsolidate the assets and liabilities related to the deconsolidated subsidiaries, on the transition to
joint control:
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(a) Derecognition of assets:
December 27, 2013
Cash and cash equivalent
Accounts receivable
Advances to suppliers
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
Restricted cash
Option to purchase contracts
Property and equipment
Mining claims and deferred exploration costs
Other assets

$

$

4,314,826
1,572,951
40,480
9,579,041
1,121,615
2,879,751
6,001,761
8,125,297
10,711,785
718,384
45,065,891

(b) Derecognition of liabilities:
December 27, 2013
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of asset retirement obligation
Due to related parties
Pension obligation
Asset retirement obligation

$

$

11,412,377
1,035,989
384,726
159,901
1,665,161
14,658,154

(c) Retained interest in joint venture:
December 27, 2013
Cash
Accounts receivable
Retained investment in joint venture
Net asset of deconsolidated subsidiaries
Reclassification of other comprehensive income
Non-controlling interest
Share premium
Others
Loss on deconsolidation

$

$

3,770,462
7,556,878
12,910,110
(30,407,737)
3,677,000
761,661
(706,334)
142,399
(2,295,561)

The loss of deconsolidation was presented under other gains (losses) in the consolidated financial
statements. As a result of the transactions, TVI recorded an additional impairment loss of $2,234,513
presented under other gains (losses). The carrying value of the investment in joint venture is $10,675,596
as at December 31, 2013.
As a result of the Transactions, TVI continues to hold a 30.66% indirect interest in TVIRD and the assets
owned by TVIRD (including Canatuan, Balabag, the Agata Mining and the Agata Processing Joint
Ventures, and various exploration properties), a 15.51% equity interest in Foyson Resources Limited
(“Foyson”), a 14.4% equity interest in Mindoro Resources Ltd. (“Mindoro”), 100% of TG World Energy
Corp., and a 10% interest in the Amazon Bay Iron Sands project (for which the exploration license is held
by Titan Mines Limited, a company in which Foyson holds 50% shareholding and has an option to acquire
the remaining 50%).
On January 10, 2014, TVI has completed the second closing of the investment and financing transactions
(Second Closing), following satisfaction of certain conditions outlined in the definitive agreements
executed on December 11, 2013. Please see section on Subsequent Events.
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CANATUAN COPPER AND ZINC MINE
Ownership
Canatuan is owned 100% by TVIRD. After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, going forward TVI has a
30.66% indirect ownership interest in Canatuan through TVIRD.
Background
The Canatuan mine is a volcanogenic massive sulphide (“VMS”) deposit located in the Province of
Zamboanga del Norte on the island of Mindanao in the Philippines. From 2004 to mid-2008, TVI
produced gold and silver doré from an overlying gossan (oxidized) portion of the deposit. As this upper
portion of the orebody was mined out, the underlying primary sulphide portion of the deposit containing
copper and zinc was exposed.
By March 2009, TVIRD had finished the construction of a new sulphide production plant and commenced
commercial production of copper concentrate.
In April 2010, TVIRD completed construction of a Zinc Circuit that allowed for the production of zinc
concentrate. Since that time, continuous adjustments have been made to produce the largest volume of
concentrates (copper and zinc) with the highest grade and metal recovery.
On July 7, 2011, TVIRD completed its first zinc concentrate shipment of approximately 1,381 dry metric
tonnes.
On January 20, 2014 TVIRD has stopped milling operations at its Canatuan mine after having exhausted
its remaining stockpile, pending the results of assessing various mine life extension and expansion
opportunities.
The 39th shipment of 4,118 dry metric tonnes of copper concentrate completed loading on January 26,
2014 for a gross revenue of approximately US$7.6 million, and the seventh shipment of 5,069 dry metric
tonnes of zinc concentrate was completed on January 7, 2014 for a gross revenue of approximately
US$3.3 million.
Since completing construction in November 2008 of a sulphide production plant at Canatuan to process
the underlying sulphide orebody containing copper and zinc, TVIRD has completed 39 shipments of
copper concentrate for a total volume of 199,778 dry metric tonnes and seven shipments of zinc
concentrate for a total volume of 30,558 dry metric tonnes, as compared to an initially anticipated 119,800
dry metric tonnes of copper concentrate and 6,100 dry metric tonnes of zinc concentrate. Reserves mined
significantly exceeded initial reserves as a result of additional material found and mined. This material,
consisting of banded sulphides with low-grade chlorite schists, was used in ore blending to optimize mill
recoveries and was located both inside and outside the pit shell and not included in the original ore
reserves.
The copper and zinc operations at the Canatuan mine have provided a 5.9 year mine life as compared to
an initially anticipated 5 to 6 year mine life, but actual mill throughput has been much higher than planned.
Actual mill throughput in recent months was increased to approximately 3,500 tonnes per day.
Canatuan Operations
The average copper feed grade during Q4 2013 was 0.51% copper as compared to a copper feed grade
of 0.61% in the previous quarter. In addition to the predicted decline in metal grades deeper in the
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deposit, ore blending to reduce penalty element levels in the concentrate also contributed to a lower feed
grade. The average copper recovery was 80%, slightly lower than the 81% of the previous quarter.
TVIRD completed one copper concentrate shipment during Q4 2013, as planned and has completed one
further copper concentrate shipment and zinc concentrate shipment in January 2014. Mining of the
sulphide deposit was completed by year end as planned, but further exploration work on nearby
prospects that have the potential to increase mine life has begun.
With milling to have been completed in January 2014, the processing plant will be cleaned but equipment
will not be dismantled while TVIRD continues to assess mine life extension and expansion opportunities,
including the possible processing of mineralized waste dump material, possible new discoveries from
exploration drill targets outside of the pit area, possible production of pyrite concentrates, re-processing of
tails and exploitation of possible economic deposits from outside the current Mineral Production Sharing
Agreement (“MPSA”) (Malusok and SE Malusok). TVIRD is continuing to seek regulatory approval for
expansion of the current MPSA to include these deposits.
Canatuan Reserves and Resources
In April 2008, TVIRD received a technical report on the Canatuan sulphide deposit prepared in
accordance with NI 43-101. This report is available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. The
report details the initial reserves and resources at the beginning of the Canatuan Sulphide Project.
Current Reserves and Resources
Reserves and resources are estimated following established industry practices and in compliance with NI
43-101. Estimates incorporate current geological models, drilling additions and losses, mine and mill
production and reconciliations, current and projected operating costs, and mine plans allowing for dilution
and mining losses.
Estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgement of the many variables and
assumptions that are imprecise and may change over time. These include, but are not limited to:
geological interpretation; mining and processing plans; commodity prices and markets; operating and
capital costs.
During Q4 2013, mill throughput averaged 3,104 dry metric tonnes per day, for a total of 285,537 tonnes
through the quarter. This mill feed consisted of ore mined from within the ore reserve block model as well
as additional materials found and mined during the period. This material, consisting of banded sulphides
with low-grade chlorite schists, was used in ore blending to optimize mill recoveries and was located both
inside and outside the pit shell and not included in the original ore reserves.
Condemnation drilling has confirmed that the NI 43-101 compliant resource and reserves estimates have
been exhausted. On January 20, 2014, TVIRD announced that it has stopped milling operations at its
Canatuan mine after having exhausted its remaining stockpile, pending the results of assessing various
mine life extension and expansion opportunities. It has made one more copper concentrate shipment and
one zinc concentrate shipment in January 2014.
Further exploration near the mine and waste dumps as well as old tailings storage facilities are on-going
to assess their potential for development.
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Resources – Measured (January 15, 2014):
(The resources include the above reserves)
Ore Tonnes
994,563
(1,029,853)
339,377
304,087

Initial resource, December 31, 2012
Total ore milled to December 31, 2013
(1)
Additional ore mined in 2013
Remaining resource, January 15, 2014
(1)

Cu (%)
0.75
0.64
0.10
0.39

Zn (%)
0.73
1.08
1.36
0.25

Au (g/t)
0.54
0.40
0.01
0.42

Ag (g/t)
13.48
18.83
26.75
10.18

Additional ore identified inside and outside the pit limit by grade control drilling

All current remaining material is no longer economical to process and is therefore reported only as
resources.
Canatuan Operations and Production
For the year ended December 31, 2013, TVIRD completed the following copper concentrate shipments:
Shipment
Number

Shipment
Completion Date

34
35
36
37
38

February 13, 2013
April 26, 2013
June 21, 2013
September 12, 2013
December 10, 2013

Shipped
(dry metric
tonnes)
5,089
5,282
5,136
5,498
5,567
26,572

Gross Revenue (in US$)
Copper
6,944,273
6,585,332
6,135,710
6,301,279
6,404,398
32,370,992

Gold
2,650,112
2,465,744
2,055,385
2,393,392
2,267,737
11,832,370

Silver
1,621,233
1,382,479
1,042,581
1,232,859
1,249,670
6,528,822

Total
11,215,618
10,433,555
9,233,676
9,927,530
9,921,805
50,732,184

During the year ended December 31, 2013 one shipment of zinc concentrate was made. This
represented the sixth shipment of zinc concentrate to date and was completed on July 27, 2013.
Shipment
Number (Zinc)

Shipment Completion
Date

Shipped
(dry metric tonnes)

Gross Revenue
(in US$)

6

July 27, 2013

5,202

3,748,545

The total gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 was US$54,388,938 ($56,389,527) which
rd
includes the additional US$120,874 upward price adjustment for the 33 copper concentrate shipment
th
and US$212,665 downward adjustment for the 5 zinc concentrate shipment, based on the final
concentrate testing relating to the final weight, assays and market price.
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Canatuan Operational Highlights
Quarter Ended

Year to Date

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

Sept. 30,
2013

Dec. 31,
2013

5,338,328

4,938,238

5,309,634

4,710,124

20,296,324

28,197,354

2,872,511

2,761,964

2,645,950

2,561,822

10,842,247

14,955,255

Gold produced (oz)

2,875

2,541

2,872

2,738

11,026

11,430

Silver produced (oz)

92,626

92,579

88,045

98,717

371,967

504,626

1,423,165

2,312,284

3,319,772

2,056,167

9,111,388

13,619,225

223,514

235,922

240,799

285,537

985,772

968,069

2,483

2,593

2,617

3,104

2,701

2,645

0.81

0.73

0.61

0.51

0.66

0.89

72.10

72.36

81.14

80.25

76.06

78.74

7,316

6,872

7,064

6,803

28,055

37,231

81

76

77

66

77

102

17.81

18.23

17.00

17.08

17.53

18.22

Copper pound equivalent (Cu lb eq)
produced
Copper produced (lbs)

Zinc produced (lbs)

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Mill Throughput:
Total tonnes processed
Average tonnes processed per day
Ore copper grade (%)
Copper Concentrate Production:
Copper recovery (%)
Copper concentrate produced (dry
weight - t)
Average daily concentrates produced
(dry weight - t)
Concentrate copper grade (%)
Concentrate gold grade (g/t)

11.33

10.41

12.31

11.09

11.29

9.33

Concentrate silver grade (g/t)

365.11

349.26

376.92

388.24

369.81

371.05

27.59

40.63

49.92

31.95

38.07

52.99

1,744

2,352

3,538

2,288

9,923

12,713

37.01

44.60

42.56

40.75

41.65

48.59

2.66

3.27

2.71

2.93

2.88

2.67

1.79

1.89

1.60

2.00

1.81

1.40

2.26

2.85

2.37

2.60

2.51

2.26

1.48

1.48

0.91

1.88

1.43

0.83

5,089

10,418

5,498

5,567

26,572

36,448

-

-

5,202

-

5,202

13,471

3,371,950

6,508,789

5,141,498

3,189,305

18,211,542

27,992,885

3.62

3.25

3.23

3.25

3.32

3.60

0.95

-

0.85

-

0.85

0.89

Zinc Concentrate Production:
Zinc recovery (%)
Zinc concentrate produced (dry
weight - t)
Concentrate zinc grade (%)
Unit costs:
Total cost per Cu lb eq (US$)(1) (4)
Production cash cost per Cu lb eq
(US$)(2) (4)
Total cash cost per Cu lb eq (US$)(3) (4)
Total cash cost per Cu lb eq, net of
by-products (US$) (4)
Off-take:
Copper concentrate shipped (dry
weight - t)
Zinc concentrates shipped (dry
weight - t)
Cu lb eq shipped (Copper)
Average copper price received
(US$/lb)
Average zinc price received (US$/lb)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Includes selling expenses and amortization expenses.
Excludes selling expenses and amortization expenses.
Excludes amortization expenses.
Total cost per Cu lb eq, Production cash cost per Cu lb eq, Total cash cost per Cu lb eq and Total cash cost per Cu lb eq, net
of by-products, are non-IFRS measures. Please see definitions in the “Non-IFRS Measures” section.
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
Balabag Gold and Silver Project
Ownership
Balabag is owned 100% by TVIRD. After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, going forward TVI has a
30.66% indirect ownership interest in Balabag through TVIRD.
Balabag Update
The pre-development stage Balabag epithermal gold and silver property covers an area of approximately
52 square kilometers (20 square miles) and is situated approximately 75 kilometers (47 miles) eastnortheast of the Canatuan mine.
An updated independent NI 43-101 technical report was completed and filed in 2013 to further support
the NI 43-101 compliant scoping study (titled “Scoping Study of the Balabag Project”) filed in 2008 and
the previous resource report filed in 2007 (titled “NI 43-101 Technical Report for the Mineral Resources at
the Balabag Project of TVI Pacific Inc.”). All studies are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
During the first half of 2013, TVIRD completed 18 additional infill or extension drill holes equivalent to
1,221 meters (4,005 feet). In addition, mapping and sampling activities were carried out in the
underground workings, and trenching and soil grid geochemical surveys were done over the eastern and
southern part of Balabag hill. The discovery of multi-directional veining has increased the potential of
finding more veins.
Drilling at Balabag resumed at the start of the year for a period, following the removal of all illegal
occupants from the project site. Removal of the illegal miners was through implementation of Mines and
Geosciences Bureau (“MGB”)’s Cease and Desist Order by a team of government agencies.
To date, including pre-2010 and post-2010 drill programs, a total of 296 holes have been drilled for a total
of 34,156 meters at Balabag.
TVIRD has acquired all the necessary local government resolutions supporting TVIRD’s intended
operations from the province, the municipality of Bayog, and the four primary impact barangays and six
other barangays’ Resolutions Supporting TVIRD’s Intended Operations in Balabag.
In October 2013, TVIRD received the Environmental Compliance Certificate (“ECC”) for the Balabag
Project. Receipt of the ECC confirms TVIRD has satisfied the requirements of Presidential Decree 1586,
and its issue comes upon recommendation of the Environmental Management Bureau (“EMB”). This
marks a critical milestone towards starting development of the Balabag Gold-Silver Project, which will
commence once approval is received of the Declaration of Mining Project Feasibility (“DMPF”) by the
Philippines MGB of the Department of the Environment and Natural Resources (“DENR”). All required
documents have been submitted to the MGB. Timing as to the issuance of this required permit continues
to be uncertain.
TVIRD has established a pilot plant at its nearby Canatuan mine site to carry out metallurgical test work
on samples of the different types of mineralization at Balabag. The principal objectives of the pilot plant
test work are to confirm the results obtained in previous laboratory cyanide leaching tests, optimize the
metallurgical processing under an environment that more closely resembles actual operations, provide
design parameters for engineering, and to start training personnel in operations and metallurgical process
control.
TVIRD continued its pre-development work at Balabag, including:
•

Completion of an all-weather 16km access road to the mine that will serve as the main access for
equipment and product transport; and
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•

On-going design work on the CIL-Merrill-Crowe process based on the favorable test results, as
well as completion of plant design and equipment sizing.

Balabag Outlook
The plan is to continue to pursue the development of the starter mine, which is indicating robust standalone economics.
Surface geology exploration at Balabag, west of the current Balabag Hill, has also commenced as
planned. This is part of the overall goal to explore the full potential of the entire MPSA area.
An independent NI 43-101 technical report has been completed and filed on SEDAR (www.sedar.com) on
August 15, 2012. Based on drilling completed to the end of June 2011, the independent qualified person
estimates an indicated mineral resource of 1.78 million tonnes averaging 2.34 grams per tonne of gold
and 72.3 grams per tonne of silver containing 134,262 ounces of gold and 4,148,196 ounces of silver.
Readers are cautioned that such estimates remain conceptual in nature and mineral resources that are
not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

EXPLORATION PROPERTIES
Greater Canatuan Tenement Area (“GCTA”)
Exploration work at TVIRD’s GCTA was suspended pending approval of the required permits.
Processing and approval of MPSA applications continued to be on hold because of the ongoing
moratorium on new permit applications imposed by the Secretary of the DENR. In March 2013, the DENR
lifted the moratorium on the application for exploration permits, but the moratorium on MPSA’s and
financial or technical assistance agreements is still in effect despite the signing of the much awaited
Executive Order by the President of the Philippines. Timing as to the issuance of the required permits
continues to be uncertain.
Exploration Permit Application 61 (“EXPA-000061-IX”) is also affected by the moratorium and therefore
there were no new activities in the area.
The GCTA is owned 100% by TVIRD. After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, going forward TVI has a
30.66% indirect ownership interest in the GCTA through TVIRD.
Tamarok Copper and Gold Prospect
Tamarok exploration work has been suspended since January 2012 as the initial scout drilling results
were not encouraging. A decision was made to suspend further work on Tamarok and focus exploration
resources on other projects.
Tamarok is owned 100% by TVIRD. After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, going forward TVI has a
30.66% indirect ownership interest in Tamarok through TVIRD.
RAPU RAPU
The Rapu Rapu mine, located in the province of Albay in the central eastern Philippines, is a polymetallic
mining project. In December 1999, TVIRD assigned the Lafayette Group its mining rights and
participating interest in the Rapu Rapu joint venture agreement dated November 1998. As part of the
consideration for the assignment, TVIRD was granted a 2.5% net smelter return (“NSR”).
However, on February 6, 2008, Korea Malaysia Philippines Resources Inc., Rapu-Rapu Processing Inc.,
Rapu-Rapu Minerals Inc., collectively referred to as the “Rapu Rapu Group”, which acquired the Rapu
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Rapu mine from the Lafayette Group, filed a petition for corporate rehabilitation. As a result, the Pasig
City Regional Trial Court issued a stay order on all claims against the Rapu Rapu Group. On March 19,
2008, TVIRD filed a notice of claim against the Rapu Rapu Group for unpaid NSR.
On September 17, 2009, the Pasig City Regional Trial Court approved the final rehabilitation plan of the
Rapu Rapu Group, which recognized the royalty claims of TVIRD beginning in 2012; however, the plan
did not recognize TVIRD’s royalty claims prior to 2012 and TVI therefore filed an appeal with the Court of
Appeals.
Rapu-Rapu Group moved out of corporate rehabilitation and resumed normal operations in October 2011,
at which time TVIRD started negotiations for a compromise settlement to resolve the outstanding NSR
issue. On December 14, 2012, TVIRD signed a memorandum of agreement ("MOA") with Rapu Rapu
which outlines terms for the settlement of outstanding NSR payments to TVIRD. The MOA confirmed an
agreement between TVIRD and the Rapu Rapu Group in the gross amount of US$3,844,720 for the
period 2005 through Q3 2012. In 2012, TVIRD received a total of US$3,075,776, net of 20% withholding
taxes, representing NSR payments for the period 2005 through Q3 2012. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, TVIRD received a total cash payment of US$2,342,164, net of 20% withholding tax,
based on settlement statements provided by Rapu-Rapu representing NSR for the periods from Q4 2012
to Q3 2013.
To date, a gross US$6,772,425 (net US$5,417,940) has been received since the MOA was signed
December 14, 2012. There is no outstanding receivable as at December 31, 2013.
On July 5, 2013, following the Rapu Rapu Group’s full satisfaction of TVIRD’s claims, the parties filed with
the Court of Appeals a Joint Motion seeking the dismissal of the appeal. The Court of Appeals is
expected to grant the said Joint Motion in due time thereby putting an end to the case.
The Rapu Rapu Group has now closed their mine and processing operations at the end of 2013 though
some remaining shipments of product remain in storage awaiting clearance.
HEADS OF AGREEMENTS WITH MINDORO AND FOYSON
During Q3 2012, TVI entered into two heads of agreements (“HOA”) with Mindoro Resources Ltd.
(“Mindoro” or “MRL”), a Canadian company engaged in mining exploration in the Philippines, and Foyson
Resources Limited (“Foyson”), an Australian company engaged in mining exploration in Papua New
Guinea. The HOA, dated July 6, 2012 and August 17, 2012, respectively, set out the terms of various
proposed transactions consisting of a loan to, an acquisition of equity interests by way of private
placement to be undertaken in two tranches for each company, and joint ventures with Mindoro and
Foyson (or “affiliates”).
MINDORO
Pursuant to the HOA with Mindoro, TVI issued a loan to Mindoro in the amount of $938,968, which bears
interest of 8% per annum (calculated semiannually and not in advance) that was secured by Mindoro’s
interests in the Agata South nickel laterite mineral project. However, based on the terms of the
agreement, if the full principal amount was repaid from the proceeds of the first tranche (“Tranche 1”) of
the private placement, no interest would be payable on the loan.
On September 28, 2012, the secured loan receivable was discharged in full through acquisition of the
equity interest in Mindoro. TVI acquired ownership of 18,779,353 units of Mindoro by way of a private
placement (Tranche 1) at a price of $0.05 per unit, for a total of $938,968. Each unit consists of one
common share and one common share purchase warrant that entitles TVI to purchase one additional
share, at a price of $0.10 per share, at any time and from time to time until September 28, 2017. The total
common shares acquired represent an approximate 6.9% interest in Mindoro.
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On October 10, 2012, TVI completed the purchase of an additional 24 million units of Mindoro, at $0.05
per unit, for an aggregate purchase price of $1.2 million (“Tranche 2A”). Each unit consists of one
common share and one common share purchase warrant that entitles TVI to purchase, at any time and
from time to time until October 10, 2017, one additional common share, at an exercise price of $0.10. The
24,000,000 common shares acquired by TVI represent an approximate 8.1% interest in Mindoro. When
added to the Tranche 1 acquisition, TVI now owns 42,779,353 units of Mindoro, representing an
approximate 14.4% holding in the capital of Mindoro. Assuming the exercise of all of the warrants
acquired, TVI would hold 85,558,706 shares, representing an approximate 25.2% holding in the capital of
Mindoro.
In June, 2013, TVI agreed to loan, pursuant to a secured promissory note, up to CAD $1.3 million to joint
venture partner Mindoro Resources Ltd. The loan will be used by Mindoro to help fund its operations for
the next twelve months and to finance an initial acquisition payment to Minimax Mineral Exploration
Corporation (“Minimax”) for Mindoro to acquire the remaining 25% interest in the Agata project. Mindoro
currently holds a 75% interest in the Agata project and is negotiating an option to acquire the additional
25% from its partner, Minimax. TVI may advance up to CAD$1.3 million to Mindoro pursuant to an
agreed upon schedule of monthly draws. Funds will be repayable within twelve months of the first draw
down or may be repaid earlier, together with interest and without penalty. Interest will be calculated at a
minimum of 15% per annum. The promissory note is secured by shares in Mindoro’s wholly owned
subsidiary, MRL Nickel Philippines Inc. The total outstanding principal and interest as at December 31,
2013 was $381,802.
Mindoro Joint Venture Projects
Ownership
After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, going forward TVI has maintained its direct interest in Mindoro
but has a 30.66% indirect ownership interest through TVIRD in the interest to be earned in the Agata
Mining Option and Joint Venture, the Agata Processing Joint Venture, the Pan De Azucar Mining Option
and Joint Venture, and the Pan de Azucar Processing Option and Joint Venture.
Structure of Mindoro Joint Ventures
Pursuant to the HOA, TVI and its affiliate, TVIRD, have entered into various joint venture arrangements
with Mindoro (and its affiliates) on September 25, 2012:
i)

Agata Mining Option and Joint Venture

TVIRD has an option to earn a 60% interest in the Agata Mining Joint Venture upon commencement of
commercial production subject to (i) TVIRD having expended a minimum of $2 million within 12 months of
the date of the Agata Mining Option and Joint Venture Agreement (“AMVI Agreement”), and (ii)
commercial production at Agata having commenced within 3 years of the date of the AMVI Agreement.
Under the AMVI Agreement, TVIRD is required to fund all expenditures associated with the establishment
of the Mining Operation.
On April 10, 2013 TVI has filed an updated National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) technical report
entitled "Independent Report on the Nickel Laterite Resource - Agata North, Philippines." The updated NI
43-101 reflects an updated and reclassified resource estimate for the Agata North nickel laterite
resource. The new resource provides a robust foundation for moving forward, initially, with a direct
shipping ore (“DSO”) operation of high-iron limonite (upper laterite horizon), followed by atmospheric
leach processing of the underlying saprolite horizon.
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Highlights of the updated NI 43-101 include:




An increase in Measured and Indicated resources to 33.9 million dry metric tonnes at 1.1% nickel as
compared to the previous 31.8 million dry metric tonnes at 1.05% nickel;
Inferred resources are 2.0 million dry metric tonnes at 1.04% nickel;
Estimated contained nickel is 391 thousand tonnes.

At a cut-off grade of 44% iron, there are an estimated 7.0 million dry metric tonnes or approximately 10
million wet metric tonnes at 48.5% iron and 0.94% nickel - a DSO product grade currently much in
demand in China. The joint venture is fast-tracking DSO development and is targeting production in Q1
2014.
As at October 17, 2013, 100% of land required for the road network has been acquired in coordination
with the local government unit while 90% of land required under the current design of the Port facility has
been acquired. The planning and design of port construction, as well as for roads and other
infrastructure, is proceeding.
The Agata DSO Project is well into the permitting stage with the Environmental Protection and
Enhancement Program and the Final Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan under review by the
Mine Rehabilitation Fund Committee. Final approval of the DMPF is then expected to follow, which will
allow the project to move into development. Timing of receipt of this permit, however, is uncertain. The
Agata high iron DSO project already has an existing ECC.
ii) Agata Processing Option and Joint Venture
TVIRD has the right to earn a 60% interest in the Agata Processing Joint Venture upon delivery of a
definitive feasibility study respecting nickel processing at Agata, subject to TVIRD having expended a
minimum of $2 million within 12 months of the date of the Agata Processing Option and Joint Venture
Agreement (“API Agreement”) and completing the definitive feasibility study within 4 years of the date of
the API Agreement. Under the API Agreement, TVIRD is required to fund all required expenditures
associated with preparation of the definitive feasibility study.
Pilot plant testing commenced in May 2013 at the Beijing General Research Institute of Mining &
Metallurgy (“BGRIMM”) facility in China and was based on the results of the comprehensive program of
laboratory bench-scale testing, which was previously carried out at BGRIMM and at TVI’s Metallurgical
Laboratory in the Philippines. Approximately 30 tonnes of ore was mined for this purpose from a variety
of test pits that cover the Agata ore body. The test pits were carefully selected from the available drill
hole data to accurately reflect the ore that is expected to feed the process plant.
Pilot plant testing is intended to further define the technological parameters to be used in producing a
Bankable Feasibility Study with the goal of building a commercial processing plant. The pilot plant
consists of, amongst others, primary leaching (atmospheric) and secondary leaching (low pressure
autoclave), and an extensive BGRIMM pilot plant campaign, in which 4,300 kg of feed ore was leached
and has confirmed an overall nickel extraction of 93.5 to 94.5% may be consistently achieved at an acid
consumption of 48-59 t acid/t Ni leached. The process technology TVIRD is developing, and which has
produced these results, aims to achieve maximum nickel recovery and low acid consumption which
translates into increased metal production and lower operating costs.
Pregnant Leach Solution (“PLS”) recovered from the slurry after leaching at the BGRIMM pilot plant was
divided into two batches, with 8,000L for shipment to the continuously operating pilot plant installed and
commissioned at TVIRD’s metallurgical testing facility in the Philippines for production of a Nickel
Hydroxide Product (“NHP”) and 1,000L for production of an alternative Mixed Hydroxide Product (“MHP”).
Testing at the two facilities will allow NHP and MHP processes and products to be compared and a final
process route chosen as part of the Bankable Feasibility Study that is currently underway.
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The TVIRD pilot plant has now processed all of the 8,000L of PLS received from BGRIMM and NHP filter
cake was successfully produced February 7th, 2014 with a 52% to 54% Ni grade. Impurities such as Fe,
Ca and Mg are low enough for the NHP to be considered a refined intermediate product and implies that
NHP may be converted to nickel oxide and nickel metal without the need for additional refining, thereby
offering possible offtakers with a versatile product alternative. The NHP produced will be characterized
by a 3rd party facility, and a NHP specification sheet developed, at which time the NHP, together with the
specification sheet, will be sent to potential offtakers for evaluation. The final stage of pilot plant operation
will comprise of treatment of the barren solution from the counter-current ion exchange pilot plant to
produce an effluent that is acceptable for disposal as well as ecological tests for residues.
iii) Pan De Azucar (PDA) Mining Option and Joint Venture
TVIRD has an option to earn a 60% interest in the PDA Mining Joint Venture by: (i) making minimum
aggregate expenditures of $2 million in respect of the PDA mining project prior to the first anniversary of
the date that a declaration of mining project feasibility is issued in respect of that project (the “Feasibility
Declaration Date”); and (ii) solely funding the PDA mining project to the point of commercial production,
provided commercial production is achieved on or prior to the third anniversary of the Feasibility
Declaration Date. The PDA Mining Option and Joint Venture Agreement (“PDAMVI Agreement”)
contemplates that TVIRD will make expenditures in respect of the PDA mining project in an aggregate
amount of not less than $500,000, prior to the date that is 12 months following the date of the PDAMVI
Agreement, as TVIRD considers appropriate in its discretion, with any such expenditures being creditable
against the $2 million of aggregate expenditures noted above (see note below with respect to extension
of dates).
iv) PDA Processing Option and Joint Venture
TVIRD has the right to earn up to a 60% interest in the PDA Processing Joint Venture in two stages as
follows: (i) a 51% interest, by making minimum aggregate expenditures of $2 million in respect of the PDA
processing project on or prior to the first anniversary of the date that a declaration of mining project
feasibility is issued in respect of the processing project (the “Processing Declaration Date”); and (ii) a
9% interest by making additional minimum aggregate expenditures of $3 million in respect of the
processing project on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Processing Declaration Date. The PDA
Processing Option and Joint Venture Agreement (“PDAPI Agreement”) contemplates that TVIRD will
make expenditures in respect of the PDA processing project in an aggregate amount of not less than
$500,000, prior to the date that is 12 months following the date of the PDAPI Agreement, as TVIRD
considers appropriate in its discretion, with any such expenditures being creditable against the $2 million
of aggregate expenditures noted above. (see note below with respect to extension of dates.)
Effective June 18, 2013, TVI and Mindoro have also agreed to amend the following terms of the original
joint venture agreements:


TVIRD’s contributions to the Agata Mining Joint Venture and Agata Processing Joint Venture will
be for shares in the applicable joint venture, rather than as paid in capital, with such shares to be
issued as earned and placed in escrow until TVI’s full 60% interest is earned. TVIRD will not
retain any interest in the Agata Mining Joint Venture if it withdraws prior to commencing a DSO
operation and will not retain any interest in the Agata Processing Joint Venture if it withdraws
prior to completing a Definitive Feasibility Study.



TVIRD’s minimum spending commitments pursuant to the PDA Joint Venture agreements are
extended by one year, from December 31, 2013, to December 31, 2014.

As at December 31, 2013, TVIRD has incurred a total of $5,994,271 and earned 59% of shares in the
Agata Mining Joint Venture and 45% of shares in the Agata Processing Joint Venture, which remain in
escrow until satisfaction of other requirements. The amount has been derecognized in the consolidated
financial statements due to the deconsolidation of the Philippine subsidiaries:
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December 31, 2013
Agata Mining
Agata Processing
PDA Mining
PDA Processing

$

$

2,172,244
3,589,622
178,511
53,894
5,994,271

FOYSON
Ownership
After giving effect of the PRHI transaction, the direct investment and participation in Foyson joint ventures
continues to be owned 100% owned by TVI.
Structure of Investment in Foyson
Pursuant to the HOA with Foyson, TVI issued a loan to Foyson in the amount of AUD$400,000 on August
17, 2012. TVI and Foyson have agreed to changes in the terms of the loan in an Amendment Letter dated
February 13, 2013, which have been approved at a Foyson shareholder meeting held April 18, 2013, and
include: (i) a reduction in interest rate to nil, (ii) a change in security to a specific security interest over the
sum of $400,000 held in a separate bank account in the joint names of Foyson and TVI, and (iii) a
restructuring of the loan to a convertible loan in the amount of AUD$600,000, either repayable on June
30, 2014 or convertible between December 31, 2013 to June 30, 2014 to 75 million shares and a further
75 million options. The total outstanding principal and interest as at December 31, 2013 was $558,560
(AUD$600,000).
On August 28, 2012, TVI completed the first tranche of the private placement (“Tranche 1”) with Foyson,
wherein TVI acquired 68 million shares representing 8.93% of Foyson’s issued capital, at a purchase
price of AUD$0.013 per share, for a total consideration of AUD$884,000 ($907,249).
TVI also signed a subscription agreement for the second tranche of the proposed private placement
(“Tranche 2”), which originally provided the option to TVI to purchase an additional 160 million shares (at
an aggregate purchase price of AUD$2.4 million) and options to purchase up to an additional 140 million
shares (at an exercise price of AUD$0.03 per Share), exercisable until June 30, 2015.
In February 2013, both Foyson and TVI agreed to amendments to the Tranche 2 subscription agreement
which were subsequently approved at a Foyson shareholders’ meeting held on April 18, 2013. Under the
amended terms, TVI will:
 subscribe for 142,857,143 Foyson shares at AUD$0.007 for a total AUD$1.0 million investment (as
compared to an initially agreed investment of AUD$2.4 million, as per the original subscription
agreement) and receive 80 million options from Foyson, exercisable at $0.015 prior to December 31,
2014, that would bring TVI's ownership of Foyson to 29.5% on a fully diluted basis;


replace the previously provided loan to Foyson (as discussed earlier) by a convertible loan in the
amount of AUD$600,000, with the right (but not the obligation) to request repayment from Foyson
through the issuance of 75 million shares and 75 million options to TVI (exercisable prior to
December 31, 2014 at $0.015); and



focus resources on the Amazon Bay iron sands project with the intent to fast-track the development of
an operating mine.

On May 3, 2013, TVI invested an initial part payment of AUD$100,000 towards the restructured Tranche
2, increasing at that time TVI’s shareholding in Foyson to 82,285,719 shares, representing 10.608% of
Foyson’s issued capital.
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Effective July 9, 2013, TVI ceased to have representation on the Board of Directors of Foyson but does
retain the right to nominate one individual currently and two out of five Foyson directors following full
subscription of Tranche 2.
On July 30, 2013, TVI and Foyson have agreed to the following further amendments in the terms of the
loan and Tranche 2 agreements:


Subject to funding, the remaining Tranche 2 placements (AUD$900,000, following part payment on
May 3, 2013) have been rescheduled and will be made by TVI in two payments, the first for
AUD$315,000 within 10 days of further financing to be received by TVI, and the second for
AUD$585,000 within 10 days following the Foyson shareholder meeting to approve the transaction.
The price per share is AUD$0.007;



As part of the amended terms of agreement, Foyson will make an early repayment of 50% of the
restructured AUD$600,000 unsecured convertible loan provided earlier by TVI, payable from the final
Tranche 2 placement. The balance of the loan will continue to be subject to existing terms; and



Foyson will assume project management responsibility for the Amazon Bay Project for the remainder
of Stage 1.

On December 19, 2013, TVI invested the further agreed AUD$315,000 of the AUD$1.0 million Tranche 2,
increasing the shareholding to 127,285,714 shares, representing 15.51% of Foyson’s issued capital. TVI
will be issued with 80,000,000 unlisted options on completion of the Tranche 2 investment into Foyson.
This has been approved by shareholders at a general meeting of Foyson held on the 18 March 2014.
Foyson Joint Venture Projects
On August 28, 2012, TVI signed agreements with Foyson relating to the following joint venture projects
contemplated by the HOA:
i)

Amazon Bay Iron Sands Project (“AB”) - (i) TVI will commit to a minimum expenditure of AUD$2
million in the twelve months following the later of the date on which all applicable joint venture
conditions are satisfied and the date of the Tranche 1 Closing; (ii) TVI will refund to Foyson any
expenditures incurred on AB since July 1, 2012, to a maximum of AUD$200,000 creditable against
TVI’s spending commitments; (iii) TVI will earn a 10% interest in AB as a result of initial expenditure;
(iv) TVI will have the right to earn a further 20% in AB by spending an additional AUD$5.5 million
within 12 months following the expiration of the initial earning period; (v) during the two earning
periods and up to the end of the second earning period, TVI and Foyson may, at TVI’s expense, carry
out a feasibility study of a DSO operation. If a DSO project is determined to be feasible, TVI has the
right to undertake the development to earn a 51% interest in the DSO project area. TVI has also the
option to advance $10 million to Foyson to acquire the remaining 50% in AB held by Titan Mines.

ii)

New Britain Gold/Copper (“NB”) - (i) TVI will commit to a minimum expenditure of AUD$1.25 million in
the twelve months following the later of the date on which all applicable joint venture conditions are
satisfied and the date of the Tranche 1 Closing; (ii) TVI will refund to Foyson any expenditures
incurred on NB since July 1, 2012, to a maximum of AUD$200,000 creditable against TVI’s spending
commitments; (iii) TVI will earn a 12.5% interest in NB as a result of the initial expenditure; and (iv)
TVI will have the right to earn a further 42.5% interest in NB by spending an additional AUD$5.25
million within 12 months following the expiration of the initial earning year.

iii) New Ireland Gold/Copper (NI) and Massau and Tanga Islands (“MTI”) - (i) TVI will commit to
spending a minimum of AUD$100,000 for each project, within six months of the granting of the
tenements; and (ii) such expenditure will earn TVI the right to match any third party offer to farm into
NI or MTI, received during the year of the expenditure by TVI or during the 12 months following the
finalization of the information memorandum on NI or MTI.

TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 16 of 51

December 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Of the amount of the total spending commitment in relation to the joint venture arrangements with
Foyson, TVI has incurred a total of $2,798,979. On January 30, 2014, TVI has provided a notice of
withdrawal from the New Britain project, resulting in the write-down of $813,145 as of December 31,
2013. The net amount of $1,985,834 was recorded as option to purchase contract in the consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2013:
December 31, 2013
Amazon Bay Iron Sands
New Britain Gold/Copper

$

1,985,834
813,145
2,798,979
(813,145)
1,985,834

Write-down of New Britain Gold/Copper
$

Valuation of investments
The carrying amount of the investments as of December 31, 2013 was $1,248,450. The carrying value
reflects the requirement to record TVI’s proportionate share of net losses recognized directly within the
accounting records of Foyson and Mindoro (“the associates”), generated primarily by the impairment of
investments held by Mindoro.

December 31, 2012
Additional investment
Share of net loss
Share of other comprehensive loss
December 31, 2013

$

$

Foyson
860,251
416,586
(447,827)
(20,371)
808,639

$

$

Mindoro
1,937,663
(1,539,612)
41,760
439,811

$

$

Total
2,797,914
416,586
(1,987,439)
21,389
1,248,450

As at December 31, 2013, the fair values of the investments in Foyson and Mindoro were $733,700 and
$855,587, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2012, total costs incurred related to the
acquisition of investments in and joint ventures with Foyson and Mindoro were approximately $2.7 million,
recorded under administrative and general costs in the consolidated financial statements.
TVI’s share of the associates’ result of operations, assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31,
2013 are as follows:
Share of revenue
Share of comprehensive loss
Share of total current assets
Share of total assets
Share of total current liabilities
Share of total liabilities

$

Foyson
25,824
(468,198)
162,281
3,064,883
167,652
207,598

Mindoro
$

(1,497,852)
2,904,624
2,904,624
131,788
131,788

$

Total
25,824
(1,966,050)
3,066,905
5,969,507
299,440
339,386

Although TVI holds less than 20% of the equity shares of the associates as at December 31, 2013, TVI
has determined that it has significant influence by virtue of its right to have representation on the Board of
Directors of the associates and various other contractual terms.

DRILLING COMPANY
TVIRD’s drilling operations are owned and operated by EDCO. As of December 31, 2013, EDCO had 16
rigs in total, including 3 rigs that were deployed and 13 rigs awaiting deployment. Through 2013 EDCO
drilled 11,384 meters as compared to 2,487 meters in 2012, 74% of which was drilling for third parties
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and increased in volume by 91% year-over-year. At December 31, 2013, and as part of Transactions
with PRHI, corporate restructuring has resulted in EDCO becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of TVIRD
in which TVI continues to hold an indirect interest.

PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES
On March 10, 2011, TVI acquired control of an international petroleum exploration and development
company, TG World Energy Corp. (“TG World”). At the time of acquisition, its major areas of focus were
offshore Philippines, Alaska and Niger.
Philippines Offshore
Through TG World, TVI continues to hold a 12.5% equity interest in Service Contract 54A (“SC 54A”) in
the Philippines. SC 54A is situated offshore west of the Palawan islands. The project operator is Nido
Petroleum Limited of Perth, Australia (“Nido”) who owns a 42.4% working interest in the project.
The partners operate under a farm-out agreement through which TG World will receive 85% of its share
of future revenue generated from crude oil production until it has paid US$2,689,844 to two of its
partners. Subsequent to funding this amount from oil production, it will retain 100% of its share of revenue
generation.
In July 2011, the Philippine Department of Energy (“DOE”) approved an application by the joint venture
partners for a twelve month extension to Sub-phase 6 of SC 54A to allow the joint venture partners
additional time to fully integrate the results of the 3D reprocessing project being undertaken over the
block. Integration of this work provided the basis for developing the forward strategy for the block
including high-grading potential drilling targets to meet the well commitment in the succeeding sub-phase,
Sub-Phase 7, should the SC 54A joint venture decide to enter into this sub-phase. During the year of the
Sub-Phase 6 extension, the joint venture partners also acquired a small program of 2D seismic over one
of the block’s exploration prospects, the Lawaan prospect, which has been proposed by the Operator as
the leading prospect for future drilling.
The DOE agreed again to extend Sub-phase 6 of SC54 for a period of twelve (12) months from August 4,
2012 to August 4, 2013. The twelve month extension has been focused upon completion of the 2D
seismic processing projects over the Lawaan-Libas Prospects in SC 54A and integration of the results
and implications of the new seismic data into the subsurface geological models.
In July 2013, the DOE approved an application by the joint venture partners for an additional twelvemonth extension of Sub-phase 6 of the SC 54A, until August 4, 2014, to allow the joint venture partners
additional time to fully integrate the results of the data acquired to date and to propose plans for the next
phase of exploration and/or development drilling. On entering Sub-phase 7, it will commit to the drilling of
one well within the following period.
The revised duration of Sub-Phase 6 and Sub-Phase 7 following the most recent 12 month extension is
as follows:
Sub-Phase
Sub-Phase 6
August 5, 2010 – August 4, 2014
Sub-Phase 7
August 5, 2014 – August 4, 2015

Minimum Work and Financial Obligations
Drill 1 Exploration Well
US $6M (Work Already Completed)
Drill 1 Exploration Well
US $6M

Additionally in 2013, Nido announced the planned divestiture of its 42.4% interest, in light of a strategic
review that refocused its intentions in other blocks and other countries, resulting in SC 54A becoming a
non-core asset within its portfolio. On November 25, 2013, Nido announced a provisional sale of its
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interest to Philippine company, subject to the issuance of formal consent by the remaining Joint Venture
partners. At the time of writing, this consent has not yet been provided by the Joint Venture partners.
In the interim, Nido has advised the partnership it intends to resign as Operator. Under the terms of the
Joint Operating Agreement for the Block, the Joint Venture partners have six months to elect a new
Operator from among the partners.
TG World has recorded a provision for impairment of the exploration and evaluation assets amounting to
$2,048,610, recorded under other gains (losses) in the consolidated financial statements of TVI, based on
the estimated value of the project as at December 31, 2013.
Alaska
TG World had a joint venture agreement with Alaska Venture Capital Group (“AVCG”) and Brooks Range
Petroleum Corporation (“BRPC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVCG, to explore joint venture oil and gas
properties held on the Alaskan North Slope. TG World's working interests varied from 20% to 35% in four
distinct areas.
On November 9, 2011, TG World completed the sale of all of its leasehold interests in Alaska, for US$16
million.
The areas explored by TG World for hydrocarbons in Alaska qualified TG World to apply for production
petroleum tax credits (“PPTC”) from the State of Alaska (the “State”). PPTC are cash credits funded by
the State for previous exploration and seismic expenditures. TG World received no further cash credits for
past applications during the year ended December 31, 2013. As at December 31, 2013, TG World has a
remaining receivable of $614,358 (US$577,621) relating to further tax credits expected to be received.
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

December 31, 2013
September 30, 2013
June 30, 2013
March 31, 2013
December 31, 2012
September 30, 2012
June 30, 2012
March 31, 2012
(1)
(2)

Net
(1)
Revenue
$
8,832
12,074
17,015
10,245
20,613
19,789
22,602
14,450

Net Income
(1)
(Loss)
$
(9,839)
342
(4,315)
(579)
5,010
533
2,098
(2,294)

(2)

Net Income (Loss) per Share
Basic
Diluted
$
(0.016) $
(0.016)
0.000
0.000
(0.007)
(0.007)
(0.001)
(0.001)
0.009
0.009
0.000
0.000
0.003
0.003
(0.004)
(0.004)

The revenue and net income (loss) include income (loss) from operations.
Net of non-controlling interests. Please see the “Non-controlling interests” section below.

Revenue
During Q1 2012, there was only one shipment of copper concentrate for 6,033 dry metric tonnes
amounting to US$13.3 million and one shipment of zinc concentrate for 3,939 dry metric tonnes
amounting to US$3.7 million based on the final concentrate testing relating to the final weight, assays and
market prices. The average copper invoice price received for the copper shipment was 14% higher, from
US$3.39 in Q4 2011 to US$3.85 in Q1 2012.
Two shipments of copper concentrate and one shipment of zinc concentrate were completed during Q2
2012. A total of 10,638 dry metric tonnes of copper concentrate and 5,062 dry metric tonnes of zinc
concentrate were delivered amounting to US$22.7 million and US$4.1 million, respectively, based on the
final concentrate testing relating to the final weight, assays and market prices. The average copper
invoice price received for the copper shipment was US$3.57 in Q2 2012, which was 7% lower than in the
previous quarter.
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There were also two shipments of copper concentrate completed during Q3 2012 for a total of 10,274 dry
metric tonnes of copper concentrate amounting to US$22.1 million based on the final concentrate testing
relating to the final weight, assays and market prices. The average copper invoice price received for the
copper shipment was US$3.48 in Q3 2012, which was slightly lower than in the previous quarter.
TVIRD completed two copper concentrate shipments totalling 9,503 dry metric tonnes and one zinc
concentrate shipment of 4,459 dry metric tonnes during Q4 2012. The gross revenues received were
US$20.7 million for the copper concentrates and US$3.5 million for the zinc concentrate, based on the
final concentrate testing relating to the final weight, assays and market prices, at average copper and zinc
invoice prices of US$3.59 and US$0.90, respectively.
In Q1 2013, there was one shipment of copper concentrate for a total of 5,089 dry metric tonnes at an
average invoice price of US$3.62 for gross revenue of US$11.2 million, based on the final concentrate
testing relating to the final weight, assays and market prices.
In Q2 2013 revenue increased over that of the previous quarter as TVIRD completed two copper
concentrate shipments totalling 10,418 dry metric tonnes at an average invoice price of US$3.25,
generating gross revenue of $19.8 million, based on the final concentrate testing relating to the final
weight, assays and market prices.
During Q3 2013, there was one shipment of copper concentrate and one shipment of zinc concentrate for
a total of 5,498 dry metric tonnes and 5,169 dry metric tonnes, respectively. TVIRD earned a total gross
revenue of US$13.8 million at average invoice prices of US$3.23 for copper and US$0.84 for zinc.
In Q4 2013, there was only one shipment of copper concentrate for a total of 5,567 dry metric tonnes
equivalent to a gross revenue of US$9.9 million at average invoice price of US$3.25.
Net Income (Loss)
TVIRD declared commercial operations at the Canatuan Sulphide Project on March 1, 2009, and
thereafter continued to improve its operating throughput and concentrate production until Q2 2010 when
the Zinc Circuit began initial commissioning and provided additional opportunities.
Average throughput slightly increased from 2,698 dry metric tonnes in Q4 2011 to 2,744 dry metric tonnes
in Q1 2012. But as a result of a continuing expected decrease in copper ore grade, copper pound
equivalent of concentrates produced was lower by 20% compared to that in the previous quarter.
In Q2 2012 copper ore feed grade improved slightly to 0.92% copper as compared to 0.85% copper in Q1
2012. This is a normal variation in operations where ore grade continues to decline as mining continues
to proceed, and is typical of a mining operation where the higher grades are extracted during the earlier
years of the mining cycle. Operating efficiency continued to improve with the removal of cyanide in ore
processing during the latter part of Q2 2012. This process efficiency was a key reason for the improved
operating cost performance.
During Q3 2012, the average copper ore feed grade remained consistent with the previous quarter at
0.92% copper, while the average throughput improved slightly (from 2,520 dry metric tonnes in Q2 2012
to 2,580 dry metric tonnes in Q3 2012), resulting in a slight increase in the copper pound equivalent of
concentrates produced during the quarter.
In Q4 2012, the average copper ore grade fell slightly to 0.88% while the average throughput continued to
be above plan at 2,765 tonnes per day (as compared to budget of 2,600 tonnes per day).
During Q1 2013, the average copper ore feed grade fell further to 0.81% copper, and the average
throughput declined to 2,483 tonnes per day. The drop in throughput was mainly due to the scheduled
plant shutdown to replace the power generating units.
Through Q2 2013, the average copper ore feed grade further decreased to 0.73% due to the ore blending
to reduce penalty elements in the concentrate; however, the average throughput increased back up to
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2,593 tonnes per day while average copper recovery continued relatively unchanged from Q2 2013 at
72.36%.
During Q3 2013, the average copper ore feed grade was further reduced to 0.61% copper while the
average throughput slightly increased to 2,617 tonnes per day. The drop in feed grade continued to be
primarily due to the ore blending to reduce penalty elements in the concentrate.
During Q4 2013, the average throughput increased to 3,104 tonnes per day. However, the average
copper ore feed grade was further reduced from 0.61% to 0.51% copper due to the continued ore
blending to reduce penalty elements in the concentrate, while the copper recovery slightly also went down
to 80% from 81%. The lower feed grade in particular has resulted in a 11% decrease in copper pound
equivalent of metals produced, causing Production Cash Cost per Cu lb equivalent to increase by 25%
quarter over quarter.

Q4 2013
Q3 2013
Q2 2013
Q1 2013

Average copper price received
(US$/lb)
3.25
3.23
3.25
3.62

Q4 2012
Q3 2012
Q2 2012
Q1 2012

3.59
3.48
3.57
3.85

(1)
(2)

(1)

Production cash cost
(US$/Cu lb eq)
2.00
1.60
1.89
1.79
1.34
1.29
1.29
1.70

(2)

Total cost
(US$/Cu lb eq)
2.93
2.71
3.27
2.66
2.63
2.41
2.62
3.04

Excludes selling expenses and amortization expenses. Production cash cost per copper pound equivalent is a non-IFRS measure. Please see
definitions in the “Non-IFRS Measures” section.
Includes selling expenses and amortization expenses. Total cost per copper pound equivalent is a non-IFRS measure. Please see definitions in
the “Non-IFRS Measures” section.

During Q1 2012, TVI posted a net loss of $2.3 million as there was only one shipment of copper
concentrate and one shipment of zinc concentrate. Total mining, milling and other expenses decreased
as a function of concentrate volumes shipped. However, unit production cost increased from $1.30 in Q4
2011 to $1.70 in Q1 2012 due to lower metal production (8.2 million Cu lb eq in Q4 2011 against 6.5
million Cu lb eq in Q1 2012 caused by lower copper ore grade) and slightly increased production costs
due to higher mining costs and increased consumption and costs of materials used to produce zinc
concentrates.
In Q2 2012, TVI had a net income of $2.1 million from two shipments of copper concentrate and one
shipment of zinc concentrate. Total mining, milling and other expenses increased compared to the prior
quarter due to higher volumes of concentrates shipped, though unit production cost decreased
significantly from $1.70 in Q1 2012 to $1.29 in Q2 2012 as a result of a change in process through which
cyanide use was greatly reduced in April 2012 and was completely removed from the process for most of
May through September. Depreciation, depletion and accretion decreased due to lower
throughput, higher ore reserves due to the additional material found and mined during the year, as well as
a revision in estimated residual value of plant and equipment, all of which are used in computing
depreciation charges. TVI also realized a higher foreign exchange gain from the settlement of loans
during the quarter.
During Q3 2012, TVI posted a net income of $0.5 million from two shipments of copper concentrates.
Aside from lower volumes of concentrates shipped, total mining, milling and other expenses were lower
compared to Q2 2012 because of lower unit of production cost of inventories sold that carried over from
the previous quarter’s production, as a benefit of the lower consumption of chemicals during the previous
quarter. However, TVI had higher general and administrative expenses during the quarter primarily
because of the one-time charges incurred in relation to the acquisition of investments and joint venture
arrangements with Foyson and Mindoro, as well as legal and related expenses on the Balabag project.
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In Q4 2012, TVI realized a higher net income of $5.0 million primarily due to royalties received from Rapu
Rapu with respect to settlement of outstanding NSR payments, equal to US$3,845,948 net after
withholding tax for the period 2005 through December 31, 2013. TVI also completed two copper
concentrate shipments and one zinc concentrate shipment during the quarter. The realized foreign
exchange gain from the settlement of intercompany loans also contributed to the increase in net income
during the quarter.
During Q1 2013, TVI incurred a net loss of $0.6 million as a result of there being only one shipment of
copper concentrate. The decrease in net revenue was compensated by a decrease in mining, milling and
other expenses as a function of the lower volume of concentrates sold, a decrease in general and
administrative expenses, and further collection of royalty income from Rapu Rapu for Q1 2013 NSR
payments equal to US $498,655.
TVI incurred a net loss of $4.3 million during Q2 2013, as a result of a decrease in metal prices (from
average invoice price for copper of US$3.62 in Q1 2013 to US$3.25 in Q2 2013, and more significant
decreases in gold and silver prices); an increase in production cash cost as a result of processing lower
feed grades (0.73%) through the blending of ore to reduce penalty elements in the concentrate (though
the increase has been offset in part by reduced mining cost and the continuing non-use of cyanide); and
the requirement to record TVI’s proportionate share of loss on investments in Foyson and Mindoro,
arising primarily from the impairment of assets held directly by Mindoro.
TVI realized a consolidated net income of $0.3 million during Q3 2013, generated by one copper
concentrate shipment and one zinc concentrate shipment as well as a decrease in mining, milling and
other expenses as metal production increased through a combination of higher throughput and improved
metal recoveries. The net income for the quarter also includes a further $0.6 million in NSR earned
through Rapu Rapu.
TVI incurred a net loss of $8.6 million during Q4 2013, resulting from only one shipment of copper
concentrate through the period and an increase in production cash cost caused by a further decrease in
the feed grades of ore processed. There were also no NSR revenues received during the quarter. TVI
also incurred consulting and success fees related to the investment and financing transactions with PRHI,
which was offset by a $3 million curtailment gain arising from a reduction in the number of employees at
the Canatuan suphide plant and their related pensions as processing activities came to a close. Through
the period also, TVI has written down a total of $2.7 million of its investments in the SC54A and New
Britain joint venture projects and recorded a $2.0 million share of loss of associates. Adjustments were
made to the net assets of the consolidated statements to deconsolidate the Philippine subsidiaries on the
transition to joint control, resulting in a loss on deconsolidation of $2.3 million and an impairment of $2.2
million on remaining interest.
Adjusting for interest expense, depreciation, share of loss of associates and other non-recurring items,
net income for the year ending December 31, 2013, would be:

Reported net loss
Interest expense and income taxes
Depreciation, depletion and accretion
Share of loss of associates
Write-down of SC 54A
Write-off of New Britain expenditures
Loss on deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries
Impairment loss on remaining interest in Philippine subsidiaries
Net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and accretion, share
of loss of associates and other items

TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 22 of 51

Year Ended December 31, 2013
($ million)
(14.39)
(0.26)
8.54
1.99
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0.62
2.30
2.23
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Non-controlling interests
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TVI and its wholly-owned subsidiaries TVI
Limited and TG World; indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries TVI International Marketing Limited (“TVI
Marketing”) and TVI Minerals Processing Inc. The consolidated financial statements include TVI’s
interest in TVIRD, EDCO, nineteen inactive Philippine subsidiaries (eleven of which have been closed
during the fourth quarter of 2012), and interests in joint venture entities up to the date of the
deconsolidation on December 27, 2013 (the date at which PRHI gained control of TVIRD as a result of
the Transactions). Of the issued and outstanding shares of each of the inactive Philippine subsidiaries,
40% are owned by TVI Marketing and 60% are owned by TVIRD. TVIRD shares are owned 40% by TVI
Marketing with the remaining 60% owned by Philippine residents or companies prior to the
deconsolidation. Non-controlling interests in less than wholly-owned subsidiaries of TVI comprise the
interest held by the Philippine residents or companies and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and separately from TVI’s equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
TVIRD has two classes of common shares - Class A and Class B. The Class A shares is entitled to a
cumulative preferred dividend equivalent to 20% of their investment per annum. Class B shares, largely
owned by TVI Marketing, that is indirectly wholly owned by TVI, is entitled to any remaining profits after
allocating the share of Class A shares. The non-controlling interests prior to the deconsolidation were
made up of Class A shares and partly of Class B shares held by the Philippine residents or companies
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVIRD has declared and paid the cumulative preferred cash
dividend to Class A shareholders in the amount of $191,935 (December 31, 2012 - $141,396 for the
period from July 2010 to December 2012). TVIRD also declared and issued a stock dividend of 7,500,000
Class B shares valued at par, for holders of record of Class B shares as of February 25, 2013. In 2012,
TVIRD issued a stock dividend of 803,828 Class B shares for holders of record of Class B shares as of
November 27, 2012, with an excess of par credited to share premium amounting to $24,281,980 in
TVIRD’s separate financial statements.
As of December 31, 2013, the non-controlling interests related to the Philippine subsidiaries were
derecognized as a result of the deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries (reference note 32 of the
financial statements of TVI for the year ended December 31, 2013).
The movement in the non-controlling interests is as follows:
2013
Balance beginning of year
Additional capital contribution
Share in net loss
Share in other comprehensive loss
Cash dividend
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Balance end of period

$

2012

1,007,887
64,583
(32,857)
(86,017)
(191,935)
(761,661)
-

$

$

$

1,378,510
26,860
(256,086)
(141,397)
1,007,887

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION
2013
Net Revenues
Mining
Other revenues

$
$
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$
$

2011

77,077,753
376,408
77,454,161

$
$

83,033,851
290,335
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2013
Net income (loss) from attributable to
shareholders of the Company :
Mining
Exploration
Corporate

$

(34,043)
(1,892,994)
(12,464,367)
(14,391,404)

$

$

(0.023)
(0.023)

$

27,966,610

$
Net income (loss) per share attributable to
shareholders of the Company:
Basic
Diluted
Total Assets

2012

2011

11,083,613
(407,698)
(5,329,349)
5,346,566

$

$

0.009
0.009

$

0.005
0.005

$

66,673,265

$

68,985,841

$

$

9,543,279
(2,772,723)
(3,856,052)
2,914,504

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVI had a consolidated net loss of $14.4 million compared to
$5.3 million net income in 2012. The mining segment of TVI produced a net loss of $0.03 million during
the year ended December 31, 2013, which is less than the $11.1 million net income realized in 2012.
Adding back the non-cash depreciation, depletion and accretion expense of $8.5 million, the mining
segment produced a net income before depreciation, depletion and accretion expense of $8.5 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the mining segment generated net revenues of $46.9 million,
made up of five copper concentrate shipments and one zinc shipment, as compared to $77.1 million net
revenue realized during 2012, representing seven completed shipments of copper concentrate and three
shipments of zinc concentrate.
The average copper price realized during the year ended December 31, 2013 was US$3.32, which is 8%
lower compared to the average copper price of US$3.60 realized during 2012. Gold and silver prices
through the year have also decreased significantly, by 20% and 30%, respectively.
Net revenues are net of treatment, refining and penalties from the buyer based on the revised treatment
and refining rates and freight charges, effective from Q2 2011 as negotiated and agreed with the metal
off-take partner, taking into consideration the quality of the concentrates and the change in the destination
of the copper concentrate shipments.
TVI also generated other revenue through 2013 of $1.2 million, made up of EDCO’s revenue from drilling
and other services to third party customers, as compared to $0.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2012.
Mining, milling and other expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 were $38.2 million, lower than
the $48.6 million incurred during 2012, primarily due to lower volumes of concentrates shipped
(18,211,543 Cu lb eq as compared to 27,992,885 Cu lb eq in 2012) as well as a reduction in contracted
services resulting from less blasting and a lower strip ratio, and less costs associated with diesel and the
non-use of cyanide. Mining of the sulphide deposit was also completed by year end. Mining, milling and
other expenses do not include treatment, refining and penalties from the buyer as these costs are netted
against revenues, as noted previously.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, exploration expenses were $0.2 million, which were lower
compared to the $2.9 million recognized in 2012. Balabag expenses were capitalized in full during 2013.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, $4.0 million of expenditures related to Balabag have been
capitalized while cumulative capitalized costs amounted to $15.2 million as at December 31, 2013.
Exploration activities were also limited through the period as a result of the ongoing moratorium with
respect to the issue of permits and the inability to perform works (reference Regulatory Risk: Political and
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Regulatory Environment in the Philippines, as discussed later in this Management Discussion &
Analysis).
Depreciation, depletion and accretion expense for the year ended December 31, 2013, amounted to
approximately $8.5 million, which is lower than the $11.8 million recorded in 2012. The lower
depreciation, depletion and accretion is due to the revision in the estimated residual value of plant and
equipment starting April 2012, as well as an update in the ore reserve balance, which are all factors in
computing depreciation charges.
Total general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2012 decreased from
$13.7 million to $7.8 million in 2013. The higher expense in 2012 was due to professional fees and other
expenses related to the acquisition of investments and joint venture arrangements with Foyson and
Mindoro, as well as legal, media campaign and administrative expenses on legal cases related to the
Balabag project. The expenses in 2013 include consulting and success fees related to the investment and
financing transactions with PRHI, but were offset by a $3 million curtailment gain related to a Q4 2013
pension adjustment that resulted from the retrenchment of a significant number of employees of TVIRD,
as the processing ore at the Canatuan suphide plant came to a close.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVI recognized a $2.0 million loss on share from its
investments in Foyson and Mindoro, representing its proportionate share of net losses recognized directly
in the accounting records of Foyson and Mindoro, in which TVI currently holds a 15.51% and 14.4%
interest, respectively. The share of loss relates primarily to the impairment of investments held directly by
Mindoro.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVI also realized an additional gain of $1.6 million largely
from the NSR payments of Rapu Rapu. This was offset by an impairment loss of $2.7 million due to the
write-down of its investments in the joint venture projects of SC 54A and New Britain and the $2.0 million
share in net losses of Foyson and Mindoro, as referred to earlier. The deconsolidation of the Philippine
subsidiaries on the transition to joint control resulted in a loss on deconsolidation of $2.3 million and an
impairment of $2.2 million on remaining interest.
TVIRD also had foreign exchange loss of $0.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2013, as
compared to the gain of $2.7 million in 2012, arising from the settlement of intercompany loans through
the year that had been provided at varying historical rates in years prior.
CONSOLIDATED CASH POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Position
2013
Operating cash flow from operations
Change in working capital

$

Operating cash flow before change in working capital
Net expenditures on property and equipment
Free cash flow
Common shares outstanding
Free cash flow per share
(1)

3,885,879
(5,039,246)

$

(1,153,367)
(5,239,297)
(6,392,664)

$

655,470,372
(0.010)

2012
$

14,681,970
(572,494)

$

14,109,476
(9,653,834)
4,455,642

$

622,137,039
0.007

Free cash flow is a non-IFRS measure. Please see definitions in the “Non-IFRS Measures” section.

The free cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2013 was negative as a result of changes in working
capital related to the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries, as well as factors which affected the
generation of cash revenues in the year, including a significant decline in the prices of copper, gold and
silver, in particular, and a decrease in the volume of metals produced, and therefore shipped, by TVIRD

TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 25 of 51

December 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

as a result of declining ore grades. At December 31, 2013, TVI held $2.4 million in cash compared to
$16.0 million at the end of 2012.
Loans Payable
As at December 31, 2013, there were no outstanding short-term debts.
(a) Letter of Credit Facilities
TVI nor TVIRD have any outstanding letters of credit as at December 31, 2013.
(b) Short Term Debt Facilities
TVIRD received short-term loans from a major Philippine bank. These loans were secured by the metal
off-take agreement for the sale of copper concentrates. As at December 31, 2012, the total principal and
interest outstanding was US$8,758,102 ($8,685,151) which was fully paid as at December 31, 2013.
In January 2011, TVIRD received two loans from another major Philippine bank in the amount of US$5
million each. Each of the loans bore an interest rate of 1.80% and was payable in eight equal quarterly
installments of USD$625,000. At December 31, 2012, the total principal and interest outstanding was
US$1,254,602 ($1,244,152) which was fully paid as at December 31, 2013.
On March 12, 2013, TVIRD has signed a nonbinding term sheet with a Philippine bank for a US$20
million term loan facility for its Balabag Gold/Silver project. The purpose of the Facility is to support the
development of the proposed Balabag mine by providing TVIRD with additional working capital funding
for construction and commissioning activities and to support mining and processing activities. The term of
the facility is three years and provides for a one year grace period before repayments are to commence,
spread equally over eight quarterly periods, beginning at the end of the 5th quarter. The interest rate of
the facility is to be set at 90-day Libor plus 250 basis points (approximately 3%), to be fixed on a quarterly
basis. The facility is accompanied also by an additional US$3 million Letter of Credit available to TVIRD
for a 180 day period at the prevailing market rate. As at December 31, 2013, there has been no
drawdown against this available facility.
Capital Requirements
TVI expects to incur capital expenditures for the development of its properties and potential projects,
among others.
TVI’s combined capital expenditure program for its mining and petroleum and natural gas properties
continues has been tightly controlled through 2013 but was significantly reduced due to delays in
obtaining required permits for certain projects, caution among investors to provide project financing to the
mining industry given the decline through the year in metal prices and the impact this decline has had
upon internal cash available for investment. TVI continues to expect to fund its capital expenditure
programs by cash provided through operating activities and project financing.

RISK FACTORS
There are certain risks involved in TVI’s operations, some of which are beyond its control. Additional risks
and uncertainties not presently known, or not expressed or implied below, or that are presently deemed
immaterial, could also have an impact to the TVI’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Statements made in this MD&A regarding risk factors are based upon the opinions of management of TVI
as at the effective date of such statements and, in certain cases, information received from or
disseminated by third parties. Although TVI believes that the risk factors below are based upon

TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 26 of 51

December 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

reasonable assumptions and that information received from or disseminated by third parties is reliable, it
can give no assurance that those expectations will prove to have been correct.
Risk Management
TVI’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and price risk),
interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. TVI’s overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on TVI’s financial
performance. The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
TVI’s risk management framework.
(a) Currency risk
TVI faces currency risks mainly due to the substantial cross-border element of its operations. TVI has
offices in Canada (Canadian dollar) and in the Republic of the Philippines (peso). TVIRD sells its mineral
deposits at prevailing market prices in the US dollar currency. In addition, TVI and its affiliates borrow
money and settle loans in the US dollar currency. Upon receipt, TVI and its affiliates convert these funds
into the functional currencies of individual entities to finance operational and administrative expenses.
There are no forward sales and TVI does not engage in currency hedging activities.
TVI minimizes risks by carefully planning the timing of settlement of foreign currency denominated
balances and closely monitoring changes in foreign exchange rates.
(b) Price risk
TVI is exposed to commodity price risk from the production and sale of mineral deposits, which are sold at
prevailing market prices. There are no forward sales contracts and TVI does not engage in price hedging
activities.
(c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. As TVI has no significant interest-bearing assets, TVI’s
income and operating cash flows are independent of changes in market interest rates. TVI has exposure
to fair value interest rate risk since its term facilities and note receivable have fixed interest terms,
regardless of changes in market conditions. TVI reviews its exposure to interest rate risk through regular
monitoring of actual interests with market interest rates.
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that TVI will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. TVI’s
approach is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed circumstances. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, TVI maintains
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines with major vendors. TVI expects to be able to meet
its current financial obligations with its current source of funds but is sensitive to price volatility, as
described further in this Risk Factors section. The decrease through 2013 in the price of copper, gold
and silver has impacted both internal cash flow and caused delays in the ability to close project financing
given the general concern of the investment community. Further declines in metal prices or their
continuing at their current low levels for an extended period may impact the liquidity of TVI.
As at December 31, 2013 TVI has $9.5 million working capital surplus, as compared to the working
capital surplus of $13.7 million as at December 31, 2012 as a result of the deconsolidation of some
Philippine subsidiaries. TVI cash balances also do not include cash held in escrow at December 31,
2013, in relation to the PRHI Transactions, which for TVI directly equate to US$7.1 million.
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(e) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises principally from TVI’s cash and cash equivalent, restricted cash,
accounts receivable and note receivable. TVI manages credit risk associated with cash by maintaining its
cash and investments in accounts with highly reputable banks, which were approved by the Board of
Directors.
The receivable from concentrate sales has to date been focused upon one customer and any material
failure of that customer to fulfill its obligation under the off-take agreement had risk to significantly impair
the ability of TVI to meet its existing and future obligations. Such receivable is on the terms operating in
the commodity industry, which usually require settlement not exceeding one year of the shipment date.
The customer has no history of default and TVI did not provide allowance for impairment as these
receivables are considered collectible. As noted previously, on January 20, 2014, TVIRD announced that
it has stopped milling operations at its Canatuan mine after having exhausted its remaining stockpile,
pending the results of assessing various mine life extension and expansion opportunities, and has made
one more copper concentrate shipment and one zinc concentrate shipment in January 2014. As TVI and
its affiliates bring on new projects, such as the Agata DSO and Balabag, this may include new customers
with new terms of settlement.
The receivable for the settlement of royalty claims is based on the memorandum of agreement and other
settlement statements which confirm the amount payable by the debtor. TVIRD has already received the
majority of the settlement amount and no receivable is outstanding as at December 31, 2013.
Petroleum Production Tax Credits (“PPTC”) are due from the State of Alaska and the final application has
been submitted following the sale of Alaskan assets. TVI views amounts in accounts receivable as
current in nature but subject yet to finalization of an audit as is being performed by the State of Alaska.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable and notes receivable, at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 represent TVI’s maximum credit exposure.
TVI only deals with parties who have appropriate credit history and sufficient security to mitigate credit
risk. For other financial assets, TVI adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparts.
Risk on Investments
In its investments in Foyson and Mindoro, TVI is exposed to risk that it may not realize the expected
returns from these investments. Projected cash flows from these investments may change depending on
the outcome of the projects. Market value of the shares may decline, affecting the valuation of the
investments; and further losses may be incurred by Foyson or Mindoro that would require write-down in
the value of these investments.
Open Pit Mining Ban
On November 6, 2011, the Provincial Board of the Province of Zamboanga del Norte passed an
Ordinance to protect and conserve the integrity of the land and water resources in the province. This
Ordinance gave sweeping new powers to the Provincial Governor to regulate the mining application
process. It empowered non-governmental organizations to make citizens' arrests and it imposed a ban on
open pit mining (but not on any other form of mining). Existing open pit operations, such as the Canatuan
mine, were given one year to operate to November 2012 and would then be required to begin the closure
and rehabilitation process.
In response to the Ordinance, TVIRD filed a series of legal actions in the Dipolog, Zamboanga del Norte
Regional Trial Court to prevent the implementation of the Ordinance. On January 6, 2012, TVIRD was
granted a preliminary injunction against the Ordinance. The Court Order stops the implementation of the
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Ordinance and allows TVIRD to continue its operations without legal impediment while the main case (the
legality of the Ordinance) is being litigated in the Court.
TVIRD's external legal counsel believes that the powers assumed by the province and Provincial
Governor under the Ordinance are in direct contravention of Philippine laws passed by the National
Congress, including the Philippine Mining Act of 1995 and the Local Government Code of 1991, and are
therefore unconstitutional.
The Regional Trial Court (“RTC”) denied a Motion for Reconsideration filed by the Provincial Board and
the Province to aside the preliminary injunction on the implementation of the Ordinance. The Provincial
Board and the Province appealed the decision of the RTC with the Court of Appeals, which also denied
the appeal.
The next (substantive) hearings on the legal merits of the Ordinance, scheduled to begin in March, 2014,
will be lengthy and exhaustive. TVIRD counsel remains confident that there is sufficient legal basis to
nullify the ordinance; however, there is still a risk that the Courts will not do so. Nonetheless, the
preliminary injunction, which allows TVIRD to operate until declared otherwise as a result of the hearings,
remains in force.
Government Regulation and Potential Changes in Philippine Law
Mining operations and exploration activities are subject to governmental laws and regulations. TVIRD
has obtained, or is in the process of obtaining and/or renewing all authorizations currently required to
conduct its activities. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of
mining companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have an adverse impact on TVIRD.
Obtaining the required permits from applicable regulatory agencies and complying with laws and
regulations may be more onerous, time consuming, and more costly than originally anticipated by TVIRD.
Regulatory Risk
Political and Regulatory Environment in the Philippines
Since the election of the Aquino Administration in 2010 the policy environment for the mining industry has
been mostly negative, in Management’s view. In 2010 the government implemented a policy to "cleanse"
non-performing tenements and issued denials for a large percentage of the country's tenement
applications, including three held by TVIRD. (TVIRD appealed the three denials through Motions for
Reconsideration, and these appeals are still under consideration.) At the same time the Administration
imposed a moratorium on the granting of new tenement applications, initially until the "cleansing" process
had been completed and subsequently until a comprehensive mining policy review had been concluded
and a new mining policy introduced.
On July 9, 2012, The Philippine Government finally introduced a new mining policy in the form of a
Presidential Executive Order (Executive Order #79, or “EO 79”)), which provided direction to agencies of
the Administration to carry out certain directives and signaled the Government's intention to seek
legislation “rationalizing existing revenue sharing schemes and mechanisms”. During the intervening
period no new permits were issued and industry operated in an environment of extreme uncertainty.
Readers are referred to previous MD&A documents for a detailed analysis of EO 79 and the
Implementing Rules and Regulations (“IRR”) issued subsequently to execute the Executive Order.
The key elements of the policy were that (a) no new mining projects would be allowed until new fiscal
legislation had been passed by Congress; (b) the Government was to cause Local Government Units
(“LGU”) to rescind and/or not pass legislation contravening the Mining Act; (c) companies would be
issued new exploration permits on the condition that they be subject to the fiscal terms passed
subsequently by Congress; and (d) there would be a definitive map published of "No Go" areas that would
be off limits to minerals exploration and development.
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The government also committed to honour existing contracts such as those held by TVIRD, and in fact
has approved the ECC for the Balabag project. The MGB is also working diligently with TVIRD to
progress TVIRD’s applications for Declaration(s) of Mining Project Feasibility for the Balabag and Agata
projects.
Between the date of the Executive Order (July, 2012) and the time of writing, the following developments
can be noted:


The Administration has created a Cabinet-level Minerals Industry Coordinating Council (“MICC”)
to oversee policy formulation and the administration of minerals issues.



Through its member departments the MICC conducted a review of fiscal terms and has reportedly
drafted a new bill, which is ready for presentation to the President, who may then manage the
process of its submission to Congress. Statements made to the media by the Secretary of Trade
and Industry suggest that the draft – if not amended by the President – would propose a single
regime for all mining projects, consisting of a 10% gross royalty or 50% tax on net operating
revenue, whichever is greater, plus a windfall tax or surcharge during periods of high prices.
TVIRD is of the view that if this draft were to be passed into law it would be considered by
international industry to be economically discouraging for new projects. It should be noted,
however, that the process by which such bills are passed into law by Congress is normally a
lengthy one.



The Secretary of Trade and Industry has also stated to the media that the government is
considering the creation of Mining Zones to administer all mines, under an Authority similar to the
highly regarded Philippine Economic Zone Authority within his department. This Authority would
assume the responsibility of collecting tax revenues and also distributing the shares of LGUs and
Indigenous Peoples to them in a timely fashion. TVIRD is of the view that this would be a positive
step.



The Philippines has been accepted as a candidate country by the Extractive Industries
Transparency Initiative (“EITI”) and much progress has been made by government, industry and
civil society representatives working together to advance the preparation of the country's first
report, due to be published by the end of 2014.



However, no progress has been made in causing the LGUs to rescind the various anti-mining
Ordinances in effect around the country. To the contrary, the House of Representatives has
passed a Bill that would make the Province of Nueva Vizcaya, in Luzon Island, off limits to
mining. The Bill still has to be debated and approved by the Senate before becoming law.



The Secretary of Finance has recently stated that the new "No Go" map will be finalized and
implemented by the end of 2014. An early draft of the map seen by industry representatives
suggests that the increase in areas officially off limits to minerals exploration and development
may be extensive.

The foregoing information regarding selected aspects of EO 79 and the corresponding IRRs as well as
subsequent developments have been included in this MD&A to provide an update for readers who would
otherwise be unaware of developments in the Philippines related to the mining industry. That information
is based upon the text of EO 79 and the corresponding IRRs and statements made by various
Government officials in the Philippines in relation to that order and mining related policies. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance upon the information respecting EO 79 and the corresponding IRRs
set out above, as there can be no assurances, at this time, with respect to the timing of implementation of
new legislation and regulations or the ultimate effect that such legislation and regulations may have upon
companies, such as TVIRD, operating in the Philippines mining sector.
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Political and Regulatory Risks in the Philippines
Emerging from this policy environment there are certain risks faced by TVI’s Philippine affiliate, TVIRD,
including but not limited to:


The government has stated that the new fiscal regime will increase the level of taxation for all new
projects in the Philippines but that it will only be applied prospectively; i.e. to new projects. Existing
projects will be given the option of adopting the new fiscal regime. The Balabag Project is an
existing project in advanced stages of approval, and management believes it should be governed
by the existing fiscal regime. However, there is a risk that the new fiscal regime may be applied to
the Balabag Project.



While the government has stated that Motions for Reconsideration will be processed for APSAs
and Applications for Financial and Technical Assistance Agreements (“AFTAs”), including TVIRD’s
AFTA 13, AFTA 14 and APSA 39 there is a risk that the Free Prior Informed Consent (“FPIC”)
process required for these tenements may drag out and/or not be secured.



Government continues to discuss the requirement for compulsory and mandatory insurance
coverage for the affected environs and communities, as well as perpetual liability for the
maintenance and rehabilitation of post mining sites (i.e., setting up trust funds or heritage funds
with specified uses).



In implementing a commitment to identify additional “no-go” areas for mining, government may
include areas of interest to TVI and TVIRD in areas of current projects or those under
negotiation/acquisition.



Several draft, independent member's bills, referred to as "Alternative Mining Acts" have been
presented for discussion in the Philippine House of Representatives. While these bills do not
currently have the support of the Administration, in the event that they were to be passed into law
by Congress, or have significant elements of them adopted by the Administration, they would
further impair the fiscal regime and regulatory framework under which the mining industry operates
in the country. The House Environment and Natural Resources Committee has stated it will review
these bills in 2014. However, it is noteworthy that an additional Alternative Mining Bill, favourable
to industry, has also been tabled in the Committee for consideration alongside the others.



A petition for Writ of Kalikasan (“Writ of Nature”) has been filed with the Supreme Court of the
Philippines by third parties seeking cancellation of all mining tenement applications in Region IX
(Zamboanga Peninsula) and amendment of the Implementing Rules and Regulations to the
Philippine Mining Act of 1995. TVIRD is not named as a respondent to the aforesaid petition, but a
risk exists that it may be impleaded into the case, and/or it may be impacted should an adverse
ruling issue from the court. The Supreme Court has remanded the case to the Court of Appeals in
Cagayan de Oro. TVIRD legal counsel is monitoring the case. There have been no recent
developments in this case.



The Supreme Court has heard arguments before it from Petitioners in the case of Baraquel vs.
DENR Secretary, Sagittarius Mining Inc., Oceana Gold Corporation and TVIRD, which seeks to
challenge the constitutionality of certain sections of the Mining Act of 1995 and in effect to revisit
the Court’s La Bugal judgment that upheld its constitutionality. TVIRD is a respondent in regard to
an application for a Financial and Technical Assistance Agreement (“FTAA”), which has
subsequently been denied but which denial TVIRD has appealed. Three sessions of oral argument
have taken place before the Court and all parties to the case, as well as the Chamber of Mines of
the Philippines, have provided final written submissions to the Court. At the time of writing the
Court continues to deliberate the case in camera. A risk exists that the Supreme Court could
choose not to reject the petition and make a new ruling on the constitutionality of key provisions in
the Mining Act. In that event, there is a risk that the mining agreements cited in the case would be
ruled null and void and TVIRD’s appeal of the denial would be rejected; or that all mining
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agreements in the country would be ruled null and void and their taxation agreements would have
to be renegotiated (which would affect TVIRD along with all other tenement holders).
Social and Economic Environment
TVI’s operations and investments may be adversely affected if the political and economic environment of
the Philippines becomes unstable.
Although TVIRD has obtained a title opinion with respect to its Philippine properties, there is no guarantee
that title to such mining rights will not be challenged or impugned. As with most projects of this nature,
indigenous peoples’ rights may be claimed on properties for which TVIRD currently holds title.
In early September 2013, a group of armed fighters of the Moro National Liberation Front (“MNLF”)
occupied the centre of Zamboanga City and declared “independence” from the Republic. The leadership
of the MNLF, who had previously signed a peace agreement with the Philippine government resulting in
the creation of the Autonomous Region of Muslim Mindanao in the 1990s, claimed that the Administration
had unfairly left them out of the current peace agreement being negotiated with another Muslim
organization, the Moro Islamic Liberation Front (“MILF”). Violent fighting erupted – lasting for several
weeks – as the military and police killed or dispersed all the rebels. The MNLF fighters took hundreds of
civilian hostages during their occupation, and unfortunately a number of civilians were killed in the
crossfire.
The fighting did not threaten TVIRD’s operations in any way, other than presenting a logistical
inconvenience in that the company had to switch its staging operations, normally carried out through
Zamboanga City, to Dipolog City.
The MNLF population areas and political strongholds are not close to any of the company’s operating
areas, especially the Balabag and Agata projects, with the exception of some small MNLF communities in
the vicinity of Santa Maria Port. Relations with these communities are strong, however, because of a
long history of community development projects and employment.
Accordingly TVIRD does not see any present or future security threat being directed at the company by
the MNLF groups. Nevertheless the company will continue high levels of vigilance in security
management.
However, it is known that the MNLF leadership and some of the membership continue to feel left out of
the peace process; and the wounds from the recent violence will take time to heal. There is a risk that
isolated MNLF activists may elect to conduct random acts of violence against government facilities, or
may attempt kidnapping activities (heretofore the domain of other groups further south in the Sulu
islands). While TVIRD management believes this risk is small, and that any actions will not be in any
TVIRD area of operations, it will continue to conduct its operations with the highest level of security
planning and practices. In the event of a random act there is a risk that the company’s operations could
inadvertently be affected in some way.
Balabag
As TVIRD continues to work in the pre-development phase of the Balabag Epithermal Gold-Silver Project
and towards a development decision, there are risks that could delay pre-development work and,
ultimately, project implementation.
The government has stated that approval processes for the advancement of existing contracts such as
the Balabag MPSA may now proceed, and has granted the project’s application for an ECC, which is a
critical step forward toward project implementation. Nevertheless there is a risk the government may not
act in a timely manner with respect to approval of its DMPF, which has been filed and which is in process.
The DMPF permit is required before construction and production may commence.
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While TVIRD has assumed and maintained control of the premises after the eviction of the illegal miners
in late 2012, there is a risk that illegal miners could make efforts to return, or to obstruct development
operations in some way, and that government may not act in a sufficiently timely way to prevent an
impact on the project's timetable.
Replacement of Depleted Reserves Risk
TVI must continually replace reserves depleted by production to maintain production levels over the long
term. Reserves can be replaced by expanding known ore bodies, locating new deposits or making
acquisitions. Exploration is highly speculative in nature (see "Future Exploration and Development
Activities may not be Successful" below). TVI's exploration projects involve many risks and may be
unsuccessful. Once a site with mineralization is discovered, it may take several years from the initial
phases of drilling until production is possible, during which time the economic feasibility of production may
change. Substantial expenditures are required to establish proven and probable reserves and to construct
mining and processing facilities. As a result, there is no assurance that current or future exploration
programs will be successful. There is a risk that depletion of reserves will not be offset by discoveries or
acquisitions. The mineral base of TVI may decline if reserves are mined without adequate replacement.
Reserve and resource figures are estimates and no assurances can be given that the indicated levels of
precious or base metals will be produced or that TVI will receive the price assumed in determining its
reserves. These estimates are expressions of judgment based on knowledge, mining experience,
analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Valid estimates made at a given time may significantly
change when new information becomes available. While TVI believes that the reserve and resource
estimates included are well established and reflect management's best estimates, by their nature, reserve
and resource estimates are imprecise and depend, to a certain extent, upon analysis of drilling results
and statistical inferences that may ultimately prove unreliable. Furthermore, fluctuations in the market
price, as well as increased capital or production costs or reduced recovery rates may render TVI’s
reserves uneconomic and may ultimately result in a reduction of reserves.
The extent to which resources may ultimately be reclassified as proven or probable reserves is
dependent upon the demonstration of their profitable recovery. The evaluation of reserves or resources
is always influenced by economic and technological factors, which may change over time. No assurances
can be given that any resource estimate will ultimately be reclassified as proven or probable reserves.
If TVI’s reserve or resource figures are inaccurate or are reduced in the future, this could have an adverse
impact on TVI’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition.
Ore grade decline risk
As expected over the life of the mine, the copper and zinc feed grade continued to decline as TVIRD
exhausted its mine reserves. TVIRD compensated for this decline in grade by improving on tonnage,
recoveries, and running time. The sulphide pit has finally been mined out in January 31, 2014.
Condemnation drilling within and near the mine has commenced to evaluate mine life extension
opportunities.
Future Exploration and Development Activities may not be Successful
Exploration for and development of precious and base metal properties involve significant financial risks
that even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the
discovery of minerals or metals may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are
ultimately developed into producing mines. Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by
drilling, constructing mining and processing facilities at a site, connecting to a reliable infrastructure,
developing metallurgical processes and extracting the minerals or metals. TVI cannot ensure that its
current exploration and development programs will result in profitable commercial mining operations or
replacement of current production at existing mining operations with new reserves. Also, substantial
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expenses may be incurred on exploration projects that are subsequently abandoned due to poor
exploration results or the inability to define reserves that can be mined economically.
The economic feasibility of development projects is based upon many factors, including but not limited to
the accuracy of reserve/resource estimates; metallurgical recoveries; capital and operating costs;
government regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting,
environmental protection; and market prices. Development projects are also subject to the successful
completion of feasibility studies, issuance of necessary governmental permits and availability of adequate
financing. Development projects have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future cash
flow. Estimates of proven and probable reserves and cash operating costs are, to a large extent, based
upon detailed geological and engineering analysis. TVI also conducts feasibility studies that derive
estimates of capital and operating costs based upon many factors, including anticipated tonnage and
grades of minerals or metals to be mined and processed; ground and mining conditions; expected
recovery rates; and anticipated social, environmental and regulatory compliance costs.
It is possible that actual costs and economic returns of current and new mining operations may differ
materially from TVI’s best estimates. It is not unusual for new mining operations to experience
unexpected problems during the start-up phase and to require more capital than anticipated or
experience higher operating costs. These uncertainties could have an adverse impact on TVI’s future
cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition.
Funding and Liquidity
Future development and exploration depends the ability of TVI and its affiliates to obtain funding through
project and mining cash flows, joint ventures, debt financing, equity financing and other means. Failure to
obtain additional funding when needed or on terms acceptable or favourable to TVI or its affiliates may
cause TVI or its affiliates to postpone its exploration and development plans, forfeit rights in some or all of
its properties, or reduce or terminate some or all of its operations. This could have a material adverse
effect on TVI.
The ability to make scheduled payments or to refinance debt obligations depends on the financial
condition and operating performance of TVI, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive
conditions and to certain financial, business and other factors beyond its control. Past loans have been
secured by the off-take agreement with the customer in case TVI became unable to make scheduled
payments or otherwise commits an event of default, such as bankruptcy. As at December 31, 2013, TVI
has fully repaid all such loans.
Current financial markets remain volatile due to uncertainties in the global economy. Commodity markets
have seen substantial volatility and there were delays in obtaining required permits for certain projects.
The volatility and uncertainty in the current markets could lead to difficulties in raising funds. There can be
no assurance that the amount will be adequate for future financial obligations and internal cash available
for investments of TVI.
Non-Controlling Interests
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TVI and its wholly-owned subsidiaries TG
World, TVI Limited, TVI International Marketing Limited and TVI Minerals Processing Inc., including its
remaining interest in TVIRD and eight inactive Philippine subsidiaries.
Of the issued and outstanding shares of each of the inactive eight Philippine subsidiaries, 30.66% are
indirectly owned by TVI Marketing. TVIRD shares are owned 30.66% by TVI Marketing with the 68.42%
owned by PRHI as a result of corporate restructuring at the end of 2013 arising from the financing
transaction concluded with PRHI. Non-controlling interests in less than wholly-owned subsidiaries of TVI
comprise the interest held by the Philippine residents or companies and is presented separately in the

TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 34 of 51

December 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position,
separately from TVI’s equity, prior to the deconsolidation.
In July 2010, the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines approved the application of
TVIRD to restructure its share of stock from one class to two classes of common shares – Class A and
Class B. The restructuring retained the percentage of ownership and voting interests and did not affect
the factors requiring the consolidation of the entity. The Class A shares, held by the Philippine residents
or companies, are entitled to a cumulative preferred dividend equal to 20% of their investment per annum
and retain their ownership and voting rights. All outstanding Class A shares have been repurchased by
TVIRD as at the Second Close of the PRHI transaction, January 10, 2014.
Although there has been no official pronouncement with respect to changes to the foreign ownership rule,
the restructuring of the ownership of TVIRD as noted above resulted in the inability on the part of TVI to
account for TVIRD and the inactive Philippine subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and an inability to fully
direct the financial and operating policies of these companies.
Price Volatility
Even if TVI discovers commercial quantities of mineral resources, there is no assurance that a profitable
market will exist for the sale of such resources. Factors beyond the control of TVI may affect the
marketability of any minerals discovered. There are several factors that may impact the volatility of metal
prices including, but not limited to: international economic and political trends; global weather or
geological disruptions; expectations of inflation; global and regional demand and consumption patterns;
currency exchange fluctuations; speculative activities; and increased production due to improved mining
and production methods.
Production and Cost Estimates may be Inaccurate
TVI prepares estimates of future production and future production costs for particular operations. No
assurance can be given that production and cost estimates will be achieved. These production and cost
estimates are based on, among other things, the following factors: the accuracy of reserve estimates; the
accuracy of assumptions regarding ground conditions and physical characteristics of ores, such as
hardness and presence or absence of particular metallurgical characteristics; equipment and mechanical
availability; labour availability; access to the mine; facilities and infrastructure; sufficient materials and
supplies on hand; and the accuracy of estimated rates and costs of mining and processing, including the
cost of human and physical resources required to carry out TVI’s activities.
Failure to achieve production or cost estimates, or increases in costs, could have an adverse impact on
TVI’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. Actual production and
costs may vary from estimates for a variety of reasons, including actual precious or base metals mined
varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics; short-term
operating factors relating to the mineral reserves, such as the need for sequential development of ore
bodies and the processing of new or different grades; risks and hazards associated with mining; natural
phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes, pit wall failures and cave-ins;
and unexpected labour shortages. Costs of production may also be affected by a variety of factors,
including: changing waste-to-ore ratios, ore grade metallurgy, labour costs, costs of supplies and services
(such as fuel and power), general inflationary pressures and currency exchange rates. Failure to achieve
production estimates could have an adverse impact on TVI’s future cash flows, earnings, results of
operations and financial condition.
Property Competition
There are large and well established mining companies with technical and financial resources in the
worldwide market. Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral acquisition opportunities
throughout the world. As a result, TVI may be unable to acquire the rights to exploit additional attractive
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mining properties on terms it considers acceptable. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that TVI will
acquire any interest in additional operations that would yield reserves or result in commercial mining
operations.
Environmental Hazards
The mining business is subject to a variety of risks such as ground fall, explosions and other accidents,
flooding, environmental hazards and the discharge of toxic chemicals. TVI may or may not be able to
insure against these hazards. This may result in destruction of mines and other facilities, damage to life
and property, environmental damage, delayed production, increased production and exploration costs,
and possible legal liability for any and all damages. Such liabilities may have a material adverse effect on
TVI’s financial position.

NON-IFRS MEASURES
Funds from operations is a measure that is not in accordance with IFRS. It represents cash generated
from operating activities before changes in working capital. Funds from operations should not be
considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, cash flow from operating activities. Management
believes that funds from operations is a useful supplemental measure to analyze TVI’s ability to generate
cash flow to fund capital investment and working capital requirements. Funds from operations may not
be comparable to similar measures used by other companies.
Free cash flow from operations is a measure that is not in accordance with IFRS. It represents cash
generated from operations, before changes in working capital, less cash expenditures on property and
equipment and cash expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets. Free cash flow should not be
considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, cash flow from operating activities. Management
believes that free cash flow is a useful measure that represents cash available for reinvestment or growth
after considering all the expenditures necessary to maintain TVI’s asset base.
Net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and accretion and other charges is a measure that is not
in accordance with IFRS. It represents income before non-cash expenses in depreciation, depletion and
accretion expense. This measure should not be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than,
net income. Management believes that net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and accretion and
one-time charges is a useful supplemental measure to analyze TVI’s ability to generate cash income.
This measure may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies.
Total cost, production cash cost, total cash cost, and total cash cost net of by-products are measures that
are not in accordance with IFRS. These represent the cash cost to produce a copper pound equivalent of
copper concentrate. These measures should not be considered alternatives to, or more meaningful than
the mining, milling and other expenses income statement line item. Management believes that production
cash cost, total cash cost, and total cash cost net of by-products are useful supplemental measures to
monitor operating costs and cash profitability. These measures may not be comparable to similar
measures used by other companies.
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the total cost, production cash cost, total cash cost and total
cash cost net of by-products:
Quarter Ended
June 30,
Sept. 30, 2013 Dec. 31, 2013
2013

March 31,
2013
Copper pound equivalent
Average quarterly rate (CDN$/US$)
Mining, milling and other expenses
Adjustment for change in inventory
Indirect administrative costs
Selling expenses
Drilling expenses
Production cash cost

5,338,328
0.99

4,938,238
0.97

4,710,124
0.95

20,296,324
0.96

6,047,901 $ 15,613,660 $
4,282,783
(4,944,385)
661,951
632,911
(1,000,431)
(1,640,504)
(236,190)
(132,432)
$ 9,756,014 $ 9,529,250 $

8,097,322 $ 8,447,867 $
1,651,267
2,330,992
638,085
485,518
(1,364,662)
(1,198,679)
(161,564)
(121,924)
8,860,448 $ 9,943,774 $

38,206,750
3,320,657
2,418,465
(5,204,276)
(652,110)
38,089,486

Treatment, refining and other charges
1,547,018
3,260,762
Selling expenses
1,000,431
1,640,504
Amortization expenses
2,209,151
2,100,442
Total cost
$ 14,512,614 $ 16,530,958 $

2,862,511
1,781,736
1,364,662
1,198,679
1,853,330
1,640,241
14,940,951 $ 14,564,430 $

9,452,027
5,204,276
7,803,164
60,548,953

Amortization expenses
Total cash cost

(2,209,151)
(2,100,442)
$ 12,303,463 $ 14,430,516 $

(1,853,330)
(1,640,241)
13,087,621 $ 12,924,189 $

(7,803,164)
52,745,789

Gross revenue - gold
Gross revenue - silver
Gross revenue - zinc
Total cash cost net of by-products

(2,822,659)
(4,440,352)
(1,588,509)
(2,456,153)
139,171
(7,534)
$ 8,031,466 $ 7,526,477 $

(2,926,229)
(2,388,626)
(12,577,866)
(1,554,263)
(1,264,653)
(6,863,578)
(3,609,326)
76,758
(3,400,931)
4,997,803 $
9,347,668 $ 29,903,414

(US$/lb):
Production cash cost
Total cost
Total cash cost
Total cash cost, net of by-products

$

5,309,634
0.96

Year to Date
Dec. 31, 2013

$

1.79 $
2.66
2.26
1.48

1.89 $
3.27
2.85
1.48

1.60 $
2.71
2.37
0.91

2.00 $
2.93
2.60
1.88

1.81
2.88
2.51
1.43

The following are the commodity prices used in the calculation of the copper pound equivalent:
12/31/2013
12/31/2013
Year-to-Date
Closing
Average
3.25
3.35
3.32
1,169.56
1,201.50
1,367.42
18.16
19.50
22.55
0.95
0.85

Q1 2013 3/31/2013 Q2 2013 6/30/2013 Q3 2013 9/30/2013 Q4 2013
Average Closing Average Closing Average Closing Average
Copper (US$/lb)
Gold (US$/oz)
Silver (US$/oz)
Zinc (US$/lb)

3.62
1,595.25
28.80
0.95

3.44
1,600.38
28.64
0.85

3.25
1,390.65
22.28
0.92

3.06
1,197.63
18.86
0.83

3.23
1,312.58
21.69
0.84

3.31
1331.13
21.68
0.85

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
TVI has adjusted all prior year figures in accordance with IFRS. Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new and revised IFRS
The consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of application as
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 except for the
adoption of the new standards and interpretations effective January 1, 2013:
Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’ (effective July 1, 2012) requires entities to group
items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (“OCI”) on the basis of whether they may be recycled to
profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendment affected presentation only and
had no impact on TVI’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’, (effective January 1, 2013) requires: to immediately
recognize all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a
net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability
(asset). Actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the actual return on plan assets
(‘remeasurements’) are recognized in the balance sheet immediately, with a charge or credit to other
comprehensive income and are not recycled subsequently. TVI has applied retrospectively the
amendment to IAS 19. The transition to IAS 19 had an impact on the net defined benefit plan obligations
due to the difference in accounting for interest on plan assets, unvested past service costs and actuarial
losses. Amendment to IAS 19 has been applied retrospectively from January 1, 2012.
The following is the summary of impact of transition to the revised IAS19:
December 31, 2012
Impact on consolidated statement of financial position:
Increase in pension obligation
Net impact on equity

$

1,306,428
(1,306,428)

January 1, 2012

$

897,763
(897,763)
2012

Impact on consolidated income statement:
Increase in actuarial movements in other comprehensive income

(408,665)

IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’ (effective January 1, 2013) builds on existing principles by
identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within
the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control
such that an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. To meet the definition of control in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, including: (a) an
investor has power over an investee; (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (c) the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The Company has applied IFRS 10 in accounting for the
deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries, the details of which are explained in Investing and
Financing Transactions.
IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective January 1, 2013) is a more realistic reflection of joint
arrangements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement rather than its legal form.
There are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where
the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. A joint operator
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the
investors have rights to the net assets of the arrangement; joint ventures are accounted for under the
equity method. Proportional consolidation of joint arrangements is no longer permitted. The application of
the Company’s accounting policy under IFRS 11 requires judgment in determining the classification of
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joint venture arrangements. An arrangement that is not structured through a separate vehicle will be a
joint operation.
Considering the contractual terms of the arrangements in petroleum and natural gas properties, the
absence of a separate vehicle and other facts and circumstances, it was determined that the Company
has the rights to assets and obligations relating to the arrangements. These have been classified as joint
operations where the Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, have been
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
As a result of the transaction with PRHI, the company deconsolidated the net assets of some Philippine
entities and accounted for the retained investment as investment in joint venture.
IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities’ (effective January 1, 2013) includes the disclosure
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special
purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.
IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ (effective January 1, 2013), aims to improve consistency and reduce
complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement
and disclosure requirements for use across IFRS. The requirements, which are largely aligned between
IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should
be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRS.
IFRIC 20 ‘Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine’ (effective January 1, 2013) clarifies
how an entity allocates the stripping (overburden waste removal) costs it incurs during the production
phase of a surface mine between inventory and other assets, as well as the period over which it should
amortize any capitalized stripping costs. The interpretation may require mining entities reporting under
IFRS to write off existing stripping assets to opening retained earnings if the assets cannot be attributed
to an identifiable component of an ore body. The standard is deemed to have no impact on the
consolidated financial statements. TVIRD shall consider applying this interpretation in the succeeding
periods, once the production phase of the Balabag gold project starts.
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective at January 1, 2013
Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’. on the recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial
assets. This amendment removed certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of cash generating units
which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. The Company shall continue to assess the
impact of this amendment until its adoption starting January 1, 2014.
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ replaces existing requirements included in IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’. The new standard requires financial assets to be classified at initial
recognition into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at
amortized cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
instrument. Under IFRS 9, fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the
income statement unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The adoption of IFRS 9 is expected to
have an impact on the Company’s financial assets. The Company shall continue to assess IFRS 9’s full
impact and will assess the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Management is responsible for applying judgement in preparing accounting estimates. Certain estimates
and related disclosures included within the consolidated financial statements are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to the consolidated financial statements and because of the possibility that
future events affecting them may differ significantly from management’s current judgements. The
following are significant accounting estimates:
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The recorded amortization expense is based on the estimated useful lives of long-lived assets and
estimated residual values of property and equipment. The estimated useful lives of property and
equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates
due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the
use of the assets. It is possible, however, that the future results of operations could be materially
affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any year would be affected by changes in these
circumstances.
The estimate that most significantly affects the measurement of amortization is quantities of proved
mineral reserves, which is used in the computation of amortization expense based on the unit-ofproduction method. The estimation of quantities of mineral reserves is complex, requiring significant
subjective assumptions that arise from the evaluation of geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data for a given orebody. This data could change over time as a result of numerous
factors, including new information gained from development activities, evolving production history and
a reassessment of the viability of production under different economic conditions.



The carrying values of property and equipment and mining assets are assessed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate, in management’s judgement, that the carrying value of
such assets may not be recoverable. In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired, TVI considers factors such as significant decline in commodity prices for an extended
period of time, significant downward revision of reserves, significant adverse changes in economic or
legal environment, evidence of obsolescence or physical damage, significant changes in the manner
the asset is used, among others. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.



TVI is required to review the carrying value of its exploration and evaluation properties for potential
impairment. Once impairment is indicated, the amount by which the carrying value of exploration and
evaluation properties exceeds their estimated recoverable value is charged to the statements of
comprehensive income. Evaluating for recoverability during the exploration and evaluation phase
requires judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits from future
exploitation, sale or otherwise are likely.



TVI applies the fair value method, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, when stock options
are granted to employees and directors under the share option plan. Management must estimate the
volatility, forfeiture rate, expected life and risk-free interest rates in using the model to assess the fair
value of stock options.



Asset retirement obligations arise from the acquisition, development, construction and normal
operation of mining property and equipment due to government controls and regulations that protect
the environment and public safety on the closure and reclamation of mining properties. The present
value of the asset retirement obligation is measured by discounting the expected cash flows using a
discount factor that reflects the risk-free rate of interest. Management must estimate the timing and
expected cash flows when retirement obligations are incurred, which are updated to reflect changes
in facts and circumstances.



The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on
an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost
(income) for pensions include among others, discount rates and salary increase rates. Any changes
in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.



Revenues are recorded at the time of sale based on forward prices for the expected date of the final
settlement. Variations from the initial estimate to the final testing are recorded as price adjustments
in the year the variations are finalized. As a result, the value of concentrate receivables may change
as the underlying commodity market prices vary. This component of the contract is an embedded
derivative, which is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in revenues.
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The State of Alaska process for remitting PPTC makes the timing of receipt and estimating the fair
value less certain.



Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. TVI recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the year in which such determination is made.



TVI has exercised judgment in evaluating the presence of control on investments with shareholding of
less than 50% and determined that it has the ability to govern the financial and operating policies of
the subsidiaries and obtain benefits from their activities. The investments have been classified as
subsidiaries.



Management has assessed the level of influence that TVI has on Foyson and Mindoro and
determined that it has significant influence even though the shareholding is below 20% because of
the board representation and contractual terms. Consequently, this investment has been classified as
an associate.



The Company has exercised judgment in evaluating the presence of control on investments with
shareholding of less than 50% when it has the ability to govern the financial and operating policies of
the subsidiaries and obtain benefits from their activities. Significant judgment is also required in
assessing the loss of control of the Philippine subsidiaries as well as in selecting the accounting
policy applied. Management has determined that the retained interest in the Philippine subsidiaries
was considered investment in joint venture. Management has also assessed that the results of
operations of the Philippine subsidiaries that were deconsolidated, shall not be presented as
discontinued operations, as the operations contributed to the joint venture did not constitute a
separate component.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
TVI does not have any off balance sheet arrangements.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
All related party transactions are approved by the independent directors of the Board of Directors.
Transactions with related parties are recorded at the exchange amounts, which approximate fair value.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, Seajay Management Enterprises Ltd. (Seajay) charged TVI
$775,984 (December 31, 2012 - $968,610). Management fees are paid to a corporation owned by the
President of TVI for the services of the President and support staff. As at December 31, 2013, the
amount payable to Seajay was $72,635.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVI incurred director fees and consultant fees of $344,250
(December 31, 2012- $266,250) related to the current year, and paid $216,375, which related in part to
both the prior and current year. At December 31, 2013, the remaining fees payable to directors were
$176,813.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, TVI paid $446,217 (December 31, 2012 - $510,725)
respectively, to corporations controlled by a director and officer of TVIRD for administrative expenses.
TVI owed the corporations $10,465 at December 31, 2013.
As a result of TVI’s focus through 2013 to obtain additional financing for working capital purposes and
further investment in projects, TVI entered into an agreement with a corporation in which a director of TVI
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is also a principal. A Finder's Fee of 3% of the value of the transaction is payable to the corporation for its
role in identifying PAVI and helping to negotiate the initial terms of the proposal between its wholly owned
subsidiary, PRHI, and TVI. At December 31, 2013, the fee payable to the corporation is US$675,000
($717,930).
At December 31, 2013, remaining intercompany receivable of TVI from the deconsolidated Philippine
subsidiaries was $384,726.
CONTINGENCIES AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
In January 2010, TVIRD established a partnership and strategic alliance with DMCI-CERI, a subsidiary of
DACON Corporation. In February 2010, the partners signed a joint venture agreement to conduct
exploration, development and production of mineral deposits in EXPA 61 located within the Greater
Canatuan Tenement Area. Potential prospects identified lie within a 15 kilometer (9.3 mile) radius
trucking distance of the current Canatuan sulphide plant. Under the joint venture agreement, TVIRD
holds a 70% interest and acts as the operator, while DMCI-CERI holds the remaining 30% interest. The
Partners will fund an exploration program for a year of two years amounting to a maximum of US$2
million, to be shared in accordance with their interests in the joint venture. There are still no exploration
costs incurred in relation to the GCT.
The Company rents its office premises on a five-year term lease. Total rent payments amounted to
$119,883 for the year 2013 while the annual rent payments from 2014 to 2019 amounts to $118,679 net
of short-term sub-leasing arrangements.
Legal Actions
Petition to exclude 18 Meridonial Blocks from Balabag MPSA Area (Eta Cordero, et al. vs. TVIRD):
TVIRD has been informed that a petition has been filed with the Panel of Arbitrators of the MGB of the
DENR by four Filipino citizens claiming 18 Blocks equivalent to 1,458 hectare to be removed from
TVIRD's 4,776 hectare Balabag MPSA. The petition claims that the four parties were the original
discoverers of the mineral property and were improperly deprived of their claim to the 18 blocks by their
subsequent partner who founded Zamboanga Minerals Corporation (the company that perfected the
MPSA with the DENR and subsequently assigned the MPSA to TVIRD in a commercial transaction). At
the time of writing, no summons has been issued to TVIRD to file its response to said petition. Counsel
for the petitioners has stated separately that they wish compensation from TVIRD in preference to a
“carve-out” of the blocks.
TVIRD management maintains its position that the MGB’s processes of verification prior to the signing of
the MPSA by the Secretary (verification that the claimholders are fully entitled to the claim), and the
signature by the State entering into the MPSA as a contract, fully protect TVIRD as a contracting party in
good faith in the event the Panel of Arbitrators find any merit in the petitioners’ suit. In that event TVIRD
believes the cause of action should be against Zamboanga Minerals Corporation and that it would not
affect TVIRD or the MPSA, which could not be subdivided after being granted and after substantial
investment approved annually by the MGB.
Writ of Amparo Case
On July 11, 2012, a group of small scale miners and their employees headed by Julieto Monding (the
“petitioners”) filed with the Court of Appeals a Petition for Writ of Amparo against TVIRD, its officers,
Zamboanga del Sur Governor Antonio Cerilles, Balabag Mayor Leonardo Babasa for alleged threat to
their life, safety and security as borne out by supposed emails on the so-called “Plan X” an alleged
assassination plot supposedly hatched by TVIRD officers.
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During the presentation of their evidence in chief, petitioners sought the production and inspection of the
correspondences in TVIRD’s email system which was vehemently opposed by TVIRD for being a mere
fishing expedition.
On January 23, 2013, the Court resolved to deny for lack of merit the Petitioners’ Motion for Production
and Inspection.
On February 1, 2013, the Court further directed the Petitioners to file their Formal Offer of Evidence within
a period of 15 days from receipt of such Order and to rest their case.
On April 11, 2013, the Petitioners moved for reconsideration of the aforementioned Orders on the
following grounds: (a) that petitioners filed a written manifestation as compliance of the Court’s directive
during the January 9, 2013 hearing; and (b) that the interim relief of inspection and production order is to
preserve electronic documents in the event of further investigation.
On May 3, 2013, TVIRD filed an Opposition with Motion to Strike Out (Re: Petitioner’s Motion for
Reconsideration dated 11 April 2013) on the grounds that Petitioners’ Motion for Reconsideration was
filed out of time and that the same is a prohibited pleading.
On May 27, 2013, the Court resolved to grant the Petitioners an additional ten (10) days within which to
file the appropriate pleading/s relative to the Resolutions of 23 January 2013 and 01 February 2013.
On 20 June 2013, the Petitioners filed a Comment to the Respondents Motion to Strike Out praying the
Court of Appeals to Reconsider and Set Aside its earlier resolution dated 23 January 2013 and grant the
Motion for Inspection and Production Order. The case had been archived.
Libel Cases
(a) People of the Philippines vs. Julieto Monding, et al.,
On March 15, 2012, TVIRD and its corporate officers initiated a case for libel with the Makati City
Prosecutor’s Office against persons who disseminated fabricated emails about the so-called “Plan X”, an
alleged assassination plot against MOSSMA leader Julieto Monding et al., supposedly hatched by TVIRD
officers.
On March 18, 2013, the Office of the City Prosecutor found probable cause and filed the information for
libel against the accused, Edgar Baling, Julieto Monding and Joel Cayabyab. The warrant for their arrest
was issued on April 05, 2013 and forwarded to the local National Bureau of Investigation in Region IX on
April 08, 2013 for the corresponding implementation thereat.
On May 6, 2013, accused Julieto Monding and Edgar Baling and on July 05, 2013, accused Joel
Cayabyab posted bail for their provisional liberty with the Regional Trial Court of Pagadian City (Branch
21). The order granting provisional liberty was forwarded to the Regional Trial Court of Makati City
(Branch 66) which set the arraignment of the said accused on July 18, 2013.
On July 18, 2013, the accused Edgar Baling and Julieto Monding were arraigned and both pleaded “not
guilty” and set the pre-marking of documents before the branch clerk of court on September 12, 2013.
Accused Joel Cayabyab was still at large. However, he has expressed his willingness to cooperate and
work things out with TVIRD and agreed to become a prosecution witness against accused Edgar Baling
and Julieto Monding.
On September 12, 2013, the Court referred the case for mediation to give the parties the opportunity to
settle the case amicably. During the mediation proceedings, the respondents did not have anything to
TVI Pacific Inc.

Page 43 of 51

December 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

offer that would at best be of interest to TVIRD. The respondents accordingly failed to appear in the next
mediation hearing on September 23, 2013, October 2 and 9, 2013. The pre-trial was reset on February
28, 2014.
(b) TVIRD vs. Teofisto Deocares, et al (NPS No. XV-05-INV-12C-00884) for Defamatory Advertisement:
Similarly, TVIRD and its officers filed a case for libel against the publishers of Mindanao Balitang Local
and Pagadian Star for publishing the so-called “Plan X.”
On December 14, 2012, the Assistant City Prosecutor of Makati City issued a resolution dismissing the
Complaint for want of jurisdiction it appearing that the subject defamatory advertisement did not malign
the person of TVIRD but only the person of Paul Arias (employee of TVIRD) such that the case can only
be filed either in the place where the libelous statement was published (Pagadian City) or in the place
where the aggrieved party resides (Davao City).
A Motion for Reconsideration was filed by TVIRD on 21 December 2012 praying that the Honorable
Office review the facts of the case such that the libel committed by the Respondents (publishers of
Mindanao Balitang Local and Pagadian City Star) was not only directed to the complainant Paul Arias but
also against TVIRD for which the filing of the action in Makati City was properly made.
On January 24, 2013, the Court directed the Respondents to file their comment on the Motion for
Reconsideration filed by the Petitioners within 15 days from receipt of the order, after which the
Petitioners’ motion shall be deemed submitted for resolution. There are no new developments as to this
date.
Dangen Subanen Gokum De Bayog vs. TVIRD for Injunction and Damages
On July 13, 2012, DANGEN SUBANEN GASAL GOKUM DE BAYOG filed the case before the National
Commission on Indigenous Peoples Regional Hearing Office IX (NCIP-RHO) seeking to restrain TVIRD
“from continuing its mining activities” and from allegedly “preventing the Plaintiffs [and other persons] to
enter the premises of [its] mining area” thru the supposed check points it established on alleged ground of
lack of FPIC of the Indigenous Peoples of Bayog.
On 12 October 2012, TVIRD filed a Position Paper to address on record the facts upon which TVIRD has
acquired its rights in the Mineral Production Sharing Agreement No. 086-IX-97 (MPSA No. 086-IX-97).
The main issue to be resolved is “whether or not there exist sufficient grounds to warrant the issuance of
the Restraining Order prayed for by the DANGEN SUBANEN GASAL GOKUM DE BAYOG”. The plea for
Injunctive Relief questioned the action taken by the MGB of the DENR in using the MPSA No. 086-IX-97
that was legally transferred from Zamboanga Minerals Corporation to TVIRD.
On December 19, 2012, after discussing the merits of TVIRD’s position before the Regional Hearing
Officer (“RHO”) during the scheduled hearing of the complaint, the RHO expressed his intent to dismiss
the petition for want of jurisdiction citing that the case was prematurely filed, there being no showing that
the required consent was not given by the identified Indigenous Peoples representatives. A motion to
dismiss was thus filed by TVIRD on January 15, 2013.
On 30 April 2013, the Pairing RHO ordered the dismissal of the petition for lack of jurisdiction. The Order
likewise cited that TVIRD’s MPSA was issued prior to the Indigenous People’s Rights Act (“IPRA”) as
such it does not require a FPIC because it is already a vested right.
TVIRD v. Gov. Yebes & Sangguniang Panlalawigan (otherwise known as the “Provincial Government”) of
Zamboanga del Norte
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This is an action filed by TVIRD before the Regional Trial Court of Dipolog city for Declaratory Relief to
Annul Provincial Ordinance Number ZN-11-128 prohibiting open pit mining or open cut land surface
mining in Zamboanga del Norte with Prayer for Preliminary Injunction.
TVIRD questions the validity of the said Ordinance on the following grounds, namely:
(a) That as a party to a valid MPSA duly approved by the national government it has the right to
conduct mining operations in accordance with the means and methods approved by the national
government under all applicable laws (Philippine Mining Act of 1995) and related issuances
(Implementing Rules and Regulations) and not the ordinance in question as it violate its rights
from adopting a mining method and enforcing the terms and conditions of the MPSA which the
national government allows.
(b) That the ordinance was enacted by the Provincial Government beyond the scope of its authority
under the Local Government Code;
(c) That the ordinance violates the prohibition against non-impairment of contracts clause of the 1987
Philippine Constitution;
(d) That the ordinance if implemented, would force TVIRD to close down its open pit mining
operations thereby causing it to suffer grave and irreparable injury; and
(e) That TVIRD has a clear and unmistakable right to be protected from the deleterious effects of a
void and unconstitutional ordinance and is willing to post a bond in such reasonable amount that
the Court may fix in accordance with the Rules of Procedure for the Issuance of an Injunctive
Writ.
On January 04, 2011, Hon. Judge Rogelio D. Laquihon of the Regional Trial Court of Dipolog City issued
an order granting the Writ of Preliminary Injunction prayed by TVIRD and enjoining the enforcement and
implementation of the Provincial Ordinance Number ZN-11-128 upon posting of a bond in the amount of
Php2 million to answer for any damages which the Respondents may sustain should the court finally
decide that TVIRD is not entitled thereto.
On July 31, 2012, the Court denied the motion for reconsideration for lack of merit stating that the basic
purpose of the preliminary injunction is to preserve or maintain the status quo of things and is generally
availed of to prevent actual or threatened acts until the merits of the case can be heard. The Court
likewise set the hearing of the respondents’ affirmative defenses on September 28, 2012, which was
postponed upon motion filed by the respondents.
Respondents filed a Petition for Certiorari questioning the validity of the Twin Resolutions on the
Preliminary Injunction issued by the Hon. Judge Rogelio D. Laquihon before the Court of Appeals in
Cagayan De Oro City on 31 October 2012 but the same was dismissed t for being filed out of time. To
this date, trial court has yet to re-set the hearing on the respondents’ affirmative defenses.
As a side note, the original composition of the members of the Sangguniang Panlalawigan including the
Office of the Governor who filed this case were replaced by newly elected provincial officials who
resumed office after the May 2013 elections. The re-setting on the hearing of the respondents’ affirmative
defenses will be further prolonged in consideration of this recent development.
NBI Complaint against Illegal Small Scale Miners (members of the Monte De Oro Small Scale Miners
Association Inc.) for violation of Section 55 (Minerals Processing Permit), Section 102 (Illegal
Extractions), Section 103 (Theft of Minerals) of the Philippine Mining Act of 1995 in relation to Republic
Act 7076 (Small Scale Mining Act of 1991).
On October 23-25, 2012, the joint task force of the DENR, Provincial Government, PNP, NBI and AFP
implemented the Cease and Desist Order against the illegal small scale miners led by Julieto Monding.
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On November 19, 2012 the NBI filed a complaint against the latter for violation of the following laws, to
wit:
(a) Section 55 (Minerals Processing Permit), Section 102 (Illegal Extractions) and Section 103 (Theft
of Minerals) of the Philippine Mining Act of 1995 in relation to Republic Act 7076 (Small Scale
Mining Act of 1991);
(b) Section 4, P.D. 1586 and Section 16, Article IV of DAO 203-30 (operation of gold processing
plant without Environmental Compliance Certificate);
(c) Republic Act No. 9275 (Clean Water Act);
(d) Republic Act No. 6969 (Toxic and Hazardous and Nuclear Waste Act); and
(e) Republic Act No. 8749 (Clean Air Act).
Through the initiative of TVIRD, a supplemental complaint was filed by the NBI on December 20, 2012
against forty-three (43) additional respondents as well as for violation of Presidential Decree 1866 as
amended by R.A. 8294 (Illegal Possession of Firearms and Explosives) against the Spouses Julieto
Monding and Rolinda S. Monding.
On January 22, 2013 and January 25, 2013, respondents filed their respective counter-affidavits denying
the complaint against them on the following grounds:
(a) that there is a pending petition by the MOSSMA for Declaration of Minahang Bayan filed on
March 28, 2012 before the Mines and Geosciences Bureau Panel of Arbitrators on a portion of
Mining Claim by small scale miners of Balabag, Depore, Bayog, Zamboanga del Sur;
(b) that the Cease and Desist Order as issued out of bribery during the presentation of evidence in
the petition for Writ of Amparo filed by some respondents before the Court of Appeals in July 12,
2012; and
(c) that there lies a prejudicial question pending the resolution of the Writ of Amparo case.
On April 8, 2013, the Investigating Prosecutor required the parties to submit their respective memoranda
to aid the said office in the determination of probable cause due to complexities of the factual and legal
issues involved. The provincial prosecutor dismissed the case citing that the evidences used are
inadmissible. TVIRD has already filed an appeal with the DOJ questioning the dismissal.
Petition for Writ of Kalikasan:
On May 2, 2013, TVIRD, received a copy of the Amended Petition for Writ of Kalikasan filed by Philippine
Earth Justice Center League, Inc. and several other individuals and NGOs seeking to stop all mining
operations in the entire Zamboanga Peninsula for alleged, but unsubstantiated, violations of several
Environmental Laws anchored on the supposed infringement of their constitutional right to a balanced
and healthful ecology. Being a holder of a MPSA, TVIRD was impleaded as one of the respondent
mining companies operating in Zambonga along with the Secretary of DENR and the Chamber of Mines.
The Petition was originally filed with the Supreme Court, but the same was endorsed to the Court of
Appeals-Cagayan De Oro City Station for the reception of Return and evidence for the parties and
decision.
Conformably to the Rules, TVIRD is awaiting the Order from the Court of Appeals to submit its Return
(i.e., Answer to the Petition).
Baraquel Cases:
(a) G.R. No. 181702:
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A petition assailing the constitutionality of Section 81 of the Philippine Mining Act of 1995 and DAO 07-12
(Revised Administrative Guidelines on Fiscal Regime re FTAAs) and seeking cancellation of all existing
FTAAs and denial of all applications therefore. TVIRD was included as one of the private respondents
being an FTAA applicant.
The petition is grounded on the claims that the PMA of 1995 is null and void as it violates the rule on
delegation of powers for being too broad and generalized and allows inequitable sharing of wealth.
(b) G.R. No. 181703:
A petition assailing the constitutionality of sec. 80 of PMA of 1995 and DAO 96-40 (IRR of the PMA of
1995) and seeking cancellation of all MPSA’s and denial of all applications therefore. TVIRD was not
impleaded as respondent, but being an MPSA assignee/holder itself, TVIRD has filed a Comment with
Leave of Court.
The petition is grounded on the claims that the aforementioned Section 80 and DAO, as well as the
MPSAs granted by the government, are unconstitutional as they unduly restrict the latter’s share to excise
taxes which should not be considered as share in exploration, development and utilization of mineral
resources as they merely emanate from the government’s taxation power.
In short, both petitions ultimately assail the prevailing fiscal regime concerning FTAAs and MPSAs.
The Supreme Court has set the cases for oral arguments by the parties. Since then, the Supreme Court
has heard the petitioners on three occasions. The cases were again set for oral argument on July 30,
2013. The oral arguments proceeded and the Supreme Court directed the parties to submit their
respective memoranda within 15 days after which the cases will be deemed submitted for decision which
may take about six months.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant
information is gathered and reported to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public
disclosure. Management, with the participation of the certifying officers, has evaluated the effectiveness
of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined by the
Canadian Securities Administrators). Based on that evaluation, the certifying officers have concluded that
such disclosure controls and procedures are effective and designed to ensure that they are aware of all
material information relating to TVI and its subsidiaries.
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
TVI’s internal controls over financial reporting (“ICOFR”) are intended to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Management has evaluated the effectiveness of TVI’s
ICOFR as at December 31, 2013, and has concluded that TVI’s ICOFR were designed and operating
effectively as at December 31, 2013, with no material weaknesses related to operations existing as at
December 31, 2013.
It should be noted that while TVI’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer believe that ICOFR
provide a reasonable level of assurance, they do not expect that the ICOFR would prevent all errors and
fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can only provide reasonable
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
TVI’s outstanding common shares as at March 19, 2014 were unchanged from the 655,470,372 shares
recorded at December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 - 622,137,039). The basic weighted average
number of common shares issued and outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2013 were
623,703,619 (December 31, 2012 – 622,122,422). The diluted weighted average number of common
shares issued and outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2012 was 627,344,771. No adjustments
were required to the weighted average number of common shares in computing diluted per share
amounts for the year ended December 31, 2013 because TVI was in a loss position.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 10, 2014, TVI and PRHI have completed a further closing of various investment and financing
transactions, following satisfaction of certain conditions, which included the approval of the Philippine
Securities and Exchange Commission for an increase in the authorized capital stock of TVIRD which was
obtained on December 27, 2013. The following were completed during the Second Closing:
(i) TVIRD has delivered to PRHI and TVI Marketing the share certificates representing TVIRD shares
subscribed;
(ii) The release of all funds previously placed in escrow by PRHI, including:
(a) US$1.305 million, representing the balance of the subscription price for PRHI's investment in TVI
Marketing for which PRHI has received a second deferred non-voting share of TVI Marketing that is
redeemable at par value;
(b) US$11.35 million, representing the balance of the subscription by PRHI to acquire newly issued Class
B shares of TVIRD, a portion of which was also used by TVIRD to partially pay for the purchase of EDCO
shares, the inactive Philippine companies, and the repurchase of Class A shares in TVIRD;

(iii) A further US $4.3 million was advanced by PRHI (and placed into an escrow account), which
represents the purchase price of voting shares in the capital of TVI Minerals.
After giving effect to the Transactions, TVI continues to indirectly hold 30.66% of the issued and
outstanding shares of TVIRD (through TVI Marketing). (TVIRD remains the operator of the Agata and
Pan de Azucar joint ventures.) As well, TVI continues to directly hold (i) its investment in shares of
Mindoro (ii) its investment in shares of Foyson; (iii) its earning right in the Amazon Bay project; and (iv) its
investment in shares of TG World. As at the current date, TVI has received US$5.33 million as a result of
the Transaction, while TVIRD has received US$11.64 million and US$5.53 million remains in escrow until
completion of the third and final close as outlined within the Investment Agreement.
On January 20, 2014, TVIRD has stopped milling operations at its Canatuan mine after having exhausted
its remaining stockpile, pending the results of assessing various mine life extension and expansion
opportunities. TVIRD completed the final shipment of 5,069 dry metric tonnes of zinc concentrate on
January 7, 2014, and on January 26, 2014 the final shipment of 4,118 dry metric tonnes of copper
concentrate, bringing total shipments of copper concentrate to 39 and zinc concentrate to 7.
On March 17, 2014 TVIRD announced the first nickel production from their pilot plant at Intertek Minerals
Philippines in Manila. A Nickel Hydroxide Product (“NHP”) filter cake was produced from TVIRD's pilot
plant on February 7th, 2014 with a 52% to 54% Ni grade.
•

NHP impurities such as Fe, Ca and Mg are low, thereby resulting in a versatile refined intermediate
nickel product that may be directly processed to nickel oxide or nickel metal with no further refining
required.
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•

Prior to NHP production, 8,000L of Fe and Ni rich Pregnant Leach Solution ("PLS") was purified via
TVIRD's continuous counter-current ion exchange ("IX") pilot plant, successfully validating the viability
of this IX purification process as well as establishing all design parameters for full-scale plant design.

•

IX Ni recovery from PLS to eluate was 99.3%.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this MD&A constitute forward-looking information. Forward-looking statements are often, but
not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may",
"will", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe", "schedule" and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements
are based upon the opinions and expectations of TVI as at the effective date of such statements and, in certain
cases, information received from or disseminated by third parties. Although TVI believes that the expectations
reflected in such forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions and that information received
from or disseminated by third parties is reliable, it can give no assurance that those expectations will prove to have
been correct. Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties (known and unknown) that
could cause actual outcomes to differ materially from those anticipated or implied. These factors include, but are not
limited to, such things as general economic conditions in Canada, the Philippines, Papua New Guinea and
elsewhere; volatility of prices for precious metals, base metals, oil and gas; commodity supply and demand;
fluctuations in currency and interest rates; inherent risks associated with the exploration and development of mining
properties; inherent risks associated with the exploration and development of oil and gas properties; ultimate
recoverability of reserves; production, timing, results and costs of exploration and development activities; political or
civil unrest; availability of financial resources or third-party financing; new laws (domestic or foreign); changes in
administrative practices; changes in exploration plans or budgets; availability of personnel and equipment (including
mechanical problems); and extreme weather conditions and forces of nature (i.e. typhoons, heavy rains, earthquakes,
and the like) that may disrupt operations and explorations.
Forward-looking statements regarding forward production costs and shipping and refining costs are based on current
and previous mineral reserve and resource estimates, current mining and processing activities, prior experiences of
management with mining and processing activities, the current development and operating plan, efficiency and
effectiveness of the sulphide plant, and TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy for Canatuan (which are all subject to
change). Forward-looking statements regarding the remaining mine life and resources/reserves of the Canatuan
deposit are based on current and previous mineral reserve and resource estimates, current mining and processing
activities, prior experiences of management with mining and processing activities, the current development and
operating plan, efficiency and effectiveness of the sulphide plant, and the TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy for
Canatuan (which are all subject to change). Forward-looking statements respecting the copper and zinc concentrate
shipping volumes and the timing of future shipments are based on the Company's previous experience with
concentrate shipments, current mining and processing activities, current and previous mineral reserve and resource
estimates, discussions to date with the off-take partner, efficiency and effectiveness of the sulphide plant, and the
TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy for Canatuan (which are all subject to change). Forward-looking statements
regarding the timing and nature of exploration and drilling activities in the Greater Canatuan Tenement Area
(including EXPA 61, Malusok and SE Malusok), Tamarok and TVI’s other tenements in the Philippines are based
upon current and previous exploration activities, management's experience with other exploration programs
undertaken in the Philippines and elsewhere, and TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy (which are all subject to
change). In certain cases, the timing of exploration activities in the Philippines and Papua New Guinea are dependent
upon the receipt of free prior informed consent from indigenous communities and regulatory approvals from the
governments of the Philippines and Papua New Guinea. Forward-looking statements regarding expectations that TVI
will be able to find additional ore in the Greater Canatuan Tenement Area (including EXPA 61, Malusok and SE
Malusok) and that this ore can be economically transported to the existing Canatuan mill are based upon current and
previous exploration activities, management's experience with other exploration programs undertaken in the
Philippines and elsewhere, management’s current and previous experience with mining and processing activities at
Canatuan, and TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy (which are all subject to change). Forward-looking statements
regarding TVI’s expected metal production and capital expenditures for 2014, and its ability to continue to generate
revenue from its operations are based on current mining and processing activities at Canatuan, current throughput of
the sulphide plant, anticipated recoveries, efficiency and effectiveness of the sulphide plant, management’s prior
experiences with mining and processing at Canatuan, the estimated copper and zinc mineralization of the sulphide
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zone at Canatuan, current and previous exploration, and TVI’s overall plans, budget and strategy (which are all
subject to change).
The forward-looking statements set out in this MD&A include information relating to interests that may be earned by
TVIRD in the Agata and Pan de Azucar joint ventures; opportunities for exploration, development and
commercialization of the Agata Mining Project (including the High Fe and Limestone DSO/Lime Production Facility
and the Agata Nickel Processing Plant). Related risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: (A) results of
further work in pursuing the conceptual planning described in this MD&A not supporting current expectations as to the
opportunities outlined; (B) TVIRD not funding the necessary expenditures at Agata or Pan de Azucar to advance the
projects or earn an interest under the joint venture agreements due to, among other things (i) changes in TVIRD's
strategic priorities, due diligence findings, changes in laws or regulations affecting mining operations in the
Philippines (including the profitability of such operations), and other factors, (ii) changes in TVIRD budgets and (iii)
limited availability of funds; (C) a determination on the part of TVIRD not to pursue projects contemplated by one or
more of the joint venture agreements noted above for technical, economic, legal or other reasons (including, without
limitation, a failure to obtain required permits or other governmental or regulatory approvals); and (D) certain other
risks identified elsewhere in TVI's public filings, including, without limitation, those risk factors set forth at pp. 46-52 of
TVI's Annual Information Form dated March 19, 2013.
This MD&A also includes forward-looking statements respecting certain transactions provided for in definitive
agreements entered into with PRHI (the “Transactions”) and are based upon the terms of these definitive
agreements. With respect to the Transactions, those risks and uncertainties include a failure to close one or more of
the Transactions on the terms outlined in the definitive agreements entered into with PRHI due to the failure to satisfy
one or more conditions, such as conditions relating to the receipt of any necessary corporate or regulatory approvals.
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance upon the forward-looking statements contained in this
MD&A and such forward-looking statements should not be interpreted or regarded as guarantees of future
outcomes.
The forward-looking statements of TVI contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified, in their entirety, by this
cautionary statement. Various risks to which TVI and its affiliates are exposed in the conduct of their business are
described in detail in TVI’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2012, which was filed on
SEDAR on March 19, 2013, and is available at www.SEDAR.com. Subject to applicable securities laws, TVI does not
undertake any obligation to publicly revise the forward-looking statements included in this MD&A to reflect
subsequent events or circumstances, except as required by law.
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March 18, 2014

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of
TVI Pacific Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of TVI Pacific Inc., which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and January
1, 2012 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes to equity and cash flows
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and the related notes, which comprise a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence, on a test basis, about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles and policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
111 5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3
T: 403 509 7500, F:403 781 1825, www.pwc.com/ca
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TVI Pacific Inc. as at December 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and January 1, 2012 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

Chartered Accountants

TVI Pacific Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
December 31, 2013

December 31, 2012
(note 20)

January 1, 2012
(note 20)

$

$

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalent (note 6)
Accounts receivable (note 7)
Notes receivable (note 8)
Advances to suppliers
Due from related parties (note 19)
Inventories (note 9)
Prepaid expenses (note 10)
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets:
Restricted cash (note 11)
Investment in associates (note 12)
Investment in joint venture (note 32)
Option to purchase contracts (note 29 )
Property and equipment (note 13)
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 14)
Mining claims and deferred exploration costs (note 15)
Other assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

$

2,362,952
8,489,402
940,362
124,813
108,929
12,026,458
38,740
1,248,450
10,675,596
1,985,834
101,572
1,882,078
7,882
15,940,152
27,966,610

$

16,016,450
6,578,133
425,616
455,797
8,004,967
828,750
32,309,713
2,908,927
2,797,914
1,961,522
13,979,934
3,715,037
8,629,003
371,215
34,363,552
66,673,265

$

23,732,002
7,386,044
918,872
7,055,770
857,586
39,950,274
2,120,396
15,996,462
3,797,255
6,961,094
160,360
29,035,567
68,985,841

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 16)
Letter of credit facilities
Short-term loan facilities (note 17a)
Current portion of term facilities (note 17b)
Current portion of asset retirement obligation (note 18)
Due to related parties (note 19)
Income tax payable
Total current liabilities

$

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred income tax liability
Term facilities
Pension obligation (note 20)
Asset retirement obligation (note 18)
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company:
Share capital (note 22b)
Warrants
Contributed surplus (note 22d)
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Non-controlling interests (note 23)
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

2,481,118
2,481,118

$

7,137,870
8,685,151
1,244,152
785,028
229,884
547,668
18,629,753

$

6,815,051
258,585
9,529,239
5,131,714
431,739
156,745
506,074
22,829,147

2,481,118

250,379
1,574,050
2,580,961
4,405,390
23,035,143

422,533
1,277,562
1,298,764
3,014,172
6,013,031
28,842,178

32,972,145
6,333,382
(9,453,379)
(4,366,656)
25,485,492
25,485,492
27,966,610

32,265,811
6,191,931
6,348,297
(2,175,804)
42,630,235
1,007,887
43,638,122
66,673,265

32,263,957
487,034
5,562,123
745,645
(293,606)
38,765,153
1,378,510
40,143,663
68,985,841

$

$

Commitment (note 29 and 30)
Subsequent events (note 33)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
“Clifford M. James”
Clifford M. James, Director

TVI Pacific Inc.

“C. Brian Cramm”
C. Brian Cramm, Director
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)

2013
Revenues:
Concentrate sales (note 25)
Other revenues
Total revenues

$

46,937,501
1,228,532
48,166,033

2012
(note 20)
$

77,077,753
376,408
77,454,161

Expenses:
Mining, milling and other expenses
Exploration costs
Depreciation, depletion and accretion
Administrative and general costs
Total expenses

38,206,750
245,212
8,537,905
7,793,072
54,782,939

48,593,500
2,900,229
11,837,527
13,707,029
77,038,285

Operating income (loss)

(6,616,906)

415,876

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Other gains (losses)
Share of loss of associates
Other income (loss), net

72,730
(145,315)
(502,129)
(5,619,537)
(1,987,439)
(8,181,690)

116,032
(264,853)
2,681,077
3,316,468
(231,398)
5,617,326

(14,798,596)
407,192
(14,391,404)

6,033,202
(686,636)
5,346,566

72,314
21,389

(1,456,628)
(16,905)

Net income (loss) before income tax
Income tax recovery (expense) (note 21)
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Foreign currency translation adjustment – foreign operations
Foreign currency translation adjustment – associates
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Remeasurements on defined benefit plan
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

$

$
$

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

$
$

Net income (loss) per share attributable to shareholders of the Company:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic (note 24)
Diluted (note 24)

5,696
(14,292,005)

$

(14,358,547)
(32,857)
(14,391,404)

$

(14,259,148)
(32,857)
(14,292,005)

$

(0.023)
(0.023)

$

$

623,703,619
623,703,619

$

$

(408,664)
3,464,369

5,602,652
(256,086)
5,346,566
3,720,455
(256,086)
3,464,369
0.009
0.009
622,122,422
627,344,771

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes to Equity
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)

Deposit for
Share capital
Subscription
(Note 22b)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
Contributed
Retained
Net Defined
Translation
surplus
earnings
Benefit Plan
reserve
(deficit)
(note 20)
(Note 22d)

Non-controlling
interests
(note 23)

Subtotal

Total
equity

\

January 1, 2013

$ 32,265,811 $

- $

6,191,931 $

6,348,297

$ (869,376) $ (1,306,428)

$ 42,630,235

$ 1,007,887 $

43,638,122

Transactions with owners
Capital contribution

706,334

-

-

-

-

-

706,334

64,583

Stock-based compensation

-

-

156,276

-

-

-

156,276

-

156,276

Options forfeited

-

-

(14,825)

-

-

-

(14,825)

-

(14,825)

Net distribution to non- controlling interest

-

-

-

-

86,017

-

86,017

(277,952)

(191,935)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 32)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(761,661)

(761,661)

706,334

-

141,451

-

86,017

-

933,802

(975,030)

(41,228)

-

-

-

(14,358,547)

-

-

(14,358,547)

(32,857)

(14,391,404)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

-

-

-

93,703

-

93,703

-

93,703

OCI - IAS 19

-

-

-

-

-

5,696

5,696

-

5,696

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 32)

-

-

-

(1,443,129)

(3,677,000)

1,300,732

(3,819,397)

-

(3,819,397)

-

-

-

(15,801,676)

(3,583,297)

1,306,428

(18,078,545)

(32,857)

(18,111,402)

Transactions with owners
Net loss

770,917

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive income (loss)
December 31, 2013

$ 32,972,145 $

- $

January 1, 2012 (Note 20)

$ 32,263,957 $

487,034 $

6,333,382 $ (9,453,379)

$ (4,366,656) $

5,562,123 $

$

745,645

604,157 $

- $ 25,485,492
(897,764) $ 38,765,152

$

- $

25,485,492

$ 1,378,510 $

40,143,662

Transactions with owners
Warrants expired

-

(487,034)

487,034

-

-

-

-

-

-

Stock-based compensation

-

-

179,962

-

-

-

179,962

-

179,962

Options forfeited

-

-

(36,334)

-

-

-

(36,334)

-

(36,334)

1,854

-

(854)

-

-

-

1,000

-

1,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(114,537)

(114,537)

1,854

(487,034)

629,808

-

-

-

144,628

(114,537)

30,091

-

-

-

5,602,652

-

-

5,602,652

(256,086)

5,346,566

Foreign currency translation adjustment

-

-

-

-

(1,473,533)

-

(1,473,533)

-

(1,473,533)

OCI - IAS 19

-

-

-

-

-

(408,664)

(408,664)

-

(408,664)

-

-

-

5,602,652

(1,473,533)

(408,664)

3,720,455

(256,086)

3,464,369

Options exercised
Net distribution to non- controlling interest
Transactions with owners
Comprehensive income
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income (loss)
December 31, 2012

$ 32,265,811 $

-

$ 6,191,931 $

6,348,297

$

(869,376) $ (1,306,428) $ 42,630,235

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 1,007,887 $

43,638,122

TVI Pacific Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)

2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, depletion and accretion
Pension expense (note 20)
Stock based compensation (note 22d)
Interest income
Interest expense
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Other gain
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 32)
Impairment loss (note 14)
Share of loss of associates
Changes in working capital (note 28)
Contribution to pension funding
Asset retirement obligation settled
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net repayment of letter of credit facilities
Net repayment of short-term loan facilities
Interest and financing costs paid
Proceeds from shares issued
Net distribution of non-controlling interest
Net cash used in financing activities

(14,798,596)

6,033,202
12,431,294
1,258,580
143,628
(116,047)
264,853
83,036
(3,304,342)
231,398
572,494
(1,303,871)
(1,032,299)
15,261,926
116,047
(696,003)
14,681,970

(8,803,940)
(1,348,617)
(250,949)
(213,369)
(10,616,875)

(262,058)
(6,286,766)
(441,454)
1,000
(114,537)
(7,103,815)

(549,091)
(32,862)
(432,969)
(6,795,280)

(425,616)
(697,654)
(3,046,217)
(1,961,522)

(5,239,297)
(544,364)
6,655,168
(6,938,695)

(9,653,834)
(15,784,843)

16,193

491,136

(13,653,498)

(7,715,552)

16,016,450

23,732,002

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash

Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalent at end of the year

$

8,537,905
(1,733,164)
141,451
(72,730)
145,315
282,479
(959,148)
2,295,562
4,283,123
1,987,439
5,039,246
(36,420)
(714,350)
4,398,112
49,209
(561,442)
3,885,879

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Change in note receivable
Change in restricted cash
Expenditure on investment
Expenditure on option to purchase contract
Expenditures on property and equipment, mining claims
and deferred exploration costs and other assets
Net decrease in cash due to deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Changes in working capital (note 32)
Net cash used in investing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent

2012

$

2,362,952

$

16,016,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
1. Corporate information and nature of operations:
TVI Pacific Inc. (“TVI”) is a publicly listed company incorporated in Alberta, Canada on January 12,
1987 under the Alberta Business Corporations Act and its shares are listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange. TVI, through its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Company"), is a resource
company focused on the production, development, exploration, and acquisition of resource projects in
the Philippines and Southeast Asia.
TVI is the ultimate parent company whose interests in its Philippine assets are held through its
operating affiliate, TVI Resource Development Phils., Inc. (“TVIRD”). The Company operated a
commercial gold and silver mine from 2005 to April 2008. It started commercial production of the
Canatuan sulphide project that produces copper concentrates in March 2009 and zinc concentrates in
April 2011. On January 20, 2014, it has stopped milling operations in Canatuan, after having
exhausted its remaining stockpile, pending the results of assessing various mine life extension and
expansion opportunities. The Company is also in pre-development at its Balabag gold property.
Exploration Drilling Corporation (“EDCO”), a wholly-owned subsidiary based in the Philippines, holds
the Company’s drilling assets.
Beginning 2011, TVI participated in the business of international petroleum exploration and
development, through its subsidiary, TG World Energy Corp. (“TG World”), whose major area of focus
is in the Philippines, through its affiliate TG World (BVI) Corp (“TG BVI”). Details of the acquisition of
these subsidiaries were disclosed in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2011.
In July and August 2012, TVI has also entered into heads of agreement (“HOA”) each with Mindoro
Resources Ltd. ("Mindoro"), a Canadian company engaged in mining exploration in the Philippines,
and Foyson Resources Limited ("Foyson"), an Australian company engaged in mining exploration in
Papua New Guinea. Pursuant to the HOA, TVI has granted loans; has entered into subscription
agreements for the acquisition of equity interests undertaken in two tranches for each company; and
has entered into joint arrangements with Mindoro and Foyson (and affiliates).
In December 2013, various definitive agreements were signed with Prime Resources Holdings, Inc.
(“PRHI”), a Philippine corporation, involving a private placement of common shares of TVI and the
acquisition of an interest in the Philippine subsidiaries. The transactions resulted in loss of control,
deconsolidation of the entities and accounting for the retained interest as investment in joint venture
(note 32).
TVI has established its principal business address at Suite 2000, 736–6th Avenue SW Calgary,
Alberta, Canada T2P 3T7.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March
18, 2014.
2. Basis of preparation:
(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(“IFRIC”).
(b) Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value (Note 5f). In addition, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except
for cash flow information.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
2. Basis of preparation (continued):
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars which is the functional and
reporting currency of TVI.
The preparation of timely financial statements necessitates the use of judgments, estimates and
assumptions that will affect assets, liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, as well as revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.
(c) Adoption of new and revised IFRS
The following are relevant new standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the
first time for the financial year beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’ (effective July 1, 2012) requires entities to
group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of whether they may be
recycled to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendment affected
presentation only and had no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’, (effective January 1, 2013) requires: to immediately
recognize all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with
a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability
(asset). Actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the actual return on plan assets
(‘remeasurements’) are recognized in the balance sheet immediately, with a charge or credit to other
comprehensive income and are not recycled subsequently. The Company has retrospectively applied
the amendment to IAS 19. The transition to IAS 19 had an impact on the net defined benefit plan
obligations due to the difference in accounting for interest on plan assets, unvested past service costs
and actuarial losses. The effect of the adoption of IAS 19 is explained in Note 20.
IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements” (effective January 1, 2013) builds on existing principles
by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included
within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. IFRS 10 changes the definition of
control such that an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. To meet the definition of control in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met,
including: (a) an investor has power over an investee; (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (c) the investor has the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. The Company has applied
IFRS 10 in accounting for the deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries. The impact is further
explained in note 32.
IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” (effective January 1, 2013) is a more realistic reflection of joint
arrangements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement rather than its legal form.
There are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise
where the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. A
joint operator accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures
arise where the investors have rights to the net assets of the arrangement; joint ventures are
accounted for under the equity method. Proportional consolidation of joint arrangements is no longer
permitted. The application of the Company’s accounting policy under IFRS 11 requires judgment in
determining the classification of joint venture arrangements. An arrangement that is not structured
through a separate vehicle will be a joint operation.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
2. Basis of preparation (continued):
Considering the contractual terms of the arrangements in petroleum and natural gas properties, the
absence of a separate vehicle and other facts and circumstances, it was determined that the
Company has the rights to assets and obligations relating to the arrangements. These have been
classified as joint operations where the Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
As a result of the transaction with PRHI (note 32) the company deconsolidated the net assets of
some Philippine entities and accounted for the retained investment as investment in joint venture as
further explained in note 32.
IFRS 12, “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities” (effective January 1, 2013) includes the
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements,
associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.
IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ (effective January 1, 2013), aims to improve consistency and
reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRS. The requirements, which are largely
aligned between IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide
guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other
standards within IFRS.
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective January 1, 2013)
clarifies how an entity allocates the stripping (overburden waste removal) costs it incurs during the
production phase of a surface mine between inventory and other assets, as well as the period over
which it should amortize any capitalized stripping costs. The interpretation may require mining entities
reporting under IFRS to write off existing stripping assets to opening retained earnings if the assets
cannot be attributed to an identifiable component of an ore body. The standard is deemed to have no
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. The Company shall consider applying this
interpretation in the succeeding periods, once the production phase of the Balabag gold project starts.
(d) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial
year beginning January 1, 2013
Amendments to IAS 36, “Impairment of assets”, on the recoverable amount disclosures for nonfinancial assets. This amendment removed certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of cash
generating units which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. The Company shall
continue to assess the impact of this amendment until its adoption starting January 1, 2014.
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” replaces existing requirements included in IAS 39, “Financial
Instruments - Recognition and Measurement”. The new standard requires financial assets to be
classified at initial recognition into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and
those measured at amortized cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the instrument. Under IFRS 9, fair value changes due to credit risk for
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other
comprehensive income rather than the income statement unless this creates an accounting
mismatch. The adoption of IFRS 9 is expected to have an impact on the Company’s financial assets.
The Company shall continue to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and will assess the impact of the
remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed.
There are no other new standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective that
would be expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies:
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated.
(a) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries
and affiliates that it controls as of the reporting date. Control exists when the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries TVI Limited, and TG World; and indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries TVI
International Marketing Limited (“TVI Marketing”) and TVI Minerals Processing Inc (“TVI
Minerals”), TG BVI, TG World Energy Inc. and TG World Petroleum Limited. The consolidated
financial statements include its interest in TVIRD, EDCO, nineteen inactive Philippine subsidiaries
(eleven of which have been closed during the fourth quarter of 2012), and interests in joint
venture entities up to the date of the deconsolidation (note 32). Prior to the deconsolidation, these
companies were all controlled by the Company, as it has the ability to govern the financial and
operating policies of the subsidiaries and obtain benefits from their activities. Such companies
became jointly controlled as a result of the transactions with PRHI (Note 32).
Of the issued and outstanding shares of each of the inactive Philippine subsidiaries, 40% are
owned by TVI Marketing and 60% are owned by TVIRD. TVIRD shares are owned 40% by TVI
Marketing with the remaining 60% owned by Philippine residents or companies prior to the
deconsolidation (note 32). After giving effect to the transactions with PRHI, TVI continues to
indirectly hold 30.66% interest in these Philippine subsidiaries.
Non-controlling interests in less than wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company comprise the
interest held by the Philippine residents or companies and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position, separately from the Company’s equity. Losses applicable to the noncontrolling interest in excess of their interest in the subsidiaries’ equity are allocated against the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.
The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. If the
business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill is
initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair
value of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Any excess of the share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment is recognized in profit or loss.
All intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstances.
(ii) Loss of control
Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, or restructuring of the subsidiaries equity accounts,
the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting year during
which the Company has control. On the loss of control, the Company derecognizes the assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and other components of equity
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognized in profit
or loss.
If a subsidiary or business is contributed to a joint venture in exchange for a jointly-controlled
interest, a conflict exists in the guidance within IFRS 10, IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures” and IFRS 11. IFRS 10 requires on loss of control of a subsidiary the retained
interest be measured at fair value. Under IAS 28 and IFRS 11, a gain or loss is recognized only to
the extent of the unrelated parties’ interest in the arrangement and the retained interest is not
remeasured to fair value.
The IASB has undertaken a project to clarify the inconsistency between these standards. The
company has chosen to follow the IFRS 11 methodology and will not remeasure its retained
interest to fair value. However, where a loss occurs on the contribution of the assets, this would
be considered an impairment indicator. Where the retained interest is an interest in a joint
venture, the guidance for impairment of equity method investments is followed.
The company views the contribution of a foreign operation subsidiary to a joint venture as a
disposal for purposes of applying foreign currency translation standards and therefore fully
recycles any cumulative translation adjustment amounts related to that foreign operation to profit
or loss.
During the period, the Company applied the guidance in IFRS 11 in computing for the gain or loss
on the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
(iii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control,
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition.
The Company’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. The cumulative postacquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Company does not recognize further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
The Company determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Company calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount and its carrying value, and
recognizes the amount to share of income (loss) of associates in the income statement.
(iv) Joint arrangements
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each investor. The share of the assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses are accounted for under joint operations while joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interests in
joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Company’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
The Company’s exploration activities in petroleum and natural gas properties are conducted in
joint participation with others, where the Company has a direct ownership interest in jointly
controlled assets. The revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities related to the jointly controlled
assets are included in the consolidated financial statements in proportion to the Company’s
interest. The retained investment in the Philippine subsidiaries is classified as investment in joint
venture to be accounted for under equity method.
(b) Cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalent are carried at face amount or at nominal amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position and includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and
short-term placements with maturities of three months or less.
(c) Environmental trust funds
Regular contributions are made to the Company’s trust funds, created in accordance with
statutory requirements, to fund the estimated cost of pollution control, rehabilitation and mine
closure at the end of the life of the Company’s mines. Contributions are determined on the basis
of the estimated environmental obligation over the life of the mine. Income earned from
environmental trust funds deposited in banks is accounted for as interest income. The deposits in
trust funds are included under restricted cash in the consolidated statement of financial position.
(d) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete and
applicable variable selling expenses. Inventories consist of consumable drilling parts, drilling
supplies, and mineral processing supplies valued using the moving average method with
provision for obsolete and slow-moving items; and finished products, and stockpile ore recorded
based on a first in first out method. For finished goods, all direct production costs and related
production overheads are included in determining the cost. Stockpiled ore inventory includes the
cost of extraction and hauling.
(e) Mining claims and exploration costs
The Company expenses all exploration costs incurred until it determines that the exploration
property is capable of achieving commercial production at which time all further pre-production
costs are capitalized at cost. Such costs include acquisition, exploration, operating, other related
costs and administration expenditures net of any mineral revenues received. When a property is
brought into production, the costs will be amortized using the unit-of-production method based on
that property's estimated proved ore reserves. If a property is abandoned, capitalized costs are
charged to operations in the year of abandonment. The Company classifies mining claims and
deferred exploration costs as tangible or intangible according to the nature of the asset acquired
or cost incurred and applies the classification consistently. Certain deferred exploration costs are
treated as intangible (e.g. license and legal fees), whereas others are tangible (e.g. vehicles). To
the extent that a tangible asset is consumed in developing an intangible asset, the amount
reflecting that consumption is part of the cost of the intangible asset.
Mining claims and deferred exploration costs are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(f) Exploration and evaluation assets
The Company follows the modified full cost method of accounting for petroleum and natural gas
properties whereby all costs of exploring for and development of petroleum and natural gas
properties and related reserves are capitalized on a country by country basis. Such costs include
land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenses, and costs of drilling and completion
of both productive and nonproductive wells.
When proved reserves of oil and natural gas are determined and development is sanctioned, the
relevant expenditure is transferred to petroleum and natural gas properties after impairment is
assessed and any resulting impairment loss is recognized. The Company currently has no
producing petroleum and natural gas properties.
When a property is brought into production, the depletion of the Company's interests in petroleum
and natural gas properties will be computed by the unit-of-production method based on estimates
of proved reserves. Petroleum and natural gas reserves and production are converted into
equivalent units based upon relative energy content. Based on the exploratory nature of
operations, no amount has been recorded for depletion.
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development
tangible or intangible assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, the
exploration and evaluation assets subject to testing are grouped with existing cash-generating
units of production fields that are located in the same geographical region.
(g) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment.
Costs include the amount of consideration given up to acquire, construct, develop, or better an
item of property and equipment and include all costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, development or betterment of the asset.
The costs of construction-in-progress are accumulated in the accounts until the project is
completed and put into operational use upon which they are classified to the appropriate property
accounts and depreciated accordingly. Construction-in-progress is stated at cost, which includes
cost of construction, equipment and other direct costs.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
Mine development costs are deferred until the property is brought into commercial production, at
which time the costs are amortized using the unit-of-production method based on that property's
estimated ore reserves. The deferral of expenditures cease when a facility commences
commercial operations. If a property is abandoned, previously capitalized costs are charged to
operations in the year of abandonment. The Company has capitalized interest relating to the
Sulphide and Balabag projects.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
Depreciation of these assets is provided at rates designed to amortize their cost over their
estimated useful lives:
Canatuan sulphide plant:
Property and equipment
Sulphide dam
Drilling and other assets:
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Communication and computer equipment,
office furniture and equipment
Transportation equipment
Field and geological equipment

Method

Years

Unit-of-production
Unit-of-production

Estimated ore reserves
Estimated ore reserves

Straight-line

5 years

Straight-line
Straight-line
Straight-line

2-5 years
5 years
5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end
and adjusted if appropriate. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
(h) Impairment of long-lived assets
The Company evaluates the property and equipment for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate, in management’s judgment, that the carrying value of such assets may
not be recoverable. In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired,
the Company considers factors such as significant decline in commodity prices for an extended
period of time, significant downward revision of reserves, significant adverse changes in
economic or legal environment, evidence of obsolescence or physical damage, significant
changes in the manner the asset is used, among others.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. Value in use requires entities to
make estimates of future cash flows to be derived from the particular asset, and discount them
using a pre-tax market rate that reflects current assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units). Assets that do not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other groups of assets are being combined with all
other assets to form an asset group for impairment assessment.
Judgments and assumptions are inherent in management’s estimate of the undiscounted future
cash flows used to determine recoverability of an asset and the estimate of an asset’s fair value
used to calculate the amount of any impairment.
(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly
probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
When the Company is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, regardless of whether the Company will retain a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.
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TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j) Defined benefit plan
The employees in the Philippine subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to a defined benefit
plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that the employee will receive upon retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service, and compensation. The
liability recognized is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less
the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
which approximate the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in income.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Company recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the
Company recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the
payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy,
the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) recognized in other comprehensive
income shall not be reclassified to profit or loss in a subsequent period. However, the entity may
transfer those amounts recognized in other comprehensive income within equity.
(k) Foreign currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and reporting currency.
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at the year-end
exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of the Philippine and other foreign subsidiaries are translated into
Canadian dollars from the functional currencies using period-end exchange rates, with revenues
and expenses translated using average rates for the period. Unrealized gains and losses arising
on the translation of these operations are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment
within other comprehensive income.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
When a foreign operation is disposed of, the relevant amount of the cumulative translation
adjustment within other comprehensive income is transferred to net income as part of the profit or
loss on disposal. On the partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
relevant proportion of such cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interest. In any
other partial disposal of a foreign operation, the relevant proportion is reclassified to net income.
(l) Revenue recognition
(i) Sale of precious metals
Revenues from commercial mineral operations are recorded when title passes on the sale and
delivery of gold and silver from the Canatuan gossan plant to the refiner, and copper and zinc
concentrates from the Canatuan sulphide plant to the ship’s rail. Revenues from copper and zinc
concentrates are recorded based on either provisional prices or basis fixed prices. The Company
does not engage in forward selling or hedging of mineral production.
Metal concentrates are sold under pricing arrangements where no less than 90% of the initial
estimated value of the shipment is receivable when loading has been completed, based upon
market prices. The final payment for the remaining 10% is due once the final testing details
relating to the weight, assays and updated market prices are determined in a period subsequent
to the date of sale. Variations from the initial estimate to the final testing are recorded as price
adjustments in the period the variations are finalized. As a result, the value of concentrate
receivables may change as the underlying commodity market prices vary. This component of the
contract is an embedded derivative, which is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value
recorded in revenues.
(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
When a receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues accreting the discount as interest income.
(iii) Other revenue
Other revenue is recognized when earned or realized.
(m) Share option plan
The Company applies the fair value method, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, when
stock options are granted to employees and directors under the share option plan. Under this
method, compensation expense of stock options, measured at the grant date, is recognized as a
charge to earnings over the vesting period with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus.
Upon exercise of the stock options, consideration paid together with the amount previously
recognized in contributed surplus is recorded as an increase to share capital. The effects of
forfeitures are estimated on initial measurement with subsequent adjustments so that the
expense reflects what has actually vested in the period.
(n) Borrowings and borrowing costs
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs.
Borrowings are derecognized when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expired. Any substantial modification to the terms of the loan are accounted as an
extinguishment of the original liability and recognition of a new liability
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are
expensed.
(o) Leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the statements of income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.
(p) Income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for future income taxes. Under the liability
method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on “temporary differences”
(differences between the accounting basis and the tax basis of the assets and liabilities), and are
measured using the currently enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates and laws expected to
apply when these differences reverse.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward
of unused tax losses and unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates, or interests in joint ventures, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
(q) Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognized
when: (a) the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
(b) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and (c) the
amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination
penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognized for future operating
losses.

TVI Pacific Inc.

16

December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to
determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the increases specific to the liability. The increase in provision due to passage of time is
recognized as amortization expense.
The fair value of asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) associated with the retirement of long-lived
assets is recognized as liabilities in the period when they can be reasonably determined. The fair
value approximates the cost a third party would charge in performing the tasks necessary to retire
such assets and is recognized at the present value of expected future cash flows using a discount
factor that reflects the risk-free rate of interest. ARO’s are added to the carrying value of the
associated asset and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. The corresponding liability is
accreted over time through charges to earnings and is reduced by actual costs of
decommissioning and reclamation. The estimates of the timing and amounts of expected cash
flows are prepared when an ARO is incurred, which are updated to reflect changes in facts and
circumstances. The Company’s estimates of retirement costs could change as a result of
changes in cost estimates and regulatory requirements.
(r) Per share amounts
Net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
for the year.
Diluted per share amounts reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted to common shares. The treasury
stock method is used to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive
instruments.
(s) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components.
Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Chief Executive Officer that makes strategic decisions.
(t) Financial instruments and other comprehensive income
Financial instruments
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: (a) at fair value through
profit or loss, (b) loans and receivables, (c) held-to-maturity investments and (d) available-forsale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and reevaluates this designation at every reporting date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading.
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Loans
and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to
maturity, then such financial assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Financial assets availablefor-sale are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or that are
not classified in any of the previous categories. Issued financial instruments or their components,
which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as other financial
liabilities, where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having an
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder.
Cash and cash equivalent is comprised of cash balances, call deposits and short-term
placements with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalent, restricted
cash, accounts receivable, advances to suppliers and note receivable with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market are designated as “loans and receivables”. The
option to purchase contracts with Foyson and Mindoro are derivative classified at fair value
through profit or loss. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short-term debt, long-term
liabilities and due to related parties are designated as “other financial liabilities”.
Initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition
Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date (the date on
which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset). All financial instruments are required
to be measured at fair value on initial recognition of the instrument
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with changes in
those fair values recognized in net income. Financial assets “held-to maturity”, “loans and
receivables” and “other financial liabilities” are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method of amortization, net of any impairment. Available-forsale financial assets are measured at fair value, with changes in those fair values recognized in
other comprehensive income. The methods used by the Company in determining fair value of
financial instruments are unchanged during the year.
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are not classified as financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of a financial asset or financial liability are added to the fair value initially recognized for that
financial instrument. These costs are expensed to earnings using the effective interest rate
method.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of
comprehensive income.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
Impairment
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Risk management
The financial instruments standard establishes the presentation of financial instruments and nonfinancial derivatives and classification of financial instruments, from the perspective of the issuer,
between liabilities and equity. The Company discloses the nature and extent of risks associated
with financial instruments and how these risks are managed.
Comprehensive income
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include a consolidated statement of
comprehensive Income, which includes net income and other comprehensive income. The
Company’s other comprehensive income is currently comprised of the changes in the foreign
currency translation adjustment of foreign operations.
The cumulative changes in other comprehensive income are summarized in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity. Accumulated other comprehensive income is presented as a
category within shareholders’ equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.
(u) Capital disclosures
The Company discloses information regarding the Company’s capital and how it is managed. The
Company discloses the objective, policies, and processes for managing capital and quantitative
disclosure about what the Company regards as capital.
(v) Accounting changes
Accounting changes are applied retrospectively unless otherwise permitted or required by the
transitional provisions of IFRS or where impracticable to determine. As well, voluntary changes in
accounting policy are made only when the change results in more relevant and reliable
information.
(w) Comparative figures
Certain of the prior year comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
presentation adopted for the current year.
(x) Events after the reporting date
Events after the reporting date are evaluated up to the date the financial statements are
authorized for issue. Post year-end events that provide additional information about the
Company’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial
statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements when material.
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments:
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Such estimates are based on informed judgments made by management. Actual
results could differ materially from those estimated.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Pension obligation
The present value of the pension obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the
net cost (income) for pensions, as disclosed in note 20, include the discount rate and salary
increase rates. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension
obligations.
The Company determines the appropriate discount rate that should be used to determine the
present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension
obligations. The Company considers the interest rates on government bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related defined benefit obligation. Other key assumptions for
pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.
While the Company’s management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and
appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in our assumptions
may materially affect the pension obligation and employee benefits. The Company considers that
it is impracticable to discuss with sufficient reliability the possible effects of sensitivities
surrounding these actuarial assumptions at the reporting date.
Amortization of non-financial assets
The recorded amortization expense is based on the estimated useful economic lives of long-lived
assets. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed periodically and are
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. It is possible,
however, that the future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of
recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these circumstances.
The estimate that most significantly affects the measurement of amortization is quantities of
proved mineral reserves, which is used in the computation of amortization expense based on the
units-of-production method.
Mineral reserves are estimates, thus, there is a risk that actual metals production could differ from
expected metals production from our reserves. Factors that could cause actual metals production
to differ include adverse changes in metal prices, which could make the reserve uneconomic to
mine; and variations in actual ore grade and metal recovery rates from estimates.
The estimation of quantities of mineral reserves is complex, requiring significant subjective
assumptions that arise from the evaluation of geological, geophysical, engineering and economic
data for a given ore body. This economic data could change over time as a result of numerous
factors, including new information gained from development activities, evolving production history
and a reassessment of the viability of production under different economic conditions. Changes in
data and/or assumptions could cause reserve estimates to substantially change from period to
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued):
period thus the Company considers that it is impracticable to discuss with sufficient reliability the
possible effects of sensitivities surrounding these estimation.
The amortization is also based on the residual value at the end of useful life. During 2012, the
Company reviewed the residual value and estimated economic lives of plant and equipment
located in the Sulphide plant. The change in residual value was accounted for as a change in
accounting estimate adjusting the depreciation charges for the current and future years (Note 13).
Asset retirement obligations
The present value of the asset retirement obligation is measured by discounting the expected
cash flows using a discount factor that reflects the risk-free rate of interest. Management must
estimate the timing and amounts of expected cash flows are prepared when an asset retirement
obligation is incurred, which are updated to reflect changes in facts and circumstances.
The Company considers that it is impracticable to discuss with sufficient reliability the possible
effects of sensitivities surrounding these changes in estimates of the timing and amount of
expected cash flows when the liability is actually incurred. One or more of the assumptions may
differ significantly and as a result, the actuarial present value of the asset retirement obligation
estimated at the reporting date may differ significantly from amount reported. Additional
information is disclosed in note 18.
Share options
The Company applies the fair value method, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, when
stock options are granted to employees and directors under the share option plan. Management
must estimate the volatility, forfeiture rate, expected life and risk-free interest rates in using the
model to assess the fair value of stock options. The Company considers that it is impracticable to
discuss with sufficient reliability the possible effects of sensitivities surrounding these estimations.
Valuation of embedded derivatives
Revenues are recorded at the time of sale based on forward prices for the expected date of the
final settlement. Variations from the initial estimate to the final testing are recorded as price
adjustments in the period the variations are finalized. As a result, the value of concentrate
receivables may change as the underlying commodity market prices vary. This component of the
contract is an embedded derivative, which is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value
recorded in revenues. Revenue would be an estimated $47,748 lower or higher were the metal
prices used in the computation of revenue differ by 5% from the Company’s estimates.
(b) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
Recoverability of property and equipment, and mining claims and deferred exploration costs
The Company reviews and tests the carrying amounts of property and equipment, capitalized
mining claims and deferred exploration costs whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate, in management’s judgment, that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If there
are indications that impairment may have occurred (as discussed in note 3), the amount by which
the carrying value of assets exceeds their estimated recoverable value is charged to the
statements of comprehensive income.
Recoverability of the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets
The Company is required to review the carrying value of its exploration and evaluation properties
for potential impairment. Once impairment is indicated, the amount by which the carrying value of
exploration and evaluation properties exceeds their estimated recoverable value is charged to the
statements of comprehensive income. Evaluating for recoverability during the exploration and
evaluation phase requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefit
from future exploitation, sale or otherwise are likely.
TVI Pacific Inc.
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued):
Recoverability of Petroleum Production Tax Credits.
The State of Alaska process for remitting Petroleum Production Tax Credits (“PPTC”) makes the
timing of receipt and estimating the fair value less certain.
Income taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Additional information is disclosed in Note 21.
Consolidation of subsidiaries and loss of control
The Company has exercised judgment in evaluating the presence of control on investments with
shareholding of less than 50% and determined that it has the ability to govern the financial and
operating policies of the subsidiaries and obtain benefits from their activities. The investments
have been classified as subsidiaries prior to the loss of control as explained in note 32.
Significant judgment is also required in assessing the loss of control of the Philippine subsidiaries
as well as in selecting the accounting policy applied (note 32). Management has determined that
the Company loses control due to the reduction of interest and by virtue of an agreement with
PRHI which requires unanimous consent from both parties on decisions concerning relevant
activities, resulting in joint control. Management has determined that the retained interest in the
Philippine subsidiaries was considered investment in joint venture.
Management has also assessed that the results of operations of the Philippine subsidiaries that
were deconsolidated, shall not be presented as discontinued operations, as the operations
contributed to the joint venture did not constitute a separate component.
Investments in Foyson and Mindoro
Management has assessed the level of influence that the Company has on Foyson and Mindoro
and determined that it has significant influence even though the shareholding is below 20%
because of the board representation and contractual terms. Consequently, this investment has
been classified as an associate.
5.

Financial risk management:
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk
and price risk), interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk. The Company’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The Board of Directors has the
overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management
framework.
a) Currency risk
The Company faces currency risks mainly due to the substantial cross-border element of its
operations. The Company has offices in Canada (Canadian dollar) and in the Republic of the
Philippines (Peso). The Company sells its mineral deposits at prevailing market prices in the US
dollar currency. In addition, the company borrows money and settles loans in the US dollar
currency. Upon receipt, the Company converts these funds into the functional currencies of
individual entities to finance operational and administrative expenses. There are no forward sales,
and the Company does not engage in currency hedging activities. The Company minimizes risks
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5. Financial risk management (continued):
by carefully planning the timing of settlement of foreign currency denominated balances and
closely monitoring changes in foreign exchange rates.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the pro forma impact on net income if the Philippine
peso moved by 8% against the US dollar currency, with all other variables held constant, would
be $450,999 mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar
denominated cash and cash equivalent, trade receivables, accounts payable and loans payable.
The following significant exchange rates applied during the current year and prior year:
Average rate

US Dollar
Philippine Peso

Spot rate

2013

2012

2013

2012

1.0299
0.0243

0.9996
0.0237

1.0636
0.0240

0.9949
0.0242

b) Price risk
The Company is exposed to commodity price risk from the production and sale of mineral
deposits, which are sold at prevailing market prices. There are no forward sales contracts and
the Company does not engage in price hedging activities.
c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. As the Company has no significant
interest-bearing assets, the Company’s income and operating cash flows are independent of
changes in market interest rates.
The Company has exposure to fair value interest rate risk since its term facilities and note
receivable have fixed interest terms, regardless of changes in market conditions. The Company
reviews its exposure to interest rate risk through regular monitoring of actual interests with market
interest rates.
d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Company's approach is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed circumstances. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying business, the Company maintains flexibility in funding by keeping committed
credit lines with major vendors. The Company expects to be able to meet its current financial
obligations with its current source of funds.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company has $9.5 million available working capital surplus, as
compared to a working capital surplus of $13.7 million as at December 31, 2012 as a result of the
deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
The table below analyzes the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is considered not significant.
2013
Due within 12 months:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short-term loan facilities
Term facilities
Due to related parties

$

$
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2,481,118
2,481,118

2012
$

$

7,137,870
8,685,151
1,244,152
229,884
17,297,057
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5. Financial risk management (continued):
For the year ended and as at December 31, 2012, the Company has the following loans payable
at fixed interest rates.
Principal
outstanding
Current loan payable
Term loan

Interest
Effective annual
outstanding
interest rate

8,677,117
1,239,588

8,034
4,564

2.0%
1.8%

Interest
expense
152,296
65,634

Maturity date
January to May 2013
January 2013

There were no outstanding loans payable at December 31, 2013.
e) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s cash and cash equivalent,
restricted cash, accounts receivable and note receivable. The Company manages credit risk
associated with cash by maintaining its cash and investments in accounts with highly reputable
banks, which were approved by the Board of Directors.
The following are the components of the accounts receivable:
2013
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32)
Petroleum Production Tax Credits receivable
Royalty receivable
Receivable from concentrate sales
Other receivables

2012
89%
7%
4%
100%

9%
50%
28%
13%
100%

The components of accounts receivable as at December 31, 2013, are not directly comparable to
those at December 31, 2012, due to the deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries
described in Note 32.
PPTC are due from the State of Alaska and have a fixed payment schedule. The final application
has been submitted following the sale of Alaskan assets. Based on past history, PPTC
applications are generally accepted with minimal dispute by the State and paid to the Company
with minimal adjustment. The Company views amounts in accounts receivable as current in
nature.
The receivable from concentrate sales is concentrated on one customer and any material failure
of the customer to fulfill its obligation under the off-take agreement would significantly impair the
ability of the Company to meet its existing and future obligations. Such receivable is on the terms
operating in the commodity industry, which usually requires settlement not exceeding one year of
the shipment date. The customer has no history of default and the Company did not provide
allowance for impairment as these receivables are considered collectible.
The receivable for the settlement of royalty claims is based on the memorandum of agreement
and other settlement statements which confirm the amount payable by the debtor (note 7). The
Company has already received the majority of the settlement amount and considers the
remaining receivable as collectible.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable and note receivable at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 represent the Company’s maximum credit
exposure. As at December 31, 2013, the cash and cash equivalent and accounts receivable of
the Philippine subsidiaries were derecognized as a result of the deconsolidation of some
Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
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5. Financial risk management (continued):
The Company only deals with parties who have appropriate credit history and sufficient security
to mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Company adopts the policy of dealing only
with high credit quality counterparts.
f)

Fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position
The analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value can be classified into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which fair value is observable.




Level 1 – fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 – fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as
prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)
Level 3 – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
The fair value disclosed for the Company’s equity accounted investments in Foyson and Mindoro
fall under Level 1 (note 12), while the recurring measurement for option to purchase contracts
was classified under Level 3. It has no financial assets and liabilities under Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy and no non-recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2013.
The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities consisting of cash and cash
equivalent, restricted cash, accounts receivable, note receivable, advances to suppliers, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, current loans payable and due to related parties approximate their
fair values at December 31, 2013 and 2012 due to their short term nature.
During the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers between levels of
fair value measurements.
g) Sales and purchase contracts
Metal concentrates are sold under pricing arrangements where final prices are determined by
quoted market prices in a year subsequent to the date of sale. Revenues are recorded at the time
of sale based on forward prices for the expected date of the final settlement. Adjustments to the
balance of concentrate receivables from changes in underlying market prices affect revenue or
operating costs as appropriate.
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5. Financial risk management (continued):
h) Capital risk management
The Company defines its capital as shareholders’ equity and loans payable. The Company’s
objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns and benefits to shareholders. In order to
provide a return to shareholders, the Company must focus on plant recovery efficiencies and in
production cost reductions in the Canatuan plant. In addition, the Company must explore,
develop, and invest in other viable properties in order to sustain future operations of the
Company.
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the issuance of new shares, the issuance of
new debt, or the issuance of new debt to replace existing debt with different characteristics.
The Company does not have externally imposed capital requirements. Consistent with other
capital intensive companies, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio
and the debt-to-assets ratio.
Debt is calculated as the sum of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, letter of credit facilities,
current and non-current loan payable, due to related parties and income tax payable. Equity
comprises all components of equity other than amounts in accumulated other comprehensive
income. Assets are defined as cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, notes receivable,
advances to suppliers, due from related parties, inventories, restricted cash, investments in
associates, investment in joint ventures, option to purchase contracts, property and equipment,
exploration and evaluation assets, mining claims and deferred exploration costs, and other
assets. The Company’s strategy is to improve the debt to equity ratio in order to secure access
to finance at a reasonable cost by maintaining a good credit rating.
2013
Debt
Equity
Assets

$

2012

2,481,118
29,852,148
27,857,681

Debt-to-equity
Debt-to-assets

$

18,095,104
44,806,039
65,844,515

0.08
0.09

0.40
0.27

The components of debt and of assets as at December 31, 2013 are not directly comparable to
those at December 31, 2012, due to the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries as described in
Note 32.
6. Cash and cash equivalent:
Cash and cash equivalent consists of:
2013
Cash on hand
Cash in bank
Short term placements

$

$

2012
345
2,362,607
2,362,952

$

$

37,170
15,704,696
274,584
16,016,450

Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates. The carrying amount of cash
approximates its fair value. The balance of cash and cash equivalent of some Philippine subsidiaries
were not included at December 31, 2013 due to the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries (note
32).

TVI Pacific Inc.

26

December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
6. Cash (continued):
Cash and cash equivalent is denominated in the following currencies:
2013
Canadian Dollars
US Dollars
Philippine Peso

$

$

2012
319,483
1,996,715
46,754
2,362,952

$

860,750
11,387,279
3,768,421
16,016,450

$

Cash and cash equivalent is held in the following countries:
2013
Canada
Philippines
Others

$

2,293,899
64,643
4,410
2,362,952

$

7.

$

$

2012
1,519,173
14,496,166
1,111
16,016,450

Accounts receivable:
Accounts receivable consists of:
2013
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32)
PPTC receivable
Tax refund
Receivable from concentrate sales
Royalty receivable
Other receivables

$

$

2012
7,556,878
614,358
262,422
55,744
8,489,402

$

$

574,675
1,821,722
3,321,129
860,607
6,578,133

PPTC are receivable from the State of Alaska attributable to the TG World’s joint venture oil and gas
properties previously held on the Alaskan North Slope (note 14). The areas explored by TG World for
hydrocarbons in Alaska qualified TG World to apply for PPTC from the State of Alaska. PPTC are
cash credits for previous exploration and seismic expenditures. TG World received no further cash
credits for past applications during the year ended December 31, 2013.
On December 14, 2012, TVIRD signed a memorandum of agreement with Korea Malaysia Philippines
Resources, Inc., Rapu-Rapu Minerals, Inc. and Rapu-Rapu Processing, Inc. ("Rapu-Rapu Group"),
which outlines terms for the settlement of outstanding net smelter return ("NSR") payments to TVIRD,
in relation to the mining rights and participating interest in the Rapu-Rapu joint venture agreement
assigned by TVIRD to the Rapu-Rapu Group in December 1999. In 2012, TVIRD has received a total
of US$3,075,776, net of 20% withholding taxes, representing NSR payments for the period 2005
through Q3 2012. The NSR for period Q4 2012 in the net amount of US$770,172 was confirmed by
settlement statements provided by Rapu-Rapu.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, royalty income, net of 20% withholding taxes amounted
to $1,623,432 (US$1,571,991), as confirmed by settlement statements provided by the debtor, and
recorded as part of the other gains in the statement of comprehensive income. As at December 31,
2012, the outstanding receivable was $3,345,948, which was fully collected in 2013, while at
December 31, 2013, no receivable for settlement of royalty claims was recorded but would have
nonetheless been deconsolidated as stated in note 32.
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8. Notes receivable:
Pursuant to the HOA with Foyson (note 1), TVI issued a loan to Foyson in the amount of
AUD$400,000 on August 17, 2012. The Company and Foyson have agreed to changes in the terms
of the loan in an Amendment Letter dated February 13, 2013, which have been approved at a Foyson
shareholder meeting held April 18, 2013 (note 12). The interest rate has been reduced to nil and the
security changed to a specific security interest over the sum of $400,000 held in a separate bank
account in the joint names of Foyson and TVI. TVI has also agreed to restructure the loan to a
convertible loan in the amount of AUD$600,000 repayable on September 30, 2014; and has also
been granted the option through the period December 31, 2013 to September 30, 2014 to convert the
loan to 75 million shares and receive also a further 75 million options. The total outstanding principal
and interest as at December 31, 2013 was $558,560 (AUD$600,000).
Pursuant to the HOA with Mindoro (note 1), TVI has agreed to loan Mindoro $938,968 in 2012, which
bore interest of 8% per annum (calculated semiannually and not in advance) and was secured by
Mindoro’s interests in the Agata South nickel laterite mineral project. On September 28, 2012, the
secured loan receivable was discharged in full through acquisition of the equity interest in Mindoro
(note 12).
On June 20, 2013, the Company has agreed to loan, pursuant to a secured promissory note, up to
CAD $1.3 million to Mindoro. The loan will be used by Mindoro to help fund its operations for the next
twelve months and to finance an initial acquisition payment to acquire the remaining 25% interest in
the Agata project. Mindoro currently holds a 75% interest in the Agata project and is negotiating an
option to acquire the additional 25%. The total outstanding principal and interest as at December 31,
2013 was $381,802.
9. Inventories:
2013
Lower of cost or net realizable value:
Finished goods
Stockpiled ore
Consumable drilling parts and supplies
Mineral processing supplies

$

2012
-

$

$

2,751,172
321,120
1,209,001
3,723,674
8,004,967

$

There were no inventories at December 31, 2013 due to the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries
(note 32). Finished goods consist of copper concentrates produced from the Canatuan sulphide plant.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized $16,458,143 (December 31,
2012 - $20,271,384) of inventory as expense under mining, milling and other expenses in 2013.
These expenses include materials and supplies and direct finished goods costs.
Details of allowance for inventory obsolescence relating to mine and mill materials and supplies are:
2013
Beginning balance
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Ending Balance
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$

$
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2012
423,581
116,404
(4,828)
(535,157)
-

$

$

170,703
241,817
11,061
423,581
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10. Prepaid Expenses
Details of prepaid expenses are:
2013
Prepaid insurance
Prepaid rent
Prepaid taxes and permits
Others

$

$

2012
48,306
9,414
51,209
108,929

$

$

192,635
100,967
333,608
201,540
828,750

Prepaid expenses of some Philippine subsidiaries were derecognized as at December 31, 2013 due
to the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
11. Restricted cash:
At December 31, 2013, the Company holds $38,740 (December 31, 2012 - $2,908,927) in restricted
cash related to security deposit of TG BVI. The deposits in environmental trust funds were
derecognized as a result of deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
12. Investment in associates:
The HOA with Foyson and Mindoro (note 1) provided for the acquisition by TVI of equity interests by
way of private placement (to be undertaken in two tranches for each company).
a. Investment in Foyson
Foyson is a publicly listed company incorporated in Australia, with shares listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange. Its annual reporting period ends at June 30.
On August 28, 2012, TVI completed the first tranche of the private placement (“Tranche 1”) with
Foyson, wherein TVI acquired 68 million shares representing 8.93% of Foyson’s issued capital, at
a purchase price of AUD$0.013 per share, for a total consideration of $907,249 (AUD$884,000).
TVI has also signed a subscription agreement for the second tranche of the proposed private
placement (“Tranche 2”), which originally provided the option to TVI to purchase an additional 160
million shares (at an aggregate purchase price of AUD$2.4 million) and options to purchase up to
an additional 140 million shares (at an exercise price of AUD$0.03 per Share), exercisable until
June 30, 2015.
In February 2013, both Foyson and TVI agreed to amendments to the Tranche 2 subscription
agreement which were subsequently approved at a Foyson shareholders meeting held on April
18, 2013. Under the amended terms, TVI will:


subscribe for 142,857,143 Foyson shares at AUD$0.007 for a total AUD$1.0 million
investment (as compared to an initially agreed investment of AUD$2.4 million, as per the
original subscription agreement) and receive 80 million options from Foyson, exercisable at
AUD$0.015 prior to December 31, 2014, that would bring TVI's ownership of Foyson to
29.5% on a fully diluted basis;



replace the previously provided loan to Foyson by a convertible loan in the amount of
AUD$600,000, with the right (but not the obligation) to request repayment from Foyson
through the issuance of 75 million shares and 75 million options to TVI (note 8);

On May 3, 2013, TVI invested an initial part payment of AUD$100,000 towards the restructured
Tranche 2, increasing at that time TVI’s shareholding in Foyson to 82,285,719 shares,
representing 10.608% of Foyson’s issued capital.
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12. Investment in associates (continued):
On July 30, 2013, TVI and Foyson have agreed to the following further amendments in the terms
of the loan and Tranche 2 agreements:


Subject to funding, the remaining Tranche 2 placements (AUD$900,000, following part
payment on May 3, 2013) have rescheduled and will be made by TVI in two payments, the
first for AUD$315,000 within 10 days of further financing to be received by TVI, and the
second for AUD$585,000 within 10 days following the Foyson shareholder meeting to
approve the transaction. The price per share is AUD$0.007; and



As part of the amended terms of agreement, Foyson will make an early repayment of 50% of
the restructured AUD$600,000 unsecured convertible loan provided earlier by TVI, payable
from the final Tranche 2 placement. The balance of the loan will continue to be subject to
existing terms.

On December 19, 2013, TVI invested the further agreed AUD$315,000 of the AUD $1.0 million
Tranche 2, increasing the shareholding to 127,285,714 shares, representing 15.51% of Foyson’s
issued capital. The warrants outstanding at year-end include 75,000,000 related to the loan, and
33,333,333 relating to what has been paid thus far towards Tranche 2.
b. Investment in Mindoro
Mindoro is a publicly listed company incorporated in Canada with shares listed on the TSX
Venture Exchange, Australian Securities Exchange, and Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Its annual
reporting period ends at December 31.
On September 28, 2012, TVI acquired ownership of 18,779,353 units of Mindoro by way of a
private placement (“Tranche 1”) at a price of $0.05 per unit, for a total of $938,968. Each unit
consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant that entitles TVI to
purchase one additional share, at a price of $0.10 per Share, at any time and from time to time
until September 28, 2017. The total common shares acquired represent an approximate 6.9%
interest in Mindoro.
On October 10, 2012, TVI completed the purchase of an additional 24 million units of Mindoro, at
$0.05 per unit, for an aggregate purchase price of $1.2 million (“Tranche 2A”). Each unit consists
of one common share and one common share purchase warrant that entitles TVI to purchase, at
any time and from time to time until October 10, 2017, one additional common share, at an
exercise price of $0.10. The 24,000,000 common shares acquired by TVI represent an
approximate 8.1% interest in Mindoro. When added to Tranche 1 acquisition, TVI now owns
42,779,353 units of Mindoro, representing approximately 14.4% holding in the capital of Mindoro.
Assuming the exercise of all of the warrants acquired, TVI would hold 85,558,706 shares,
representing an approximate 25.2% holding in the capital of Mindoro.
c. Acquisition of investments
During 2012, total consideration paid for the acquisition of the investments amounted to
$3,046,217 which approximated the fair value of the share in net assets acquired.
Total consideration
Share of net loss
Share of other comprehensive loss
December 31, 2012
Additional investment
Share of net loss
Share of other comprehensive loss
December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.

Foyson
907,249
(1,324)
(45,674)
860,251
416,586
(447,827)
(20,371)
808,639

$

$

30

$

$

Mindoro
2,138,968
(230,074)
28,769
1,937,663
(1,539,612)
41,760
439,811

$

$

Total
3,046,217
(231,398)
(16,905)
2,797,914
416,586
(1,987,439)
21,389
1,248,450
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12. Investment in associates (continued):
As at December 31, 2013, the fair values of the investments in Foyson and Mindoro were
$733,700 and $855,587. During the year ended December 31, 2012, total costs incurred related
to the acquisition of investments in and joint ventures with Foyson and Mindoro were
approximately $2.7 million recorded under administrative and general costs.
The Company’s share of the associates’ result of operations, assets and liabilities for the year
ended December 31, 2013 are as follows:
Foyson
December 31, 2013
Share of revenue
Share of comprehensive loss
Share of total current assets
Share of total assets
Share of total current liabilities
Share of total liabilities

$

December 31, 2012
Share of revenue
Share of comprehensive loss
Share of total current assets
Share of total assets
Share of total current liabilities
Share of total liabilities

25,824
(468,198)
162,281
3,064,883
167,652
207,598

71,028
(46,997)
101,976
1,617,286
85,398
262,540

Mindoro
$

(1,497,852)
2,904,624
2,904,624
131,788
131,788

(201,306)
1,540,625
4,296,736
105,217
118,885

Total
$

25,824
(1,966,050)
3,066,905
5,969,507
299,440
339,386

71,028
(248,303)
1,642,601
5,914,022
190,615
381,425

Although the Company holds less than 20% of the equity shares of the associates as at
December 31, 2013, the Company has determined that it has significant influence by virtue of its
representation, or right for representation, on the Board of Directors of the associates and various
other contractual terms.
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13. Property and equipment:
December 31, 2013
Transportation
and heavy
equipment
Cost
At January 1, 2013

$ 1,174,017

Additions
Reclassification
Disposal
Write-off
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of
subsidiaries (note 32)
At December 31, 2013
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2013
Depreciation
Reclassification
Disposal
Write-off
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of
subsidiaries (note 32)

$

At December 31, 2013
Net book value

TVI Pacific Inc.

$

Communication
and other
equipment

Computer
equipment

Field and
geological
equipment

$

$

Office
furniture and
equipment

Land, Buildings
and leasehold
improvements

Plant
Equipment and
Sulphide Dam

Total

49,967

$ 1,127,095

409,019

$ 146,798

$ 2,820,580

24,100,349

$ 23,562,551

$ 53,390,376

187,004
(23,203)
(11,339)

(393)

99,146
(10,315)
(4,277)
(11,869)
(8,021)

16,415
(3,428)

1,202
(10,182)
(878)

9,200
(21,679)

280,449
21,324,561
(230,566)
(17,377)
(198,153)

629,783
(21,335,824)
(185,033)

1,223,199
(21,578)
(268,228)
(29,246)
(428,924)

(1,326,479)

(49,574)

(965,747)

(422,006)

(116,509)

(2,729,298)

(45,259,263)

(2,671,477)

(53,540,353)

-

-

226,012

-

20,431

78,803

-

-

325,246

(42,705)
(4,727)
397

$ (963,868)
(110,550)
4,277
11,869
7,402

$ (201,764)
(69,524)
2,481

$ (125,596)
(6,298)
10,182
792

$ (2,205,123)
(587,996)
24,543

$ (17,861,051)
(2,493,305)
(20,632,793)
208,849
17,377
169,620

$ (17,163,956)
(3,381,890)
20,632,793
178,479

$(39,410,442)
(6,897,242)
246,511
29,246
393,197

1,056,645

47,035

885,825

268,807

102,901

2,727,966

40,591,303

(265,426)

45,415,056

-

-

(165,045)

-

(18,019)

(40,610)

-

-

(223,674)

(846,379)
(242,952)
23,203
9,483

-

$

$

-

32

$

60,967

$

-

$

2,412

$

38,193

December 31, 2013

$

Construction
in progress

$

-

$

-

$

101,572
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13. Property and equipment (continued):
December 31, 2012
Transportation
and heavy
equipment
Cost
At January 1, 2012

$ 1,063,141

Additions
Reclassification to other assets
Disposal
Write-off
Foreign currency translation
At December 31, 2012

Communication
and other
equipment
$

101,554
(30,618)
39,940
$ 1,174,017

$

Computer
equipment

Field and
geological
equipment

Office
furniture and
equipment

Buildings and
leasehold
improvements

Plant Equipment

Construction in
progress

Total

46,452

$ 1,049,235

$ 394,721

$ 129,667

$ 2,175,503

$ 22,568,431

$ 17,931,943

$ 45,359,093

1,796
1,719

69,189
(21,777)
30,448

14,298

12,914
4,217

557,878
87,199

295,353
704,514
(299,547)
831,598

6,449,835
(1,567,238)
748,011

6,930,641
(304,846)
(321,324)
(30,618)
1,757,430

49,967

$ 1,127,095

409,019

$ 146,798

$ 2,820,580

$ 24,100,349

$ 23,562,551

$ 53,390,376

$

Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2012

(550,292)

(35,169)

(833,454)

(129,316)

(116,111)

(1,586,665)

(14,116,857)

(11,994,767)

(29,362,631)

Depreciation
Disposal
Write-off
Foreign currency translation

(301,313)
30,618
(25,392)

(6,138)
(1,398)

(119,062)
15,976
(27,328)

(66,424)
(6,024)

(5,766)
(3,719)

(550,869)
(67,589)

(3,468,483)
299,546
(575,257)

(4,641,104)
(528,085)

(9,159,159)
315,522
30,618
(1,234,792)

At December 31, 2012

(846,379)

(42,705)

(963,868)

(201,764)

(125,596)

(2,205,123)

(17,861,051)

(17,163,956)

(39,410,442)

6,398,595

$ 13,979,934

Net book value

$

327,638

$

7,262

$

163,227

$

207,255

$

21,202

$

615,457

$

6,239,298

$

As at December 31, 2013, the sulphide dam which was built progressively in stages and was amortized in portions using the unit-of-production
method, has already been completed. All the property and equipment of the Philippine subsidiaries, which include the plant equipment in the
Canatuan sulphide plant and construction in progress for the Balabag project, were deconsolidated as explained in note 32.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company reviewed the residual value and estimated economic lives of plant and equipment
located in the Sulphide plant. As a result, the estimated residual value reduced the depreciation charges by approximately $2.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012, equivalent to a decrease in annual charge by $2.94 per dry metric ton of ore throughput.
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14. Exploration and evaluation assets:
The carrying amount and the related movement of the petroleum and natural gas exploration and evaluation
assets are as follows:
2013

Beginning balance
Additions net of PPTC
Impairment loss
Foreign currency translation
Ending Balance

$

2012

3,715,037
(2,048,610)
215,651
1,882,078

$

$

3,797,255
302
(82,520)
3,715,037

$

The balance at December 31, 2013 consists of properties located only in the Philippines.
Philippines
TG World holds a 12.5% equity interest in Service Contract 54A (“SC 54A”) in the Philippines. SC 54A is
situated offshore west of the Palawan islands. The project operator is Nido Petroleum Limited of Perth,
Australia (“Nido”) who owns a 42.4% working interest in the project.
The partners operate under a farmout agreement through which TG World will receive 85% of its share of
future revenue generated from crude oil production until it has paid US$2,689,844 to two of its partners.
Subsequent to funding this amount from oil production it will retain 100% of its share of revenue generation.
The SC 54A joint venture participants, including TG World, are continuing to work with the SC 14A Joint
Venture in relation to a possible development of the Nido 1X1 oil field via the Nido A platform.
The company has recorded a provision for impairment of the exploration and evaluation assets amounting to
$2,048,610, recorded under other gains (losses) based on the estimated value of the project as at December
31, 2013.
Alaska
TG World had a joint venture agreement with Alaska Venture Capital Group (“AVCG”) and Brooks Range
Petroleum Corporation (“BRPC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVCG, to explore joint venture oil and gas
properties held on the Alaskan North Slope. TG World's working interests varied from 20% to 35% in four
distinct areas.
On November 9, 2011, the Company completed the sale of all of its leasehold interests in Alaska, for US$16
million.
As at December 31, 2013, TG World has a remaining receivable of $614,358 (US$577,621) relating to further
tax credits expected to be received (note 7).
15. Mining claims and deferred exploration costs:
Mining claims and deferred exploration costs are intangible assets which include all expenditures directly
related to the acquisition, exploration and administration of the Sulphide and Balabag Projects. There was no
balance as at December 31, 2013 due to the deconsolidation of the Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
The carrying amount of mining claims and deferred exploration costs and the related movements consist of:
2013
Beginning balance
Additions
Amortization
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Ending Balance

TVI Pacific Inc.

$

$
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8,629,003
3,587,072
(1,408,406)
(95,884)
(10,711,785)
-

2012
$

$

6,961,094
3,683,543
(2,295,770)
280,136
8,629,003
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15. Mining claims and deferred exploration costs (continued):
The Balabag expenses started to be capitalized during the second half of 2011. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, interest capitalized amounted to $107,192 related to financing for the qualifying assets in
the Balabag property during the year. Interest was capitalized at the weighted average rate of 2% of its
general borrowings. The cumulative amount of interest capitalized for the Balabag property was $298,404 as
at December 31, 2013.
16. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Account consists of the following:
2013
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue

$

$

2012
332,060
2,129,152
19,906
2,481,118

$

$

3,379,525
3,716,705
41,640
7,137,870

Accrued expenses include accruals of personnel expenses, marketing expenses, tax payments, consultancy
and other professional fees. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of Philippine subsidiaries were
deconsolidated as at December 31, 2013 (note 32).
17. Loan instruments:
(a) The Company received short-term loans from a major Philippine bank. These loans were secured by the
metal off-take agreement for the sale of copper concentrates. As at December 31, 2012, the total
principal and interest outstanding was US$8,758,102 ($8,685,151) which was fully paid as at December
31, 2013.
(b) In January 2011, the Company received two loans from another major Philippine bank for the amount of
US$5 million each. Each of the loans bore an interest rate of 1.80% and was payable in eight equal
quarterly installments of USD$625,000. At December 31, 2012, the total principal and interest outstanding
was US$1,254,602 ($1,244,152) which was fully paid as at December 31, 2013.
(c) On March 12, 2013, TVIRD has signed a nonbinding term sheet with a Philippine bank for a US$20 million
term loan facility for its Balabag Gold/Silver project. The purpose of the Facility is to support the
development of the proposed Balabag mine by providing TVIRD with additional working capital funding
for construction and commissioning activities and to support mining and processing activities. The term of
the facility is three years and provides for a one year grace period before repayments are to commence,
spread equally over eight quarterly periods, beginning at the end of the 5th quarter. The interest rate of
the facility is to be set at 90-day Libor plus 250 basis points (approximately 3%), to be fixed on a quarterly
basis. The facility is accompanied also by an additional US$3 million Letter of Credit available to TVIRD
for a 180 day period at the prevailing market rate. As at December 31, 2013, there has been no
drawdown against this available facility.
18. Asset retirement obligation:
At December 31, 2013, the asset retirement obligation of the Philippine subsidiaries was derecognized as a
result of the deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries (note 32). The estimated total undiscounted amount
required to settle the asset retirement obligations was $2.7 million at December 31, 2013. These obligations
will be settled based on the useful lives of the underlying assets between the years of 2013 to 2017. The
amounts were discounted using the risk free rate of 2.0%.
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18. Asset retirement obligation (continued):
Changes to the asset retirement obligations were as follows:
2013
Canatuan property:
Beginning balance
Accretion expense
Revision of estimate
Liability settled
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 32)
Ending balance

$

$

2012

3,365,989
67,661
(714,350)
(18,150)
(2,701,150)
-

$

3,445,911
70,112
761,496
(1,032,299)
120,769

$

3,365,989

2013
Current portion
Non-current portion

$

2012
-

$

$
$

785,028
2,580,961
3,365,989

19. Related party transactions:
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of TVI including the following
significant subsidiaries, affiliates and associates (prior to deconsolidation of Philippine subsidiaries as
explained in note 32):
Country of
Incorporation
Subsidiaries of TVI:
TVI Limited
TG World
Affiliates:
TVI International Marketing (“TVI Marketing”)
TVIRD
EDCO
TVI Minerals Processing Inc.
TG BVI
TG World Petroleum Limited
TG World Energy Inc
Associates:
Foyson
Mindoro

% Equity interest (Direct and Indirect)
December 31, 2013
December 31, 2012

Anguilla
Canada

100%
100%

100%
100%

Hong Kong
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Niger
Alaska

100%
30%
30%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
40%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Australia
Canada

15.51%
14.4%

8.93%
14.4%

Transactions with related parties are entered into at the exchange amounts which approximate fair value:
 During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company had incurred management fees of $775,984
(December 31, 2012- $968,610). Management fees are paid to a corporation owned by the President of
the Company for the services of the President and support staff. At December 31, 2013, the amount
payable to the corporation was $72,635 (December 31, 2012 - $148,175).


During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company incurred directors fees, consultant fees and
special committee fees of $344,250 (December 31, 2012- $266,250). During the period, the Company
paid $216,375 (December 31, 2012 - $291,250) for director fees. At December 31, 2013, the fees
payable to directors were $176,813 (December 31, 2012 - $48,937).
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19. Related party transactions (continued):


During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company paid $446,217 (December 31, 2012 $510,725) to corporations controlled by a director and officer of TVIRD for administrative expenses. The
Company owed the corporations $27,159 at December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 - $32,772).



The Company also incurred a finder's fee and consultancy fees to be paid to a corporation associated
with a director who is also a director and principal of the corporation. A finder's fee of $3% of the value of
the transaction is payable to the corporation for its role in identifying PRHI and helping to negotiate the
initial terms of the proposal with PRHI. The total amount payable to the corporation is $717,930 as at
December 31, 2013.



At December 31, 2013, remaining intercompany receivable of TVI from the deconsolidated Philippine
subsidiaries was $384,726.

20. Pension obligation:
The Company’s retirement obligation consists of the defined benefit plans of the Philippine subsidiaries.
These were deconsolidated as at December 31, 2013 (note 32).
The subsidiaries maintain a non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan for the benefit of its regular
employees. Plan assets are handled by trustee banks, governed by local regulations and practices and
approved by the management of the subsidiaries. Contribution to the fund and investment activity of the fund
are approved by the retirement fund board of trustees. The normal retirement age is 60. Normal retirement
benefit is equivalent to the corresponding percentage of the Plan Salary for every year of credited service in
accordance with the appropriate vesting schedule.
The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position are determined as follows
2013
Present value of unfunded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Pension obligation

$

2012
-

$

$
$

5,145,167
(3,571,117)
1,574,050

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2013
Balance beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Past service cost and gains on curtailment
Remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive
income (loss)
Change in financial assumptions
Experience adjustments
Foreign currency translation
Benefits paid
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Balance end of year
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5,145,167
1,204,433
275,137
(3,023,223)

953,888
(878,961)
(15,824)
(446,398)
(3,214,219)
-

2012
$

$

3,261,654
964,308
197,991
-

609,322
(4,053)
153,047
(37,102)
5,145,167

December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
20. Pension obligation (continued):
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
2013
Balance beginning of year
Total contribution to pension funding
Asset return in net interest cost
Benefits paid
Remeasurements on plan assets
Foreign currency translation
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Balance end of year

$

$

2012

3,571,117
36,420
189,510
(432,892)
9,560
(25,544)
(3,348,171)
-

$

1,962,890
1,299,677
119,028
(32,908)
120,940
101,490
3,571,117

$

The movement in the liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:
2013
Balance beginning of year
Pension expense and gains on curtailment
Remeasurements and foreign currency translation
Total contribution to pension funding
Benefits paid
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Balance end of year

$

$

2012

1,574,050
(1,733,163)
75,058
(36,420)
(13,506)
133,981
-

$

$

1,298,764
1,258,580
320,578
(1,299,677)
(4,195)
1,574,050

Pension costs and gains on curtailment recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
are as follows:
2013
Current service cost
Net Interest cost
Gains on curtailment
Total included in administrative and general costs

$

$

2012

1,204,433
85,627
(3,023,223)
(1,733,163)

$

964,308
294,272
1,258,580

$

In connection with the closure of milling operations in Canatuan, a curtailment gain was incurred which
reduced the retirement plan obligations relating to the employees as of December 31, 2013:
In connection with the closure of milling operations at the Canatuan mine, the Company realized a curtailment
gain amounting to $3,023,223 due to the reduction in the number of employees covered in the valuation of
retirement obligation as of December 31, 2013.
The major categories of plan assets are as follows:
2013
Government securities
Loans
Deposits in banks
Common trust fund

2012
82%
8%
10%
100%

81%
9%
2%
8%
100%

The principal annual actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
2013
Discount rate
Future salary increases
Average remaining working life in years

TVI Pacific Inc.
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4.40%
10%
22
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20. Pension obligation (continued):
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with
published statistics and experience in each territory.
The average remaining working life in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 as at reporting date is 23 years
in 2013 (2012 - 23).
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumption is:

Discount rate
Salary growth rate

Change in
assumption
1%
1%

Impact on defined benefit obligation
Increase in
Decrease in
assumption
assumption
Decrease by 7.6%
Increase by 9.6%
Increase by 8.6%
Decrease by 7.1%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the
end of the reporting period)has been applied as when calculating the retirement liability recognized within the
statement of financial position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis did not change compared to the previous period
Amendment to IAS 19 has been applied retrospectively from January 1, 2012. The following is the summary
of impact of transition to the revised IAS19.
December 31, 2012
Impact on consolidated statement of financial position:
Increase in pension obligation
Net impact on equity

$

1,306,428
(1,306,428)

January 1, 2012

$

897,763
(897,763)
2012

Impact on consolidated statements for comprehensive loss:
Increase in actuarial movements in other comprehensive income

$

(408,665)

There was no net impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows or basic and diluted
earnings per share.
21. Income taxes:
2013
Current tax expense for the year
Deferred tax expense
Income tax expense (recovery)

$

2012
(156,813)
(250,379)
(407,192)

858,790
(172,154)
686,636

The deferred tax liability of $250,379 as at December 31, 2012, was related to the additional accrual of PPTC
receivable.
The provision for income taxes differs from that which would be expected by applying the combined federal
and provincial corporate statutory rates as follows:
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21. Income taxes (continued):
2013
Effective income tax rate

2012
28.6%

36.6%

Net income (loss) before income tax

$

(14,798,596)

$

6,033,202

Expected expense (recovery)
Change to income taxes resulting from:
Nondeductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Income eligible for Philippine tax holiday
Unrecognized tax credit for losses
Tax refund
PPTC
Dividend withholding on intercompany fund transfers
Net adjusted tax effect of the acquisition and
subsequent sale of the Alaskan properties
Other
Income tax expense

$

(4,238,929)

$

2,208,072

$

3,852,726
(504,676)
(62,205)
762,537
(462,157)
-

5,639,102
(1,145,627)
(4,553,061)
(1,760,080)
240,954
69,065

245,512
(407,192)

(304,549)
292,760
686,636

$

The Company did not recognize deferred income tax in respect of the Company’s future income tax assets,
majority of which relates to property and equipment, exploration and development expenses and non-capital
losses.
The effective income tax rate was 28.6% (2012 - 36.6%). The higher rate last year was mainly caused by tax
on PPTC received.
At December 31, 2013, the Company has US and Canadian non-capital losses available for income tax
purposes of approximately $48.5 million (2012 - $49.6 million), which may be applied to reduce taxable
income in future taxation years, the benefit of which has not been recorded in these consolidated financial
statements. Of these losses, $1.6 million and $2.2 million will expire in 2014 and 2015 respectively. The
remaining losses expire commencing 2026 through 2033.
The Company has been awarded a tax holiday on its sulphide mining operation by the Philippine Government
and covers January 2009 to December 2014.
The aggregate outside basis differences, being the difference between the carrying amount of investment in
subsidiaries and their tax bases, as of December 31, 2012 amounted to $2.5 million. No temporary
differences have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
22. Share capital:
(a) Authorized
Unlimited common voting shares without nominal or par value.
Unlimited preferred non-voting shares without nominal or par value, issuable in series, none of which
have been issued.
(b) Issued and fully paid
Common shares

Number of shares

January 1, 2012
On exercise of options
December 31, 2012
Shares issued (note 32)
December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.

622,087,039
50,000
622,137,039
33,333,333
655,470,372
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$
$
$

32,263,957
1,854
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706,334
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22. Share capital (continued):
(b) Share options
The Company has a share option plan pursuant to which options may be granted to directors, officers,
and employees of the Company. The options generally vest over years of up to three years and expire
no more than 5 years from the date of grant.
There were no share options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013. Share options were last
granted by the Company in October 2012 to directors and employees of the Company.
Number of
options
Options outstanding, beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Options outstanding, end of period
Options exercisable, end of period

Price range
$

$

53,488,442
(2,250,000)
(1,018,167)
50,220,275
42,253,598

Number outstanding

0.020 – 0.029
0.030 – 0.044
0.068 – 0.100
0.228 – 0.341
0.020 – 0.341

2013
Weighted average
exercise price
$

Number of
options

0.046
0.030
0.083
0.046
0.048

$
$

2012
Weighted average
exercise price

43,261,452
13,200,000
(50,000)
(896,669)
(2,026,341)
53,488,442
43,355,096

$

$
$

Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years)

17,304,286
10,950,000
21,604,169
361,820
50,220,275

0.050
0.030
0.020
0.079
0.116
0.046
0.048

Exercisable

0.06
3.76
0.87
0.70
1.22

17,304,286
3,649,990
20,937,502
361,820
42,253,598

(c) Stock-based compensation and contributed surplus
There were no stock options issued during the year ended December 31, 2013. The weighted average
fair value of stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $0.023 per option. The
following table sets out the assumptions used in applying the Black-Scholes model:
2012
Risk free interest rate – average
Expected life (in years)
Expected volatility
Estimated forfeiture rate

1.25%
5
153.16%
10%

During the year ended December 31, 2013, a net of $141,451 (2012 - $143,628) of stock-based
compensation were charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Contributed surplus
2013

Balance beginning of year
Warrants expired
Stock-based compensation
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Balance end of period

TVI Pacific Inc.

$

$

41

6,191,931
156,276
(14,825)
6,333,382

2012

$

$

5,562,123
487,034
179,962
(36,334)
(854)
6,191,931
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23. Non-controlling interests:
TVIRD has two classes of common shares - Class A and Class B. The Class A shares is entitled to a
cumulative preferred dividend equivalent to 20% of the par value of their investment per annum. Class B
shares, largely owned by TVI Marketing that is indirectly wholly owned by TVI, is entitled to any remaining
profits after allocating the share of Class A shares. The non-controlling interests prior to the loss of control
(note 32) were made up of Class A shares and Class B shares held by the Philippine residents or companies.
In 2013, TVIRD has declared and paid the cumulative preferred cash dividend to Class A shareholders in the
amount of $191,935 (2012 - $141,396 for the period from July 2010 to December 2012). TVIRD also declared
and issued stock dividend of 7,500,000 Class B shares at par (2012 - 803,828 Class B shares, with an excess
of par credited to share premium amounting to $24,281,980 in TVIRD’s separate financial statements).
As of December 31, 2013, the non-controlling interests related to the Philippine subsidiaries were
derecognized as a result of the deconsolidation of some Philippine subsidiaries (note 32).
The movement in the non-controlling interests is as follows:
2013
Balance beginning of year
Additional capital contribution
Share in net loss
Share in other comprehensive loss
Cash dividend
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Balance end of period

$

$

2012

1,007,887
64,583
(32,857)
(86,017)
(191,935)
(761,661)
-

$

$

1,378,510
26,860
(256,086)
(141,397)
1,007,887

24. Per share data:
2013
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of the Company
Weighted average number of shares, basic
Dilutive securities – options
Weighted average number of shares, diluted
Net income (loss) per share attributable to shareholders
of the Company:
Basic
Diluted

$

2012

(14,358,547)

$

5,602,652

623,703,619
623,703,619

622,122,422
5,222,349
627,344,771

(0.023)
(0.023)

0.009
0.009

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares consisting of share options. A
calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined
as the average annual market share price of the company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.
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25. Revenues from concentrate sales:
2013
Revenues from:
Copper
Gold
Silver
Zinc
Gross revenues
Treatment, refining, and other charges
Net revenues

$

2012

33,547,152
12,577,866
6,863,578
3,400,931
56,389,527
(9,452,026)
46,937,501

$

$

49,542,191
16,340,039
13,161,323
10,870,805
89,914,358
(12,836,605)
77,077,753

$

Metal concentrates are sold under pricing arrangements where no less than 90% of the initial estimated value
of the shipment is receivable when loading has been completed, based upon market prices. The final
payment for the remaining 10% is due once the final testing details relating to the weight, assays and updated
market prices are determined in a period subsequent to the date of sale.
The total gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 was US$54,388,938 ($56,389,527) which
rd
includes the additional US$120,874 upward price adjustment for the 33 copper concentrate shipment and
th
US$212,665 downward adjustment for the 5 zinc concentrate shipment, based on the final concentrate
testing relating to the final weight, assays and market price.
26. Segmented information:
The Company derives its revenue primarily from mining, extraction, production and selling of copper and zinc
concentrates to an external client. The Company has three reporting segments: mining activities in the
Philippines, petroleum exploration and development in the Philippines and corporate offices in Canada and in
the Philippines. The Company’s Corporate Division does not earn revenue and incurs expenses that are
considered incidental to the activities of the Company and therefore does not meet the definition of operating
segments as defined in IFRS 8, Operating Segments.
Geographic information:
Net revenues
2013
Philippines
Canada
Alaska

$

$

48,166,033
48,166,033

2012
$

77,454,161
77,454,161

$

Property and equipment and other assets
December 31, 2013
December 31, 2012
$

$

7,882
101,572
109,454

$

$

14,221,387
120,659
9,103
14,351,149

There is only one customer in the mining division contributing to 100% of the revenue from concentrate sales
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26. Segmented information (continued):
2013
Revenues from concentrate sales
Other revenues

$

Operating expenses
Exploration costs
Depreciation, depletion and
accretion
Interest income
Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss
Other gains (loss)
Share in loss of associates
Net loss before tax
Income tax
Net loss
Assets
Liabilities
Capital expenditures

$
$

2012
Revenues from concentrate sales
Other revenues

$

Depreciation, depletion and
accretion

Assets
Liabilities
Capital expenditures

TVI Pacific Inc.

46,937,501
1,228,532
48,166,033
(40,414,183)
(245,212)
7,506,638
(8,506,941)
(1,000,303)
58,771
(145,315)
(461,672)
1,569,441
20,922
(54,965)
(34,043)
18,287,518
8,419
5,236,523

$

$
$

$
$

(310,875)
(310,875)
(2,731)
(313,606)
233
(5,816)
(2,035,962)
(2,355,151)
462,157
(1,892,994)
2,855,780
17,570
-

Corporate
$

$
$

Petroleum
Exploration

Mining

Operating expenses
Exploration costs

Interest income
Interest expense
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Other gains
Share in loss of associates
Net income (loss) before tax
Income tax
Net income (loss)

Petroleum
Exploration

Mining

77,077,753
376,408
77,454,161
(56,637,180)
(2,900,229)
17,916,752
(11,798,409)
6,118,343
76,799
(264,668)
2,949,095
2,822,582
11,702,151
(618,538)
11,083,613
56,102,904
22,349,470
9,640,294

44

$

$
$

(805,413)
(805,413)
(3,556)
(808,969)
953
(185)
(25,285)
493,886
(339,600)
(68,098)
(407,698)
6,796,340
194,503
-

(5,274,764)
(5,274,764)
(28,233)
(5,302,997)
13,726
(34,641)
(5,153,016)
(1,987,439)
(12,464,367)
(12,464,367)
6,823,312
2,455,129
2,774

Total
$

$
$

Corporate
$

$
$

(4,857,936)
(4,857,936)
(35,562)
(4,893,498)
38,280
(242,733)
(231,398)
(5,329,349)
(5,329,349)
3,774,021
491,170
13,540

46,937,501
1,228,532
48,166,033
(45,999,822)
(245,212)
1,920,999
(8,537,905)
(6,616,906)
72,730
(145,315)
(502,129)
(5,619,537)
(1,987,439)
(14,798,596)
407,192
(14,391,404)
27,966,610
2,481,118
5,239,297

Total
$

$
$

77,077,753
376,408
77,454,161
(62,300,529)
(2,900,229)
12,253,403
(11,837,527)
415,876
116,032
(264,853)
2,681,077
3,316,468
(231,398)
6,033,202
(686,636)
5,346,566
66,673,265
23,035,143
9,653,834
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27. Expenses by nature:
2013
Materials and supplies
Personnel costs
Contracted services
Freight
Excise tax and royalty expenses
Advertising and investor relations
Rent
Professional fees
Repairs and maintenance
Travel and transportation
Insurance
Taxes and licenses
Utilities
Others
Total mining, milling and other expenses and
administrative and general costs

$

$

2012

17,187,339
7,493,817
8,118,480
2,429,399
2,254,216
1,862,181
1,372,605
1,470,695
1,746,240
587,963
387,846
427,341
342,375
319,325

$

20,351,280
12,762,149
7,984,456
7,004,026
3,611,377
2,316,548
1,329,469
3,402,921
1,125,651
735,535
433,152
393,187
269,603
581,175

45,999,822

$

62,300,529

28. Changes in working capital:
2013
Accounts receivable
Advances to suppliers
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Trade accounts payables and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties

$

$

2012
(1,653,291)
457,578
7,804,280
708,709
(2,308,059)
30,029
5,039,246

$

$

4,639,067
486,545
(921,727)
54,397
(3,758,927)
73,139
572,494

29. Joint control arrangements:
a. Joint control agreements – Mindoro
Pursuant to the HOA, TVI and its affiliate, TVIRD, have entered into various joint venture arrangements with
Mindoro (and its affiliates) on September 25, 2012 with respect to the following:
i)

Agata Mining Option and Joint Venture - TVIRD has an option to earn a 60% interest in the Agata Mining
Joint Venture upon commencement of commercial production subject to (i) TVIRD having expended a
minimum of $2 million within 12 months of the date of the agreement, and (ii) commercial production at
Agata having commenced within 3 years of the date of the agreement. Under this agreement, TVIRD is
required to fund all expenditures associated with the establishment of the Mining Operation.

ii)

Agata Processing Option and Joint Venture - TVIRD has the right to earn a 60% interest in the Agata
Processing Joint Venture upon delivery of a definitive feasibility study with respect to nickel processing at
Agata, subject to TVIRD having expended a minimum of $2 million within 12 months of the date of the
agreement and completing the definitive feasibility study within 4 years of the date of the agreement.
Under this agreement, TVIRD is required to fund all required expenditures associated with the
preparation of the definitive feasibility study.
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29. Joint control arrangements (continued):
iii) Pan de Azucar (“PDA”) Mining Option and Joint Venture - TVIRD has an option to earn a 60% interest in
the PDA Mining Joint Venture by: (i) making minimum aggregate expenditures of $2 million in respect of
the PDA mining project prior to the first anniversary of the date that a declaration of mining project
feasibility is issued in respect of that project (the "Feasibility Declaration Date"); and (ii) solely funding the
PDA mining project to the point of commercial production, provided commercial production is achieved on
or prior to the third anniversary of the Feasibility Declaration Date. The PDA Mining Option and Joint
Venture Agreement contemplates that TVIRD will make expenditures in respect of the PDA mining project
in an aggregate amount of not less than $500,000, prior to the date that is 12 months following the date of
that agreement, as TVIRD considers appropriate in its discretion, with any such expenditures being
creditable against the $2 million of aggregate expenditures noted above.
iv) PDA Processing Option and Joint Venture - TVIRD has the right to earn up to a 60% interest in the PDA
Processing Joint Venture in two stages as follows: (i) a 51% interest, by making minimum aggregate
expenditures of $2 million in respect of the PDA processing project on or prior to the first anniversary of
the date that a declaration of mining project feasibility is issued in respect of the processing project (the
"Processing Declaration Date"); and (ii) a 9% interest by making additional minimum aggregate
expenditures of $3 million in respect of the processing project on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the
Processing Declaration Date. TVIRD will make expenditures in respect of the PDA processing project in
an aggregate amount of not less than $500,000, prior to the date that is 12 months following the date of
that agreement, as TVIRD considers appropriate in its discretion, with any such expenditures being
creditable against the $2 million of aggregate expenditures noted above.
On June 18, 2013, TVI and Mindoro have agreed to amend some terms of the original joint venture
agreements. TVI's contributions to the joint ventures will be for shares in the applicable joint venture,
rather than as paid in capital, with such shares to be issued as earned and placed in escrow until TVI's
full 60% interest is earned. TVI's minimum spending commitments pursuant to the Pan de Azucar Joint
Venture agreements are also extended by one year, from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company has incurred a total of $5,994,271. The amount has been
derecognized in the statement of financial position due to the deconsolidation of the Philippine
subsidiaries (note 32):
December 31, 2013
Agata Mining
Agata Processing
PDA Mining
PDA Processing

$

$

2,172,244
3,589,622
178,511
53,894
5,994,271

b. Joint control agreements – Foyson
On August 28, 2012, TVI also signed the following agreements relating to the following joint venture projects
contemplated by the HOA:
i)

Amazon Bay Iron Sands Project (“AB”) – (i) TVI will commit to a minimum expenditure of AUD$2 million in
the twelve months following the later of the date on which all applicable joint venture conditions are
satisfied and the date of the Tranche 1 Closing; (ii) TVI will refund to Foyson any expenditures incurred
on AB since July 1, 2012, to a maximum of AUD$200,000 creditable against TVI’s spending
commitments; (iii) TVI will earn a 10% interest in AB as a result of initial expenditure; (iv) TVI will have the
right to earn a further 20% in AB by spending an additional AUD$5.5 million within 12 months following
the expiration of the initial earning period; (v) during the two earning periods and up to the end of the
second earning period, TVI and Foyson may, at TVI’s expense, carry out a feasibility study of a DSO
operation. If a DSO project is determined to be feasible, TVI has the right to undertake the development
to earn a 51% interest in the DSO project area. TVI has also the option to advance $10 million to Foyson
to acquire the remaining 50% in AB held by Titan Mines.
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29. Joint control arrangements (continued):
ii)

New Britain Gold/Copper ("NB") - (i) TVI will commit to a minimum expenditure of AUD$1.25 million in the
twelve months following the later of the date on which all applicable joint venture conditions are satisfied
and the date of the Tranche 1 Closing; (ii) TVI will refund to Foyson any expenditures incurred on NB
since July 1, 2012, to a maximum of AUD$200,000 creditable against TVI’s spending commitments; (iii)
TVI will earn a 12.5% interest in NB as a result of the initial expenditure; and (iv) TVI will have the right to
earn a further 42.5 % interest in NB by spending an additional AUD$5.25 million within 12 months
following the expiration of the initial earning year.

iii) New Ireland Gold/Copper ("NI") and Massau and Tanga Islands ("MTI") - (i) TVI will commit to spend
AUD$100,000 for preliminary exploration on each project, within nine months of the granting of the
tenements; and (ii) such expenditure will earn TVI the right to match any third party offer to farm into NI or
MTI, received during the year of the expenditure by TVI or during the 12 months following the finalization
of the information memorandum on NI or MTI.
Of the amount of the total spending commitment in relation to the joint venture arrangements with Foyson, the
Company has incurred a total of $2,798,979.
On January 30, 2014, the Company has provided its notice of withdrawal from the New Britain project,
resulting in the write-down of $813,145 as of December 31, 2013.
The net amount of $1,985,834 was recorded as option to purchase contract in the statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2013:
December 31, 2013
Amazon Bay Iron Sands
New Britain Gold/Copper

$

Write-down of New Britain Gold/Copper
$

1,985,834
813,145
2,798,979
(813,145)
1,985,834

c. Joint venture agreement - Others
In February 2010, TVIRD signed a joint venture agreement with an independent and unrelated third party, to
conduct exploration, development and production of mineral deposits in the area known as EXPA 61, in the
Greater Canatuan Tenement (“GCT”). Potential prospects identified lie within a 15 km radius trucking
distance to the current Canatuan sulphide plant. Under the joint venture agreement, TVIRD will hold a 70%
interest, while the remaining 30% interest will be held by the independent third party. TVIRD will act as the
operator. The partners will fund an exploration program for a year of two years amounting to a maximum of
US$2 million, to be shared in accordance with their interests in the joint venture. There are still no exploration
costs incurred in relation to the GCT.
30. Other commitments:
The Company rents its corporate office premises on a five-year term lease. The total rental paid during the
year 2013 was 119,883 (2012 - $121,215). The total rent payments net of short-term sublease agreement
from 2014 to 2019 amounts to $880,607.
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31. Financial instruments:
(a) Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
The tables below set out the classification for each of its financial assets and liabilities at December 31,
2013.
December 31, 2013
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalent
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Notes receivable
Due from related parties
Advances to suppliers
Derivative financial asset
Option to purchase contracts

$

$
Other financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loan payable
Due to related parties

$

$

2,362,952
38,740
8,489,402
940,362
124,813
1,985,834
13,942,103
(2,481,118)
(2,481,118)

December 31, 2012

$

$
$

$

16,016,450
2,908,927
6,578,133
425,616
455,797
1,961,522
28,346,445
(7,137,870)
(9,929,303)
(229,884)
(17,297,057)

The components of the financial assets and financial liabilities as at December 31, 2013, are not directly
comparable to those at December 31, 2012, due to the deconsolidation of the Philippine subsidiaries as
described in Note 32.
32. Transactions with PRHI:
On December 11, 2013, various definitive agreements were signed with Prime Resources Holdings, Inc.
(“PRHI”), a Philippine corporation, and various subsidiaries/affiliates of TVI, relating to the private placement
in TVI and third party investment in its indirectly held Philippine assets (“Transactions”).
The Transactions are expected to occur in multiple closings and include: (a) private placement of common
shares in capital of TVI for gross proceeds of US$2 million; (b) investments in TVI International and TVI
Minerals, in the aggregate amount of US$7.845 million; (c) investments in TVIRD in the aggregate amount of
US$12.655 million (to acquire 68.42% of the voting shares of TVIRD); and (d) agreement between the parties
to seek a listing for the shares of TVIRD on the Philippine Stock Exchange.
On December 13, 2013, has completed an initial closing (“First Closing”) which included the following
transactions:
(i) US$2 million ($2,119,000) was paid by PRHI to purchase 33,333,333 common shares in the capital of
TVI at a price of US$0.06 per share, which shares represent approximately 5% of the total number of
issued and outstanding TVI Shares (note 22);
(ii) US$1.545 million ($1,636,928) was invested in TVI International to purchase one non-voting nonparticipating deferred share of TVIIM that is redeemable at par value;
(iii) US$2 million ($2,115,625) was paid to TVIRD as partial payment of PRHI's subscription of Class B
shares of TVIRD subject to the approval of the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
of the application for an increase in authorized capital stock of TVIRD.
(iv) US $12.655 million was advanced by PRHI and placed into an escrow account – those funds represent a
portion of the additional amount that PRHI has agreed to invest in TVI group entities in subsequent
closings.

TVI Pacific Inc.

48

December 31, 2013

TVI Pacific Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
(in Canadian dollars)
32. Transactions with PRHI (continued):
On December 27, 2013, the application for the increase in authorized capital stock of TVIRD was approved by
the SEC and as a result, the subscribed ordinary shares were issued to PRHI resulting in the reduction of
TVI’s indirect interest, as well as in the indirect interest in other Philippine subsidiaries. Management has
determined that the company does not have control due to the reduction of interest and by virtue of an
agreement with PRHI which requires unanimous consent from both parties on decisions concerning relevant
activities, resulting in joint control. Consequently, TVIRD, EDCO, the eight inactive Philippine subsidiaries,
and interests in Agata and Pan de Azucar joint venture entities were deconsolidated. The retained interest of
approximately 30.66% was considered investment in joint venture to be accounted for using the equity
method.
The following adjustments were made to the net assets of the consolidated financial statements as of
December 27, 2013 to deconsolidate the assets and liabilities related to the deconsolidated subsidiaries, on
the transition to joint control:
(a) Derecognition of assets:
December 27, 2013
Cash and cash equivalent
Accounts receivable
Advances to suppliers
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
Restricted cash
Option to purchase contracts
Property and equipment
Mining claims and deferred exploration costs
Other assets

$

$

4,314,826
1,572,951
40,480
9,579,041
1,121,615
2,879,751
6,001,761
8,125,297
10,711,785
718,384
45,065,891

(b) Derecognition of liabilities:
December 27, 2013
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of asset retirement obligation
Due to related parties
Pension obligation
Asset retirement obligation

$

$

11,412,377
1,035,989
384,726
159,901
1,665,161
14,658,154

(c) Retained interest in joint venture:
December 27, 2013
Cash
Accounts receivable
Retained investment in joint venture
Net asset of deconsolidated subsidiaries
Reclassification of other comprehensive income
Non-controlling interest
Proceeds from sale of shares
Others
Loss on deconsolidation

$

$

3,770,462
7,556,878
12,910,110
(30,407,737)
3,677,000
761,661
(706,334)
142,399
(2,295,561)

The loss of deconsolidation was presented under other gains (losses) in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss). As a result of the transactions, the Company recorded an additional
impairment loss of $2,234,513 presented under other gains (losses). The carrying value of the investment in
joint venture is $10,675,596 as at December 31, 2013.
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33. Subsequent events:
On January 10, 2014, the Company and PRHI have completed a further closing of various investment and
financing transactions, following satisfaction of certain conditions, which included the approval of the SEC for
an increase in the authorized capital stock of TVIRD which was obtained on December 27, 2013. The
following were completed during the Second Closing:
(i) TVIRD has delivered to PRHI and TVI International the share certificates representing TVIRD shares
subscribed;
(ii) The release of all funds previously placed in escrow by PRHI, including:
(a) US$1.305 million, representing the balance of the subscription price for PRHI's investment in TVI
International for which PRHI has received another deferred non-voting share of TVI International that
is redeemable at par value;
(b) US$11.35 million, representing the balance of the subscription by PRHI for the newly issued Class B
shares of TVIRD. Portion of the fund were used by TVIRD to partially pay for the purchase EDCO
shares, the inactive Philippine companies, the repurchase of Class A shares in TVIRD;
(iii) A further US $4.3 million was advanced by PRHI (and placed into an escrow account), which represents
the purchase price of voting shares in the capital of TVI Minerals.
After giving effect to the Transactions, TVI continues to indirectly hold 30.66% of the issued and outstanding
shares of TVIRD (through TVI International). (TVIRD remains the operator of the Agata and Pan de Azucar
joint ventures.) As well, the Company continues to directly hold (i) its investment in shares of Mindoro (ii) its
investment in shares of Foyson; (iii) its earning right in the Amazon Bay project; and (iv) its investment in
shares of TG World.
On January 20, 2014, TVIRD has stopped milling operations at its Canatuan mine after having exhausted its
remaining stockpile, pending the results of assessing various mine life extension and expansion opportunities.
TVIRD completed the final shipment of 5,069 dry metric tonnes of zinc concentrate on January 7, 2014, and
on January 26, 2014 the final shipment of 4,118 dry metric tonnes of copper concentrate, bringing total
shipments of copper concentrate to 39 and zinc concentrate to 7
On March 17, 2014 TVIRD announced the first nickel production from their pilot plant at Intertek Minerals
Philippines in Manila. A Nickel Hydroxide Product (“NHP”) filter cake was produced from TVIRD's pilot plant
on February 7th, 2014 with a 52% to 54% Ni grade.


NHP impurities such as Fe, Ca and Mg are low, thereby resulting in a versatile refined intermediate nickel
product that may be directly processed to nickel oxide or nickel metal with no further refining required.



Prior to NHP production, 8,000L of Fe and Ni rich Pregnant Leach Solution ("PLS") was purified via
TVIRD's continuous counter-current ion exchange ("IX") pilot plant, successfully validating the viability of
this IX purification process as well as establishing all design parameters for full-scale plant design.



IX Ni recovery from PLS to eluate was 99.3%.
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